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CORPORATE PROFILE
APy

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”; stock code: 2319) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group” or “Mengniu”) manufacture and distribute quality dairy products in China. It is

one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIU as its core brand.
Mengniu’s diversified products include liquid milk products (such as UHT milk, milk beverages
and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other products (such as cheese). As of December
2016, the Group’s annual production capacity reached 9.21 million tons. In March 2014,
Mengniu became a Hang Seng Index constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy
product manufacturer.
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HIGHLIGHTS
e

2016 2015

—E—RF —E—RF

RMB Million RMB Million

For the Year Ended 31 December BE+-HA=1+—RHLEE ARBEET BUNEE- Y

Revenue WA 53,779 49,027

Gross Profit ES| 17,635 15,375

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners KNARHEA AELFE(EB) (751) 2,367

of the Company

Net cash flows from operating activities REHERELANTIRERE 4,513 1,909
Earnings/(Loss) per Share (RMB) FER, (EE)(ARET)

- Basic —HK (0.193) 0.609

_ Diluted — (0.193) 0.607

Mengniu focuses on product quality and innovation, and
is in the vanguard of the premium product consumption
trend. During the year, Mengniu’s liquid milk and chilled dairy
products continued to lead the market with the largest market
share.

Continued with integration of the milk formula business,
drawing on the resources support of Danone Group and the
research and development expertise of Dumex Baby Food
Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) to improve its product development
capabilities and augment the positioning of its product
portfolio.

Implemented new reforms for its business divisions in order
to develop the independent room temperature, chilled, milk
formula and ice cream product business segments. This has
facilitated resource coordination and risk control, and thereby
enabled the Group to achieve a balanced development.

Entered into cooperative relations with international brands
such as Shanghai Disney and NBA China to enhance the
value of the Mengniu brand.

Visionary deployment of upstream and downstream resources
by increasing Mengniu’s shareholding in China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (“Modern Dairy”; stock code: 1117) in 2017,
which is expected to help the Group to build smoother
cooperative ties between upstream and downstream and
ensure the supply of quality raw milk.
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Highlights &%

REVENUE BY PRODUCT MIX (FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER)
BRERMBD ZWA(BE+-ZA=1T—HILFE)

RMB Million ARBBHE T

Liquid Milk Ice Cream Milk Formula Other Products
RAEYD IR AL Hoth 7

2016

2015

Revenue by Product Mix in Liquid Milk Segment (For the year ended 31 December)
RBRENERE S 2BA(BE+=-A=1T—HLEFE)
RMB Million AREBHE T

UHT Mikk @ ik Beverages Yogurt
UHT) — AL )

2016

14,8708

2015

11,527.4
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

FERIFRKIKE
THE GROUP

Awarded the “Special Award for Contributions to China’s Space
Program” presented by the China Space Foundation

Ranked as one of the “Top 100 Chinese Light Industry Enterprises”
by the China National Light Industry Council

Honored “The Best Corporate Governance Awards 2016 — Gold
Award” by Asset Magazine

Awarded the “Community Enterprises of China 2016” at the 2016
China Annual Conference on Philanthropy

Ranked the first in the Chinese dairy enterprise corporate social
responsibility fulfilment level index in the “Blue Book of Corporate
Social Responsibility for 2016” issued by the Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences

Awarded the “Case Prize of the Belt & Road Initiative in 2016” in
the third Media Cooperation Forum on Belt and Road organized by
the People’s Daily

MENGNIU BRAND
Top 20 in the BrandZ™2016 list of the most valuable Chinese
brands

Liquid milk and yogurt brands ranked first on the “2016 Sixth
China Brand Power Index (C-BPI)” list published by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology of the PRC

MENGNIU PRODUCTS

At the 10th Global Dairy Congress, Hi Milk garnered the “Best Dairy
Product” and “Best Packaging of Dairy Products” awards under the
World Dairy Innovation Awards

Hi Milk garnered the “Design Award 2016” at “IF Product Design
Award”

Just Yoghurt won the “Best Video Content Marketing Case — Silver
Award” at the “China Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold
Award”

Milk Deluxe won the “Best Integrated Social Marketing Case — Gold
Award” at the “China Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold
Award”

Yashiliy and Ruipuen were both awarded “Gold Prize — Quality”
from the China Dairy Industry Association in 2016

Xinyangdao won the “FMCG category — Sliver Award” and
“E-commerce and 020 - Sliver Award” at the 8th Jinding
International Award of Creative Communications

Prime Ranch Pure Milk won the “Interactive Creative Awards — Gold
Award” at the 2016 China Advertising Great Wall Awards

Xinyangdao won the “Annual Marketing Communication Case
Award” at the 2016 China Advertising Great Wall Awards
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CEO'S STATEMENT

FOCUSING ON DEVELOPMENT ‘
AND GATHERING STRENGTHS

MARCHING FORWARD TO

BECOME A HUNDRED' Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang LU
BILLION YUAN REVENUE iziﬂfm
INTERNATIONAL DAIRY
ENTERPRISE
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CEOQ’s Statement #& & 2hE:

Llad ‘ '

T

ERfEnGN
[OLTY L]

Juse If‘ﬂl'll.r: .

=

s\




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

CEOQ’s Statement & ZE

Answering the country rally for support to “Internet+” innovation,
we actively integrate online and offline resources to upgrade
every aspect of our brand value. Via digital revolution, Mengniu
has established a three-dimensional sales channel to promote
closer interaction between customers and the brand, and more
quickly and widely deliver the brand concept of “A Little Happiness
Matters”. Mengniu goes in-depth to gain understanding in
consumers’ preferences, to grasp market need more precisely, to
upgrade brand structure and optimize product innovation. These
efforts were honored by a number of awards reflecting consumers’
recognition and support. Mengniu continues to push forward with
“internationalization” at the core of its strategic layout and uphold its
“A Little Happiness Matters” brand concept, targeting to enhance
its brand value all-round. In addition, Mengniu was awarded the
“Special Award for Contributions to China’s Space Program” by
China Space Foundation, which is a clear recognition of Mengniu’s
fit-for-aerospace strengths and quality.

Mengniu continues to put consumers first and, through innovative
marketing and taking advantage of its access to top-grade
resources worldwide, has created for itself a more forward-looking
and younger brand image. Mengniu selects to work with high-
quality partners and platforms. As the strategic partner of NBA
in China for a decade, Mengniu launched unique milk products
in China with NBA elements incorporated in the package design,
themed “Friends for 10 years, A little happiness matters”. During
the year, Mengniu became the official dairy product provider of
Shanghai Disney Resort and mounted marketing activities taking
advantage of the Rio Olympics to penetrate the markets. In
addition, Mengniu has reached strategic agreement with Universal
Beijing Resort in 2017, where it will become the exclusive official
partner in providing dairy products and ice cream at the resort,
hence becoming able to offer extensive product experience to
visitors of the resort from all over the world. The two parties will
also explore other possible cooperative endeavors.

Mengniu pushed forward with pragmatism the reform direction
that emphasizes “vertical flattening, horizontal integration, function
optimization and enhancement of sales regions”, which enabled
it to strengthen its Route to Market (“RTM”) project and create
an operation mode centered around distributors and developed
together by distributors, sales companies and the Central Business
Units (“CBU").

Mengniu has embedded the philosophy of sustainable development
into its corporate culture, and carries out the mission of “Focus on
nutrition and health, deliver a drop of happiness for every moment
and every day to more people”, with the support of its project
implementation strategy that emphasizes “Leading standards,
pragmatism, charity that touches hearts, top-level communication
and pioneering leadership”. Mengniu together with CSR partners
from different communities, including celebrities, its own employees
and the public to promote charity on all fronts, and to give the
society endless care. Mengniu takes upon itself the responsibility
of enhancing public confidence in Chinese milk products and
maintaining the long-term healthy development of the dairy industry
in China. Mengniu has fulfilled its corporate social responsibility via
such initiatives as “University of Ranchers”, “Star Ranchers” and
“Gold Key Project” and its efforts have won wide recognition in the
community. It was awarded the “Community Enterprises of China
2016” at China Annual Conference on Philanthropy 2016, the only
dairy enterprise to receive the honor.
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To effectively support the Group’s 2020 Strategy, we reorganized
the business setup at the end of 2016. The new setup comprises
independent professional business segments dedicated to room
temperature products, chilled products, milk formula and ice cream
products, and more resources and support have been provided
to each business segment, with the aim of facilitating overall and
balanced development of the Group’s various product categories.

Looking ahead, Mengniu will continue to work closely with its
three major shareholders and partners as well as take advantage
of its access to first-class resources worldwide to create a global
innovation platform, and in doing so align with international
standards and raise the quality of Chinese dairy products to new
levels. Mengniu will focus on various product segments, using its
edges in branding and product differentiation, forming a consumer
and market-oriented organizational model backed its professional
business platform, and focusing on developing the chilled product
division to create a new growth point. At the same time, Mengniu
will draw on its foresights in deploying upstream and downstream
resources to enhance quality of milk sources. Mengniu will also
join hands with other partners in the dairy ecosystem to strive for
constant innovation, to integrate resources, and build its brand,
and core competitiveness. It will also keep strengthening its sales
channels and marketing system, relying on its SAP and LIMS
systems, to reinforce its digitalized management capabilities and
carry out digitalized marketing to lay a strong foundation for the
Group to achieve its long-term strategic goals.

With the milk formula registration system taking effect, the two-
child policy in full rollout, per capita income of the Chinese people
rising and urbanization continuing in China, demand for dairy
products in the country will gradually be unleashed. For Mengniu,
“going international” is the new normal and innovation is its core
competitive strength. It will fortify resources integration, develop
new product offerings, and promote delicacy management and
cultivate channels with intensive effort. It aims to continue to lead
consumption upgrade with the craftsman spirit of constantly striving
for excellence.

Adhering to the vision of “becoming a century-old consumer-
oriented and innovative-led food company offering nutrition and
health”, upholding the corporate culture of “Integrity, Innovation,
Passion, Openness”, and emphasizing the theme of “focusing
development and gathering strengths”, Mengniu will continue to
integrate and enhance its resources, and gather the strength of its
staff, customers and consumers. Adhering to its 2020 Strategy,
Mengniu will speed up its strides toward becoming China’s
most dynamic and a hundred-billion yuan revenue international
enterprise, enabling “Mengniu” emerge as a world class dairy
brand.

Jeffrey, Minfang LU
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2016, the market continued to be laden with challenges with
the Chinese economy facing downward pressure. The dairy
industry in China, however, revived with dairy products output up
and price relatively stable. At the same time, dairy consumption
moved obviously toward the high-end, as reflected in the gradually
increasing consumption volume of high added-value products
such as high-end UHT milk and yogurt. With improvement in the
consumption level, brand awareness and health consciousness of
the Chinese people, as well as dairy enterprises keep enhancing
their products structure and business strategy, the impending
consumption upgrade will drive the industry to further development.
High-end products, especially high-end UHT milk and chilled
products, will continue to boast relatively more rapid growth
and make up a major share of the liquid milk product category.
Furthermore, new dairy products such as cheese are likely to
become new star products of the industry.

International raw milk price went through cyclical adjustments in
2016, and milk price in the domestic market also tuned as a result
of improvement in the demand and supply structure. Competition
among domestic dairy enterprises remained fierce; however, with
the cost structure changing, it is likely that competitive landscape
will ease in the future for the industry. On the other hand, the
domestic dairy industry, especially the infant milk formula sector,
has been facing challenges on various aspects, such as the sales
system, from the impact of international players and cross-border
e-commerce merchants. Against this backdrop, domestic dairy
enterprises have not only strengthened internal management and
monitoring of food safety to keep improving product quality, but are
also embracing Internet marketing, using innovative and interactive
online tactics to engage and communicate with consumers,
building a new type of sales and marketing platform.

Since 2016, the regulatory authorities in China have tightened
supervision on and inspection of infant milk formula products.
The effects of these moves on market discipline are expected to
manifest gradually. Under the impact of the infant milk formula
registration system and the full rollout of the two-child policy, the
demand and supply structure of the domestic milk formula industry
has been improving, with enterprises and production capacities
unable to meet relevant regulatory requirements to be ousted from
the market. High-end products will be the main battle field in the
future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Extm Kk o

In 2016, Mengniu continued to perfect its international resources
setup, which enabled it to fully utilize its global resources and
industrial chain advantages to guard the product safety of Chinese
dairy products on par with relevant international standards, and to
make Chinese brands stronger. On top of continuously improving
product quality, the Group has also worked hard on product
differentiation in terms of brands and product categories, and,
has allocated more resources to research and development of
innovative products and product upgrade, thereby guiding the new
nutritional demands of consumers. Furthermore, Mengniu has been
active in optimizing its organizational structure and improving overall
operational efficiency with the consumer and market demands in
mind. At the end of 2016, Mengniu started to implement a new
business division system that comprises independent business
segments including room temperature, chilled, milk formula and ice
cream products, aiming for a balanced development of the different
business segments and to strengthen synergy among the resources
and risk management. Moreover, through digitalized management,
Mengniu has built itself into an intelligent dairy enterprise using
Big Data. It was able to manage product quality and sales and
marketing with innovation by employing a management and
tracking system that covers its entire industrial chain.

Mengniu kept its leading position in the liquid milk market in 2016.
Despite the fierce market competition, the room temperature
products Milk Deluxe reported growth surpassing that of the
industry, and Just Yoghurt also recorded substantial increase in
revenue and market share. As for chilled products, Mengniu has
kept the top spot in terms of market share throughout the year,
maintaining its solid market leadership position. In regard to milk
formula business, with challenges coming from international brands
and cross-border e-commerce merchants and the brand upgrade
and sales channel transformation, the improvement in operational
efficiency and production capacity is expected to be seen gradually.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B Extm Kk 2

During the year, Mengniu once again made it among the top 20
on the BrandZ™ 2016 list of the most valuable Chinese brands. In
addition, the Group’s liquid milk and yogurt topped their respective
categories in the sixth China Brand Power Index (C-BPI) published
by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
PRC in 2016. That was the third consecutive year Mengniu made
the two top C-BPI rankings and for its yogurt products the sixth
consecutive win, taking home the “Golden Brand” title. In the
third Media Cooperation Forum on Belt and Road organized by
the People’s Daily, Mengniu was awarded the “Case Prize of the
Belt & Road Initiative in 2016”. Mengniu was also honored “The
Best Corporate Governance Awards 2016 — Gold Award” by
Asset Magazine, being the only dairy enterprise to be honored. In
addition, at the 10th Global Dairy Congress, Hi Milk, Mengniu’s
premium customized milk, garnered the “Best Dairy Product” and
“Best Packaging of Dairy Products” awards under the World Dairy
Innovation Awards. Mengniu was the only Chinese dairy enterprise
that won two major awards at that event. And, Yashily and Ruipuen,
the Group’s infant milk formula products, were both awarded “Gold
Prize — Quality” from the China Dairy Industry Association in 2016,
a reflection of the market recognition and confidence that Mengniu
enjoys for its quality products.

Strategic Cooperation and Integration

- Chilled product business: Danone S.A. and its
subsidiaries (“Danone Group”)
Danone Group, which owns 9.9% stake in Mengniu, is
Mengniu’s second largest strategic shareholder. Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu
Danone”) is a joint-equity company held 80% by Mengniu and
20% by Danone Group.

In 2016, Mengniu Danone continued to boast leadership
in the domestic chilled dairy products market, placing first
in the market by virtue of commendable growth in sales.
Applying a digitalized management system, Mengniu Danone
was able to enhance matching of sales demand with raw
material procurement and production capacity, starting
at the beginning of its production management system,
thus achieving a better balance between production and
sales. In addition, Mengniu Danone was able to improve
cost management effectiveness by using PET bottles and
optimizing product formula.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Extm Kk o

Regarding the Ma’anshan plant of Mengniu Danone, it
completed a capacity upgrade during the year, stepped up
cost control and notably reduced wastage, which translated
into a substantial increase in production efficiency. The
successful experience of the plant will be promoted at the
other 15 fresh dairy products plants. Mengniu Danone’s
Jinhua plant officially began operation in 2016 adopting
the unified food safety and quality standards used by
Danone Group, making it the plant with the highest level of
digitalization in the Group. The plant is able to maintain to
the largest extent the original texture and taste of products
and, at the same time, afford production processes that
are more environmentally-friendly and conducive to energy
conservation.

Mengniu Danone is dedicated to ensuring product quality and
also innovation. It released five new products to the market
during the year. Among them, Yoyi C launched the innovative
cross-segment Live Tea series, a perfect blend of Indian
black tea, the Longjing green tea, and probiotics. The Live
Tea series launched had complemented a series of online and
offline promotional initiatives enabling it to attract patronage
of young consumers. And, Yoyi C obtained patent for its
proprietary “Temperature Self-regulation Digital System”,
which can effectively ensure the stability of probiotics in
the products. Champion added the Red+ yogurt series to
its name, the first yogurt series — pomegranate & rose and
cherry & rose — in the market that features red super fruit
and fragrant flower flavors, which has won the heart of many
female consumers. Furthermore, to its basic yogurt products,
Mengniu Danone included the new product Nourishing Oats
and Red Dates Flavor Yogurt in small bottle in January 2016.
Driven by product innovation, the chilled product business
segment achieved continuous growth in sales during the
year. Drawing on Danone Group’s advanced international
technologies and capabilities in quality management
and product innovation, and Mengniu’s own strength in
distribution, Mengniu Danone will continue to develop high-
end dairy products and set the trend for the country’s chilled
dairy products market.
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Arla Foods

Mengniu has tapped into Arla Foods’ century-long experience
to optimize the quality of milk source thereby consolidating
its core competitiveness. The Group also brought in Arla
Foods’ advanced ranch management system to help establish
China’s own dairy farming economy that embraces a new
technology management model and fostered personnel
with professional expertise in dairy production as well as in
management. In 2016, Mengniu and Arla Foods stepped up
cooperation on ranch management. The Standard Operational
Procedure (“SOP”) brought in from Arla Foods was
modified and localized based on the practical situations and
management experience of ranches in China, and detailed
specifications were drawn up for several hundred key points
in the production process, thereby standardizing every aspect
of production control. At the same time, Mengniu introduced
more lean management projects, and organized training
programs on SOP and lean management in November 2016
for technical managers of the milk source operation from the
headquarters and regional offices, to ensure that the Group
has access to quality milk sources of international standard.

Mengniu and Arla Foods continued to exhume more synergies
on the research and development and production fronts.
Reaching deep into the experiences of the organic farms
and agricultural research centers in Denmark for insights, the
Group was able to promote product and nutrition innovation
in categories including room temperature products, high-end
organic milk formula and cheese products. Such endeavors
have enabled Mengniu to pilot consumption upgrade and
build a Chinese dairy brand which is confident of the quality
of its products and its ability to innovate.

Milk formula business: Yashili International Holdings
Ltd (“Yashili”’; stock code: 1230)

Mengniu holds an approximately 51% stake in Yashili and is
its controlling shareholder. Yashili completed the acquisition
of Dumex China from Danone Group on 31 May 2016.
Dumex China mainly engages in the business of infant milk
formula products. Through the acquisition of Dumex China,
Yashili improved its production network by integrating the
advanced manufacturing facilities of Dumex China with its
own and optimizing those facilities. Furthermore, Yashili also
has access to the research and development capabilities of
Dumex China and the resources support of Danone Group,
which raises the product development standards.

Arla Foods
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During the year, the size of the domestic infant formula market
remained the same as last year with prices up and sales
down. In general, the industry faced huge challenges from
imported international brands and cross-border e-commerce
merchants. In 2016, Yashili was in a critical stage of reform,
embarking on sales channel transformation and integration of
production capacity to enhance supply chain operations and
boost its responsiveness to the market. On this basis, Yashili
changed its marketing and sales structure to “four CBUs
plus one project department”, which provided the sales team
more clearly defined objectives and facilitated sales channel
transformation. Feeling the detrimental blow of the Internet,
traditional business channels have continued to shrink.
Yashili has actively coped with this new development trend
by investing in the sales and marketing team and enhancing
the model of the mother-and-baby store and e-commerce
channels. On the e-commerce front, Yashili has transformed
its single sales platform into a multi-dimensional and
consumer-oriented business platform, and has been adopting
delicacy management for more differentiated product lines,
as a result of which, online sales have been on steady climb.
As for mother-and-baby channels, Yashili has increased the
proportion of such channels among all channels via promoting
its “all staff engaging in mother-and-baby store channel”
program.

Yashili is the only milk formula brand in China with its own
factory in New Zealand. Yashili’'s New Zealand factory signed
a strategic cooperation supply agreement with Danone
Group, which will allow it to improve utilization rate of its
production capacity thereby reducing production cost. In
April 2016, Yashily Super a-Golden, a newly developed
milk formula product directly canned in New Zealand, was
launched for sale via various channels including mother-and-
baby channels and e-commerce platforms in China and New
Zealand, helping Yashili build a “professional, international,
high-quality” image.

Furthermore, Yashili has brought in the superior high-end
brand of Arla Foods to enrich its product lines, gradually
optimizing the positioning of its product portfolio. By
strengthening collaboration with its partners such as Danone
Group and Arla Foods, Yashili has been propelling growth of
brands including Baby & Me, Dumex and Ruipuen in high-end
markets and first-tier cities, which will bear positively on its
future operation.
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With the implementation of the milk formula registration
system and the positive impact of the full rollout of the
two-child policy in China gradually noticeable, the infant
milk formula sector is expecting to see the surface of new
opportunities. Yashili will continue to improve its operations on
such fronts as brand upgrade, sales channel transformation,
product research and development, quality management
and system support, and strive for stronger synergies with its
partners, as well as to capture any promising development
opportunities.

Plant-based nutrition product business: The WhiteWave
Foods Company (“WhiteWave”)

Mengniu and WhiteWave formed an equity joint venture in
April 2014, in which Mengniu and WhiteWave holds 51% and
49% equity interest respectively.

Produced using the world-leading advanced p-Grind™
grinding technology, the plant-based beverage brand Silk
ZhiPuMofFang jointly developed by Mengniu and WhiteWave
retains the nutritional content of the original ingredients and
presents the most healthy taste to consumers. After launching
the plant protein beverage of two flavors, namely walnut and
almond, the joint venture marketed in May 2016 a series of
new products of various flavors. In addition to refining the
existing two flavors, it also launched the Mellow Soy Milk
series. New products are developed using WhiteWave’s
leading technology in the field of plant-based nutritional
products, with taste and feel more agreeable with the palate
and preference of consumers. The low sugar content formula
also fits in with the healthy diet need of today’s consumers.
The product series adds to the portfolio of the high-end plant
protein beverage market and gives more nutritional choices to
consumers in China.

In addition, Mengniu updated the packaging of the product
with the English logo Silk highlighted even more vividly to
emphasize that the products have “superior genes” originated
in the United States. Thanks to product innovation and
Mengniu’s existing market and channel advantages, sales of
ZhiPuMofFang increased notably in the second half of 2016.
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The plant protein beverage market has seen rapid growth
in recent years. As consumers’ income level and food
consumption level continue to rise, foods of better quality
and that offer more balanced nutrition have become
increasingly popular, thus plant protein beverages deemed
natural, nutritious and healthy have tremendous market
potential in China. The acquisition of WhiteWave by Danone
Group is expected to give Mengniu’s plant protein beverage
business more access to support from Danone Group. The
joint venture will step up integration with the existing market
and channel resources of Mengniu’s core business and
continue to diversify its product lines, building the competitive
strengths of its products in the plant-based nutritional product
arena. Such moves will give Mengniu the differentiating edge
to stand out in the industry.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“Modern Dairy”,
stock code: 1117)

On 4 January 2017, Mengniu announced the acquisition of
965,465,750 additional shares of Modern Dairy, representing
approximately 15.7% of the total issued share capital of
Modern Dairy upon completion of the relevant share purchase
agreement, for a consideration of approximately HK$1.9
billion. Upon completion of such acquisition, Mengniu
beneficially held approximately 37.7% of the total issued share
capital of Modern Dairy, and conditional mandatory cash
offers (the “Offers”) were triggered to acquire all the issued
shares in Modern Dairy (other than those already owned or
agreed to be acquired by Mengniu) and for cancellation of
all outstanding options in Modern Dairy. Such transaction
was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 3 February 2017. Mengniu announced on 7
March 2017 that the Offers were unconditional in all aspects,
and announced on 21 March 2017 that the Offers were closed
at 4:00 p.m. of that day. Under the Offers, Mengniu received
valid acceptances in respect of a total of 1,442,400,662
shares of Modern Dairy (representing approximately 23.5%
of the entire issued share capital of Modern Dairy) and in
respect of a total of 264,320,873 outstanding options in
Modern Dairy (representing approximately 83.8% of the total
number of outstanding options in Modern Dairy). Immediately
following the close of the Offers, taking into account the valid
acceptances in respect of 1,442,400,662 shares of Modern
Dairy under the Offers, Mengniu would hold an aggregate
of 3,755,769,412 shares of Modern Dairy (representing
approximately 61.3% of the issued share capital of Modern
Dairy). The listing status of Modern Dairy was maintained
after the close of the Offers. Please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 4 January 2017, 25 January 2017,
7 February 2017, 14 February 2017, 7 March 2017 and 21
March 2017 for details.
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According to the Dairy Association of China, in terms of herd
size, Modern Dairy is the largest dairy farming company as
well as the largest raw milk producer in China. It is the first to
bring in advanced international management model to China’s
dairy breeding industry, in its hope to provide safe and quality
dairy products to consumers. Modern Dairy is a long-term
partner of Mengniu and its largest raw milk supplier. The
further equity investment in Modern Dairy will enable Mengniu
to smoothen upstream and downstream cooperation, thus
creating a more harmonious industry ecosystem. The strict
raw milk production process of Modern Dairy will assure
Mengniu of supply of quality milk sources, conducive to the
development of chilled products business, and also to help
enrich its mid-range and high-end product lines and fortify its
leadership in the high-end dairy products market.

Quality Management

“Perfect products” is the new milestone in quality management
development that Mengniu is pushing forward as it embraces the
strategic mission of giving the perfect experience to consumers
by providing them with safer, healthier and more nutritious
products. During the year, Mengniu continued to apply end-to-
end quality management to strictly control risks throughout the
entire industrial chain from milk source to production and sales.
A quality information system has been established with coverage
that stretches from the ranch to the dining table to improve overall
product quality. Through achieving constant synergistic operation
of the LIMS and SAP system combined with its own quality
management and laboratory management systems, Mengniu
has been able to assure quality systematically using intelligent
technologies throughout the entire industrial chain, from delivery
of raw milk to factories, procurement of raw/auxiliary materials,
production processes to the point-of-sale. It is able to track
information forward and backward at all quality control points along
the industrial chain of the products. The LIMS-SAP system has
since been introduced in the entire industrial chain, including to the
Dumex plant in Shanghai, the ZhiPuMoFang plant in Jiaozuo and
Yiging plant in Linxia.

In alignment with the food safety management model of Danone
Group, Mengniu’s quality and safety management system is
constantly upgraded and applied in the food safety and risk
management mechanism that covers the entire industrial chain. It
has built a digitalized “Real-time Food Safety and Quality Monitoring
and Control Platform” of international standard that monitors real
time food safety in every stage covering ranches, production plants
and major sales regions. Product quality data are uploaded onto
a “Food Safety Cloud” platform, realizing informatization of the
entire industrial chain from ranches and factories to markets, for
maintaining transparent communication with regulators as well as
consumers. In 2016, Mengniu and Beijing Entry-Exit Inspection
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and Quarantine Bureau jointly implemented the “Quality and Safety
Tracing System of Beijing Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine
Bureau — Mengniu Project”, which involved the implementation and
application of information tracing management system. Mengniu is
the first dairy enterprise to join and be covered by the system.

Mengniu is a pioneer in China dairy industry in building a quality
cloud platform, which provides advanced international management
platform for Mengniu’s quality management systematization.
During the year, supported by the salesforcePaaS cloud platform,
Mengniu’s quality information assessment system QA-Cloud has
permitted the Group to realize multi-platform interaction, dynamic
monitoring of food safety and sharing and exchange of quality
assessment index. With the system, Mengniu can communicate
and interact real time with quality-relevant parties including Danone
Group, which laid a solid foundation for advancing the quality
informationization in the future. By strengthening internal review,
using advanced quality analysis tools to analyze Big Data as
collected via the Group’s quality risk warning system, the Group
could timely grasp the quality trend and thus able to prevent quality
risks. Mengniu has also been improving its quality management
through the implementation of seasonal quality prevention
management that entails warning and preventive control with
regard to specific links in the entire industrial chain.

Mengniu has optimized a food safety security matrix which covers
horizontally the entire industrial chain and vertically five major
dimensions, namely standard specification, source management,
process control, assessment improvement and digitalized
assurance. General management covers six major dimensions,
namely personnel, equipment, materials, environment, methods
and inspection, forming a food safety security network system that
guards all procedures. Through adopting procedural control and
inspection means, products are given dual guarantee to their quality
and safety standards. During the year, Mengniu started to develop
a “One-stop Position Management System” to establish a scientific
management mechanism for ensuring its business operations
complying with quality management, food safety management
requirements and relevant laws and regulations. Such a move can
facilitate thorough implementation of the Total Food Security Quality
Management (“TFSQM”) system that serves the entire industrial
chain. And the Group’s “Quality 100 Talent” training platform has
enabled it to groom teams of quality experts. Mengniu also worked
with third party institutions on food safety monitoring, testing and
studying food safety standards from the perspective of consumers’
nutrition and health.
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On quality management of milk sources, all of the Group’s business
divisions actively responded to the stricter national standards. In
particular, they enhanced their self-inspection capability in four
major areas, namely dairy cattle, milk, fodder and equipment, and
at the same time, increased the frequency of inspection on milk
suppliers and tightened inspection requirements as well. During the
year, milk suppliers of Mengniu’s various business divisions passed
100% the tests conducted by inspection organizations on samples
of raw milk.

The operation quality management center has quantified the
definition and benchmark of a “perfect product”, and the assessment
was carried out in various aspects of the product including its
content, exterior packaging and consumer experience. Two
interactive sessions to help the alignment of perfect product
benchmarks throughout the entire industrial chain were organized
during the year, the purpose of which was to ensure consumers
would have an experience that exceeds their expectation. At the
same time, the Group made sure it has full control over various
operational stages such as formula design, packaging design,
maintenance of production process and storage and delivery
logistics, allowing it to boost the core competitiveness of its
products with quality assured. Also, using Internet technology,
Mengniu has built an online platform dedicated to craftsmanship
standards and, taking reference of IBM’s intelligent factory
management resources, has come up with its own Total Quality
Management (“TQM”) analysis model. Moreover, it made
technological innovation breakthroughs, empowering it for delicacy
management and substantial reduction of quality safety risks.
During the year, the laboratories in Jiaozuo, Shenyang, Ma’anshan
and Wuhan were examined by the China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment, and worked with the authority
on compiling the “Guidance on technical requirements of enterprise
internal testing laboratory”, helping to lead the development of
accreditation procedures for in-house laboratories of Chinese
enterprises.

The sales quality management center has further propelled
construction of cold chain at the sales terminals by conducting
qualification reviews and risks investigation on distributors to
ensure proper execution of cold chain management standards by
them. Risk assessments on distributors in respect of their operating
qualifications for chilled dairy products was completed during the
year. And, the cold chain temperature control system which was
already in trial operation performed well. Mengniu continued to
strengthen traceability of products from delivery out of plants to the
point-of-sale, with tracking of key products and markets on weekly
basis. It has compiled full product batch records for 80 major
markets in the country and informationized technologies are applied
in tracing major products. To help its partners enhance quality
safety management, Mengniu has signed approximately 10,000
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letters of commitment in respect of food safety with distributors,
with execution rate amounting to 100%, to assure the quality and
safety of its products.

The first domestic ranch food safety standards, which were jointly
developed by Mengniu and New Zealand state-owned enterprise
AsureQuality, have been applied at 119 control points, focusing
on food safety management in ranches. Mengniu, in collaboration
with third party institutions, have conducted food safety reviews
on operations of its strategic partners to identify potential defects
and risks and offer remedies and improvement suggestions,
thereby helping the Group’s strategic ranches execute food
safety management system to assure food safety at the source.
In 2016, Mengniu assisted its five strategic partners, namely
Modern Dairy, Fuyuan Farming, Shengmu Group, Saikexing Group
and YuanShengTai Dairy Farm, to conduct food safety reviews
over a total of 21 ranches. Mengniu, together with third parties,
recommended to the National Animal Husbandry Service to use
these standards as code of conduct applicable for the entire
industry, targeting to improve the overall food safety management
of the industry.

Development of milk sources

Mengniu continued to develop the “2020 Sustainable Ecosystem
of Milk Sources”, and effectively promoted the improvement of the
management techniques of milk suppliers with focus on five aspects
— “Control of Regional Risk”, “Upgrade of Production Bases”,
“SOP Standardization in Ranches”, “W-W Virtual Dairy Farming”
and “P+ Project of Milk Source Bases”. By bringing in advanced
international resources and technologies, as well as employing
digitalization, informatization and other new technologies, Mengniu
has continued to strengthen its milk sources foundation in aspects
including deployment, structure, quality and technology, in order
to optimize milk quality and minimize food safety risks. During the
year, the percentage of Mengniu’s milk sourced from standardized
ranches and scaled farms reached 100%.

Braced by the advanced and century-long experience of Arla
Garden in ranch management and heeding local conditions
and situations, Mengniu has built the Mengniu Garden ranch
management ecosystem to speed up construction of a modernized
milk source system. The system has standards in relation to
nutrients of raw milk, quality safety, animal welfare and the breeding
environment that aligns with those of Arla Foods. During the year,
Mengniu together with third party conducted food safety reviews
on strategic milk supplying partners to make sure applicable food
safety standards were implemented at strategic ranches and helped
drive improvement of the overall level of food safety management in
the industry.
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Mengniu has adopted advanced ranch management SOP standard
from Denmark-based Arla Foods, to help it fortify the foundation
for establishing standardized ranches and strengthen its ability to
apply delicacy management of technologies, and in turn enhance
the operational capability of ranches in China. For the raw milk
production chain, Mengniu cooperated with the National Dairy
Industry Technology System, the SEGES (formerly known as
Knowledge Center of Agriculture of Denmanrk) and expert ranch
operators to establish the “Mengniu Ranch Technology SOP”
for general application, and for specific regions, dedicated terms
were drawn up with the help of regional experts across the nation.
Ranches in different regions can apply SOP standards befitting
the cattle rearing conditions of their respective regions to improve
their operation and contribute to the healthy development of the
country’s dairy industry.

During the year, Mengniu went ahead in full scope with promotion
of the “W-W Virtual Dairy Farming” project, targeting to tighten
cooperation with milk suppliers and improve operating performance
of ranches. During the year, the project achieved coverage of more
than 500 milk suppliers and approximately 80% of the front-line
staff of milk sources department, and the concept of contractual
responsibility was applied in selected ranches. Mengniu aligned
the advanced assessment management system of Arla Garden
with its own, focusing on four major modules namely source
management, outcome assessment, technology management and
financial management, to help milk suppliers effectively enhance
profitability and minimize internal operating costs. The “W-W Virtual
Dairy Farming” project was presented the “Second Class National
Innovation Award” in 2016.

Guided by the central government’s “Grain to Fodder” policy,
Mengniu has given support, in terms of capital aid and technical
guidance, to ranches in the scientific use of corn silage in
feeding. The use of silage in scaled farms has reached 100%,
which effectively resolved the problem concerning the feeding
of milk cattle. At the same time, to improve the overall milk
cattle rearing husbandry standard in the country, Mengniu
completed infrastructural upgrade during the year to improve the
living environment of milk cattle, hence laid the foundation for
enhancement of raw milk quality.

To strengthen supervision on and management of raw milk
production at ranches, and gradually realize digitalized and
intelligent management of raw milk production and the entire
delivery process of raw milk, Mengniu implemented the “Ranch
Monitor Project” in five selected business units in two major
sales regions, namely northern China and Liaoning & eastern
Inner Mongolia regions, during the year. The monitoring facilities
in ranches were connected via the Internet with the business
units’” monitoring terminals, enabling Mengniu to remotely monitor
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ranch operations using Internet-of-Things (“loT”) technology. The
project allows digitalized ranch management and loT-enabled
monitoring of key areas in the production process including feed
storage, veterinary drugs room, milking hall, laboratory and milk
transportation vehicles. As such, the entire production process
of raw milk is traceable and can be reviewed, which can help
assure the quality and safety of raw milk. In the future, Mengniu
will keep optimizing the project and implement it in related facilities
across the nation, hence realize seamless monitoring of ranch
operations as well as lay a solid foundation for overall digitalized
ranch management. Mengniu also developed the “Milk Vehicle
GPS Project” during the year to strengthen safety management
and lower safety risks during transportation of raw milk. As at
the end of 2016, about half of its raw milk transportation vehicles
had GPS positioning system and shooting lens installed, enabling
visual tracking of transportation routes of the vehicles and any
abnormalities on the way to guarantee safety of raw milk on its “last
kilometer” transportation.

To safeguard the supply of Milk Deluxe and give full support to
the strategic upgrade of Milk Deluxe products, Mengniu focused
on implementing the “P+ Project of Milk Source Bases” in 2016. It
promoted in full scope management measures in relation to three
core technologies relevant to dairy cattle welfare, refined feeding
and species improvement. Four management approaches — 10
rounds of experiments, devising of technological solutions, hiring
exclusive contractors and pricing support, plus daily reporting of
monitoring findings and warning mechanism were used.

Management system

In 2013, Mengniu adopted the SAP system to boost its management
capabilities in six areas: precision marketing and in-depth sales
channel management; integrated business and financial management
platform; a responsive synergetic system for supply, production and
sales; integrated quality management and gradually refined quality
tracking; scientific and rational industry deployment, and highly
effective management of procurement and logistics.

There are three phases in the roll out of the SAP project. The first
was foundation implementation, which was completed in March
2015. Mengniu achieved integration of businesses throughout
the entire supply chain, integration of finance and business
functions as well as integration of production, supply and sales
functions, enhancing substantially the level of standardization and
transparency of Mengniu’s business data. On top of improving the
efficiency of internal work-related undertakings, management and
decision-making, the Group now has boosted strength in data
mining and application.
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The second phase involves operational refinements for roll out
between 2015 and 2016. It includes four sub-projects, namely
Business Intelligence (“Bl”), Plant Maintenance (“PM”), Integration
of Business and Finance of Sales Company (“IBFSC”) and Finance
Shared Service Center (“FSSC”).

The Bl marketing project was officially launched in June 2016.
The Bl system analysis platform provides access to real time sales
data of different brands and product categories to facilitate related
decision-making. The Group can thus monitor sales and expenses
data timely and strengthen sales-end control, freeing the Group
from the conventional analysis approach based on single business.

Mengniu is the first dairy enterprise in China to have a FSSC
running on a mature operational model. In February 2016, it officially
commenced phase Il of the FSSC project. Currently, all production
plants are FSSC-covered. On the back of innovative SAP-SSF
(Share Service Framework) technology, business and finance
systems of the Group are now connected and a solid foundation
has been laid for establishing shared service centers for human
resources, information technology and procurement functions. The
FSSC platform provides full support to financial management and
will continue to push for procedural upgrades of the center, so as
to help the Group improve its management model, intensive cost
saving, technology integration and innovation, as well as business
transformation, etc. In 2016, the project received the “Best IBM
Practice Project of the Globe IBM” award and the “2016 Best
Innovation and Practice Prize in SAP Consumers Goods Industry
2016 SAP”.

Also, to enjoy the economies of scale in procurement and to
strengthen its management standard, core the competitiveness
and risk resistance, Mengniu commenced the Supplier Relationship
Management (“SRM”) project in April 2016, the purpose of which
is to provide systematic support to members of the Group to
better establish and execute their procurement strategies via
developing an efficient, centralized and integrated supplier and
procurement information management platform. The platform
built over six months was launched in October 2016 giving the
Group a centralized procurement tender management platform, a
supplier management platform and a supplier portal. The Group’s
contract management platform and SAP-ERP (Enterprise Resource
Planning) system are effectively connected, permitting centralized
purchasing of consumables via the system thus improving the
efficiency of every procedure in the procurement process.
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Currently, the project is in its third phase, going through
coordination work and optimization, being improved and adjusted
based on actual situations encountered during implementation.

One of the main informatization endeavors of the Group in 2016
was to build a sales information management platform, therefore
the construction of region-wide SAP and Wei Sales Platform
(“WSP”). SAP+WSP was launched during the year offering the
Group a closed-loop model for direct sales channel management
that covers sales execution, operation and financial settlement
functions. It was quickly promoted countrywide to help physical
sales entities effectively implement their operating systems.
Mengniu promotes both SAP and WSP at the same time, as the
two together can integrate front-end sales execution and back-
end business operation, putting them in a closed-loop system
for comprehensive management, allowing effective control over
critical business procedures. It also provides Mengniu a stronger
foundation for pursuing regional business expansion.

With the help of partners in the ecosystem, the Group integrated
resources from different segments and completed construction of
the southern and northern data centers during the year, in other
words, the “Heart of Mengniu Digitalization” has started beating.
In 2017, Mengniu will continue to push forward construction of
the “Mengniu Cloud” to provide fast and reliable IT infrastructure
sharing service to its different business segments, which will reduce
the overall cost the Group incurs for its information system and
lay a solid foundation for the Group to develop in the “Internet+”
market environment.

Branding Strategy

Taking advantage of its access to first-class resources worldwide,
Mengniu continued to push for “internationalization” and
“digitalization” in its innovative strategic layout targeting to enhance
its brand value all-round. Adhering to its “A Little Happiness
Matters” brand concept, Mengniu mounted a wide array of
interactive marketing activities on three major platforms — food,
sport and entertainment — to help it relay messages of living healthy
and the concept of happiness to consumers.

Mengniu has been a strategic partner of China’s aerospace
program for 13 years, during which it has provided high quality dairy
products to astronauts and aerospace workers in the country. It
has kicked off an “aerospace probiotics program” and developed its
proprietary BBMNG68 Bifidobacterium Lactis (BL) that was taken into
space in Shenzhou 11 for experiments to explore the possibilities in
upgrading the nutritional value of dairy products. Mengniu launched
a series of aerospace themed activities under the “Support China,
Excel in Space” banner, to share with consumers the joy of the
successful launch of Shenzhou 11. With the support of integrated
online and offline promotions, the activities attracted tremendous
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consumer attention and helped boost Mengniu’s high-tech and
high quality brand image. In 2016, the China Space Foundation
awarded Mengniu the “Special Award for Contributions to China’s
Space Program”, a clear recognition of Mengniu’s strengths and
quality in the aerospace aspect.

Mengniu and NBA China are long-standing strategic partners. The
two parties have been devoted to promoting basketball culture
and the healthy lifestyle of “more milk and more sports” and have
cooperated closely in many areas to realize their respective brand
value. In 2016, Mengniu initiated the 3V3 National University
Basketball Challenge Match, which attracted participation of
basketball fans in 48 universities in 12 cities. The champion team
won the chance to visit the NBA overall champion, the Cleveland
Cavaliers. The event has continued to elevate the influence of
Mengniu among young consumers in China. During the NBA
Global Game period, Mengniu and NBA China rolled out interactive
activities themed “Friends for 10 years, A little happiness matters”.
Those activities resonated with basketball fans, bringing back for
them memories about basketball and healthy living in the past
decade. In addition, Mengniu was authorized to use the NBA logo
on the packaging of its products and launch unique milk products
in China with NBA elements incorporated in the package design to
strengthen basketball fans’ sense of affiliation to Mengniu.

Taking advantage of the 2016 Rio Olympics, Mengniu, together
with its three sports champion ambassadors Jiao Liuyang, Wang
Shun and Liu Xiang, initiated the “Tri-Champion Standards” brand
proposition to support Chinese athletes taking part in the Rio
Olympics. Champion mounted a large-scale marketing campaign
themed “Everyone is Champion, Excel in Rio”. The various
marketing events put Champion’s champion spirit in the news
spotlight and the series of related activities that promoted sports
and exercises gave consumers memorable experiences in relation
to the Champion brand. Champion also cooperated with Rejoice
Sport, a quality sport platform, on a running and accumulating
mileage online activity, which was very well received and attracted
the participation of a huge number of consumers, thus helping
Champion build its champion brand image. In addition, Mengniu
collaborated with Sina on a running event named “Excel in Rio, Run
China”, with activities organized in 100 cities nationwide featuring
five nature-related themes — Blossoms, Ocean, Forest, Morning
Light and Lake — to advocate exercise for all and convey its “High
quality milk is definitely pure” brand value, letting participants
experience the happiness of being with nature and exercising.
Mengniu has married the value of sports with the pursuit of high
nutritional standard in milk and is supporting consumers as a
provider of nutritional dairy products.
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The strategic alliance with Shanghai Disney Resort, which opened
in June 2016, represented another milestone for Mengniu in taking
its brand international. As the official dairy provider of Shanghai
Disney Resort, Mengniu has an integrated brand presence at a
variety of locations in the resort. Meanwhile, visitors from all over
the world can enjoy Mengniu’s quality products including milk,
yogurt and ice cream in the resort. Many innovative delights are
exclusively created for Shanghai Disney Resort, such as Mickey’s
Ice Cream Classic, Minnie’s Sweet Treat and Donald’s Duckburg
Ice. In addition, Mengniu also launched several themed marketing
campaigns with the resort, such as the “Happy Start to a Wonderful
Journey” marketing activity featuring Future Star from June to July
2016 and the “A Wonderful Journey to Happy Festivals” activities
between September and October 2016 to that coincided with Mid-
Autumn Festival and National Day celebrations.

Innovation has been the driving force behind Milk Deluxe product
upgrades, explaining its leadership in the development of premium
UHT milk in China. Mengniu has redefined “premium” by enhancing
the nutritional standard of all Milk Deluxe products and appointed
the famous artist Chen Daoming as its ambassador, who perfectly
represents its “New Nutrition Level Makes a Better Life” brand
essence. Using the new media and offline activities combined, Milk
Deluxe gained considerable exposure for its products and built
for itself a high-end brand image that stands for “golden quality”.
Consumers responded very positively to Milk Deluxe’s marketing
efforts for its upgraded new products, with those efforts winning
for the Group the “Best Integrated Social Marketing Case — Gold
Award” at the “China Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold
Award”.
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Just Yoghurt again worked with Hunan TV, tapping into the popular
prime-time variety show “Run for Time” in its second season to
plant brand elements in the show setting. And, with strong ties to
the show forged through its ambassador, awareness of the brand
was markedly enhanced at the influence of fans of the show. At the
same time, by sparking hot discussions on WeChat and Sina Weibo
and interacting with consumers, the mass consumers came to
appreciate the concept of “No additives, pure and delicious taste”
of the brand and such appreciation turned into sales. Just Yoghurt
also instilled its brand presence into the movie “The Mermaid”,
which won for it the “Best Video Content Marketing Case — Silver
Award” at the “China Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold
Award” in June 2016.

In June 2016, Mengniu cooperated with the Hollywood production
“Independence Day: Resurgence”. It demonstrated innovation in
product development and created “Mengniu Moon Milk”, which
was seamlessly embedded in the movie, taking cooperation
between Chinese brands and Hollywood movies to a new height. In
addition, Mengniu embarked on a series of comprehensive online
and offline movie-themed communications, which successfully
grabbed the attention of young consumers and also strengthened
the high-tech and high quality image of Mengniu’s products
befitting for consumption by Chinese astronauts. Through perfect
integration of Mengniu Moon Milk with the movie and entertainment
resources, Mengniu’s “Independence Day: Resurgence” integrated
marketing program won the “2016 Best Innovative Marketing
Award — Gold Award 2016” at the China Innovative Marketing
Award, the “Annual Marketing Communication — Case Award” and
“Innovative Interaction — Gold Award” at the China Advertising Great
Wall Awards — Advertisers Awards, the “Non-alcohol and Non-
carbonate Beverage Bronze Award” and “Single Effect Interactive
Communication Bronze Award” at the Greater China Effie Awards
and other awards in 2016.

Mengniu organized a charitable campaign named “Salute to
Great Parents” that echoed with the focus of its Awakening Youth
Milk brand on the nutrition and health of the middle-aged and
elderly. The campaign had the support of ambassadors including
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celebrities, social elites and staff members of Mengniu in different
positions. And, through the social media, this campaign was widely
publicized and the Awakening Youth Milk brand gained vigor and
fame, while encouraging more people to care about their parents.
Furthermore, the Awakening Youth Milk brand has also integrated
the resources of the Chinese national swimming team, with the
products supplied to the parents of the swimming team members
and the coaches, showing Mengniu’s care for the heroes behind
the “champions” and highlighting the brand spirit and character of
Awakening Youth Milk.

Mengniu was the title sponsor of “Chef Nic”, a leading food variety
show that boasts high rating nationwide, for two years in a row.
The program through delicious foods inspires people to “live the
essence of life” and Mengniu through the program advocated
the “Healthy Intestines Keep You Young” brand proposition of
Yoyi C encouraging people to live healthy and happy and setting
a new standard for the pursuit of quality living. The Yoyi C brand
was incorporated into the show in various forms, and was
complemented with interactive marketing via both online and offline
communications. Yoyi C also made use of different social media
platforms to roll out a series of interactive activities surrounding
highlights of the show for fans, aiming to boost its brand influence.

Suan Suan Ru became the title sponsor of “Super Girl” in 2016.
With classic IP as its vehicle, Mengniu explored new online
marketing approaches in association with the reality show in the
new Internet era. Suan Suan Ru was the first in the industry to
adopt the one barcode per pack technology to connect product
marketing with the voting activities of “Super Girl”, forging close
ties between the product and the program and stimulating actual
sales. At the same time, offline caravan roadshows were presented
bringing with it the contestants to communicate with brand
consumers, turning fans of the show into patrons of the brand
and in turn driving sales. That was a new example of cooperation
between reality shows and brands in the new Internet era.

Future Star is the first milk product designed specifically for kids in
China. In cooperation with the movie “lce Age: Collision Course”,
it introduced the Ice Age limited edition packaging and engaged a
host of different channels, including video and print, for marketing,
building its premium image as a quality brand that helps children
grow healthily. The movie with ice and coolness as elements also
gave marketing leverage to Mengniu’s /ce+ products. The Group
put out Ice Age limited edition Ice+ products and mounted a variety
of supportive promotion that succeeded in catching the eyes of
many fans of the movie. It offered consumers soothingly cool
products in the hot summer and received commendation from the
partner.
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Based on consumer Big Data research findings, Mengniu and
JD upgraded strategic cooperation and jointly created the new
brand Tianxiaohai that has unique Internet genes. The “Advisor
Office of the Tianxiaohai” was set up online which kept coming up
with interesting marketing topics and events and, via live shows
featuring Jiang Jinfu, daily humorous Weibo and WeChat messages
and videos, etc., communicated with and touched the heart of
young consumers from various aspects. With humor and a sense
of ease, the marketing activities helped publicized the positive and
optimistic “Drink Sweet, Be Happy” life attitude.

The first high quality “Internet milk” (sold exclusively online) — Hi Milk
which Mengniu launched jointly with its “Star Partner” the singer
group Yu Quan contains 3.6g of lactoprotein per 100ml of milk. The
product harvested tremendous success in IP customized marketing
in 2016. Special packaging was launched respectively for the “Angry
Birds” animated movie, the movie adapted from the best-selling
book “Time Raiders” and the launch of the Logitech mouse, which
were all hailed high among consumers. Hi Milk garnered many
international honors in 2016, including two awards — “Best Dairy
Product” and “Best Packaging of Dairy Products” — at the 10th
Global Dairy Congress, and the “iF Product Design Award” dubbed
the Oscar in the product design field, symbolizing the high acclaims
Mengniu enjoys internationally for its innovative product designs.

Mengniu will continue to put consumers first and, through innovative
marketing, rally the support of consumers to its brand value
building efforts, thereby create for itself a more forward-looking and
younger brand image.

Sales Channels

Mengniu pushed forward with pragmatism the reform direction
that emphasizes “vertical flattening, horizontal integration, function
optimization and enhancement of sales regions”, strengthened
its RTM project and created an operation mode centered around
distributors and developed together by distributors, sales
companies and the CBU. With role and responsibility system
improved and management mechanism implemented, the regional
entities set up were able to fully deliver their functions. By increasing
the number of its business representatives and distributors and
employing system tools to standardize operations, Mengniu was
able to carry out standardized management throughout its retail
network. Furthermore, through establishing direct sales teams
and strengthening their capacities in serving point-of-sale directly,
Mengniu has been gradually boosting point-of-sale control and its
core competitiveness, giving it a solid foundation for building an
omni-channel delicacy management system.
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Mengniu uses the WSP project to manage sales personnel’s work
at the point-of-sale, applying a closed-loop management system
that covers from objective setting to sales execution. The project
performs such functions as standardizing sales visits, setting
parameters for management of employee attendance, guiding
target management, carrying out standardized management, and
collecting and analyzing real-time point-of-sale data. Armed with
the advantages of access to basic information and data and having
standardized operational procedures, WSP helps connect the
relevant functions of different business segments in the internal
operation of the sales system, and as such contributes to channel
management upgrade and the professional, regulated, standardized
and integrated management of the overall system platform. The
WSP project has been promoted by Mengniu in full scope to sales
companies and the CBUs.

By enhancing the overall Key Account (“KA”) management structure,
Mengniu has enabled closer exchange and communication among
the different parties in three-tier organizational structure — the
client teams at the headquarters, key account teams at sales
regions and the distributor KA teams. Mengniu has established a
customer data analysis platform for major point-of-sale of the key
accounts, by which it closely monitored each point-of-sale of major
customers and product delivery rate data, giving it a full grasp of
and control on sales progress at each outlet and also boosting its
responsiveness to changes in consumer demand, as well as linking
it seamlessly with retailers. The platform also provided reference
for effective sales decision making for achieving sales targets. In
addition, Mengniu adopted differentiated marketing strategies,
launching products and marketing activities customized according
to the characteristics of major customers, thus created new growth
opportunities in line with local conditions. By forming strategic
alliance with major retailers, Mengniu was able to direct limited
resources to key markets and product categories, building together
with retailers a win-win platform for the business ecosystem. At the
same time, Mengniu has kicked off in full scale an enhancement
program for the convenience store sales channel pinpointing such
areas as product structure, pricing system, delivery logistics,
customization and marketing.
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With an appreciation of the power of the Internet, Mengniu
is forging ahead with expanding e-commerce sales channels
and connecting with consumers through all possible means.
During the year, Mengniu consolidated its business layout on
quality e-commerce platforms and signed strategic cooperation
agreements with Tmall and JD. Currently, its products are sold
on all major e-commerce platforms in China including Tmall, JD,
Yhd.com, Suning and Womai.com. In 2016, Mengniu recorded
outstanding results on e-commerce platforms. Thanks to well-
tailored traffic plans and marketing efforts to zest up demands,
Mengniu attracted considerable consumer attention during the
“Double 11” period, achieving sales totaling near RMB100 million,
and shatched the top spot in sales on major e-commerce platforms
such as Tmall and JD.

Mengniu has been expanding its overseas business footprint
actively. It now sells products in oversea markets such as Hong
Kong, Macau, Mongolia, Myanmar and Singapore. The room
temperature products included Pure Milk, Low-Fat High Calcium
Milk, Milk Deluxe, Fruit Milk Drink, Just Yoghurt; and the chilled
products included mainly Yoyi C, and ice cream product brands
such as Deluxe, Suibian and Mood for Green, etc. Mengniu further
adjusted its product structure and carried forward the introduction
of chilled products and ice cream products into the market. Also,
Mengniu increased product exposure and stimulated sales by
employing diverse and innovative promotion activities. It achieved
good sales performance in Hong Kong and Macau, and other
overseas markets during the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Benefiting from the upgrade in product structure and brands, and
active promotion and marketing efforts, the Group’s total revenue
for 2016 was RMB53,779.3 million (2015: RMB49,026.5 million),
representing an increase of 9.7% year-on-year. Excluding Yashili,
the Group’s revenue increased by 10.2% to RMB51,576.0 million
(2015: RMB46,814.7 million). Products with greater contributions to
revenue growth were Milk Deluxe, Just Yoghurt and Mengniu Pure
Milk.
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Gross Profit

With the declined average price of raw milk during the year and
continued optimization of product mix, the Group’s gross profit for
the year increased to RMB17,635.4 million (2015: RMB15,375.5
million) and gross profit margin increased by 1.4 percentage points
to 32.8% as compared with last year (2015: 31.4%). Excluding
Yashili, the Group’s gross profit was RMB16,583.7 million (2015:
RMB14,242.4 million), while gross profit margin increased by 1.8
percentage points year-on-year to 32.2%.

Operating Expenses

To cope with market competition, the Group implemented
proactive channel expansion strategies and invested more heavily
on branding. The Group also recognized an impairment provision
on goodwill relating to milk powder product business, a non-
cash expense, during the year. As such, its operating expenses
increased to RMB18,757.3 million (2015: RMB13,248.9 million),
representing an increase to 34.9% (2015: 27.0%) of the Group’s
revenue. Excluding Yashili's operating expenses and the impairment
of goodwill, the Group’s operating expenses were RMB14,731.2
million (2015: RMB11,883.1 million), representing 28.6% of its
revenue (2015: 25.4%).

Selling and distribution expenses for the year increased by 22.3%
to RMB13,435.2 million (2015: RMB10,985.0 million), representing
an increase of 2.6 percentage points to 25.0% (2015: 22.4%) of
the Group’s revenue. Excluding Yashili, the selling and distribution
expenses of the Group were RMB12,264.2 million (2015:
RMB9,872.6 million), representing 23.8% of its revenue (2015:
21.1%), an increase of 2.7 percentage points year-on-year.

Advertising and promotion expenses included in selling and
distribution expenses, for the year increased by 30.6% to
RMB5,3383.7 million (2015: RMB4,085.1 million), representing an
increase to 9.9% (2015: 8.3%) of the Group’s revenue. Excluding
Yashili, the Group’s advertising and promotion expenses increased
by 35.1% to RMB4,835.5 million (2015: RMB3,578.2 million),
representing 9.4% of its revenue (2015: 7.6%), an increase of 1.8
percentage points year-on-year.

As Yashili recorded a loss during the year and took into
consideration the operating condition and financial performance
of Yashili in recent years, the Group recognized an impairment
provision of RMB2,253.8 million against the goodwill recorded in
the related milk powder product business during the year (2015:
nil).

Excluding the impairment of goodwill, administrative and other
operating expenses increased by 35.5% to RMB3,068.2 million
(2015: RMB2,263.8 million), representing an increase to 5.7% (2015:
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4.6%) of the Group’s revenue. The increase was mainly attributable
to the inclusion of the costs arising from underutilized production
capacity of certain milk powder plants during the year and the
increase in staff costs. Excluding Yashili, the Group’s administrative
and other operating expenses were RMB2,466.9 million (2015:
RMB2,010.5 million), representing 4.8% of its revenue (2015: 4.3%),
an increase of 0.5 percentage points year-on-year.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit or Loss
As a result of i) the loss recorded by Yashili during the year and the
impairment of goodwill of the Group; ii) the optimization of raw milk
powder inventory level including selling excessive quantity at market
price; and iii) a significant loss incurred by an associate during the
year, the EBITDA of the Group decreased by 77.4% to RMB956.0
million (2015: RMB4,229.9 million), and the EBITDA margin declined
to 1.8% (2015: 8.6%). Excluding Yashili and the impairment of
goodwill, the EBITDA of the Group was RMB3,524.7 million (2015:
RMB4,228.7 million), with the EBITDA margin decreased to 6.8%
(2015: 9.0%).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB751.2 million (profit attributable to owners of the Company in
2015: RMB2,367.3 million). Basic loss per share was RMBO0.193
(basic earnings per share in 2015: RMBO0.609). Excluding Yashili
and the impairment of goodwill, profit attributable to owners of the
Company was RMB1,686.9 million (2015: RMB2,331.0 million),
representing a decrease of 27.6% year-on-year.

Income Tax Expenses

The loss before tax of the Group in 2016 was RMB461.4 million
(2015: profit before tax of RMB3,030.2 million), while the income
tax expense was RMB351.4 million (2015: RMB510 million). It
was mainly due to the impairment loss of goodwill amounting to
RMB2,253.8 million being a non-deductible item.

Excluding the impairment of goodwill, the effective income tax rate
of the Group for 2016 was 19.6% (2015: 16.8%), increased by 2.8
percentage points year-on-year, mainly due to the contribution of
Yashili and a major associate turned from profit last year to loss
during the year. Excluding Yashili and impairment of goodwill, the
effective income tax rate of the Group was at 17.2%, which was
comparable with last year (2015: 17.1%).

Capital Expenditure

As of 31 December 2016, the capital expenditure (“CAPEX”)
of the Group was RMB4,352.5 million (2015: RMB3,026.9
million), increased 43.8% year-on-year. The CAPEX consisted
of expenditure that were spent on building new and modifying
existing production facilities and related investment amounting
to RMB3,037.5 million, purchasing biological assets amounting
to RMB230.8 million and addition of equity investment (including

4.6%) o AREZRNET IO TWMFRNE
e A RN EMEENER RIEB KA I AT
B AEHLH  AEETBEHEMEEERA
R¥24669ET(ZT—HF : ARE20.105(E
L) AEERAL8%(ZE—RE  4.3%) - [k
EAOSEE DR -

REXEBRERFIBE
E)fELTFFAREESEBRAEESEEETR
B iR EFEEE  BREUTELES
HOEE KiBEATFRAKEERE  ~AEE
ERTE# M AEEBITDA) NE7T74%E AR
#9560 TL(— T —HF : ARM42.200(E7T)
EBITDAFEEREE1.8%( —ZT—FHF : 8.6%) :
REMETF REERE  ~NEEEBITDARARE
352478t (ZZE—RHF : AR¥42.287F ) -
EBITDAFIEREEB.8%( =T —HF : 9.0%) °

RARHEANELBEAARB7S12EL(ZE
—RFEARQNBEE ARMLFE : AR23.6731E
T0) e BREAREEAARB01B3T(ZE—H
FERERAFN : AR¥0609T) - TEHL
FREERE AREEARBRFIBEAEARE
16.869B L (— T —hHF : AR¥23.310E7L) -
Bt T F£27.6% ©

e i
REBRZZE—AFNHABEAAREK 4614
Ba(ZZ2—h%F : HarFBEAEARES. 3021ﬁ
JL) * MBS B AAREIS14ETL(ZE—
F: AR¥510(E7T) Egmﬁéﬁ-ﬁ%mﬁ%%ﬁ)\

R#22 5388 L AT EINFAIEE ©
MR ERE - K%:z—/—ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁw}é
RAE19.6% (T —FH4F : 16.8%) ' Rt EF2.8

EED2 - IgEﬁﬁAﬁﬁiﬂ& MEZHEAT
HASEMNEMNYEFNFBEASFNESE -
FEHIAEEERE  AEEMESHERKEE
BI7T2%(ZF—R%F 171%) » EEFHEE o

BEARLH

HE-_ZT—XR"F+-A=+—H1t AEEER
THTEARATH D ABARELZ 25 T(ZE—H
F: AR¥30.269187T) + Rt EF43.8% : &R
SHARFTEMBEEERERARBIRA - EA
R#30.375187C : BAEWEEE ARE2.30818
TC o METERERE (BESESLTE)EARE
10.842187C - TEHLH  AEEEALZHAA



Annual Report 2016 —Z— NFEF

Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Extm Kk o

Dumex China) amounting to RMB1,084.2 million. Excluding
Yashili, the CAPEX of the Group was RMB3,365.2 million (2015:
RMB2,682.2 million).

Working Capital, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

As of 31 December 2016, the Group’s net cash inflow from
operating activities increased to RMB4,512.9 million (2015:
RMB1,909.2 million), primarily due to (i) a significant decrease of
raw materials inventories; (i) an increase of trade payables; and (iii)
an increase of other payables.

As at 31 December 2016, outstanding bank loans and bonds
of the Group decreased to RMB8,587.6 million (31 December
2015: RMB11,050.3 million), of which bank loans amounted to
RMB3,045.4 million (31 December 2015: RMB6,080.8 million)
were repayable within one year. More than 60% of the bank loans
and bonds were fixed interest-bearing loans. Excluding Yashili, the
outstanding bank loans and bonds of the Group were RMB7,444.5
million (31 December 2015: RMB10,388.6 million).

Net borrowings (total amount of bank loans and bonds net of
cash and bank balances) of the Group as at 31 December 2016
were RMB2,517.5 million (31 December 2015: RMB3,119.0
million). Excluding Yashili, the net borrowings of the Group were
RMB3,017.2 million (2015: RMB4,938.7 million).

The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2016 was
RMB25,503.7 million (31 December 2015: RMB26,615.2 million).
Its debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of bank loans and bonds over
total equity) was 33.7% (31 December 2015: 41.5%).

Finance costs of the Group for 2016 were RMB293.7 million (2015:
RMB318.6 million), accounting for about 0.5% of the revenue
(2015: 0.6%). Excluding Yashili, finance costs of the Group were
RMB274.9 million (2015: RMB301.0 million), accounting for 0.5%
of the revenue excluding that of Yashili (2015: 0.6%), decreased by
0.1 percentage points year-on-year.

Share Repurchase

The Group has full confidence in its long term development. To
enhance its shareholder base and value, the Group repurchased
in the open market a total of 6,116,000 ordinary shares of the
Company, in six batches at the average price of HK$11.09 per
ordinary share or a total consideration of RMB58.1 million during
the year.
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Products Em

In 2016, Mengniu continued to focus on key products, optimize —ZE—XF X F4EETESHESD  EBLLER
product mix and innovate in product development and packaging. #5# @ TERLBE FEBERIF - BB AR
By undertaking Big Data-based precision marketing research, ZEZ$HHIIT AEEEEMHO B - RIRFIFEE
Mengniu was able to gauge the fine needs of consumers and BMAZ @ EIRFLEL K - A FHEE T
quickly customize products and contents accordingly with precise FEHEZ - T RIBEEREE L - Ml &L M8
input. Taking advantage of the flexibility of the digital media, @G EFHEE @ 255 0REEEE -

it promoted the Mengniu brand and sales and enhanced the

interaction between consumers and the brand, which has helped

improve the brand’s reputation.

Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE g 30 B

Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB48,102.9 million (2015: RMB43,326.6 million), accounting for 89.4% of the Group’s total revenue (2015:
88.4%)

e WABARE481.020BTL(ZE—1F : AR¥A433.266(ET0) « (EAEEEMALIS.4%( =S —HF : 88.4%)

UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB23,851.9 million (2015: - The new Milk Deluxe products, upgraded and in new packaging, which

UHTH} RMB21,364.5 million), accounting for 49.6% of the contain 3.6g of quality lactoprotein and 120mg of original calcium per
liquid milk segment revenue (2015: 49.3%) 100ml of milk, are leader in the development of high-end UHT milk
WABARE238519ETL(ZE—1E : AR¥ in China. Milk Deluxe’s new ambassador, the famous artist Mr. Chen
213.645(870) * IHRAETIKAL9.6%(ZF—RF : Daoming is a perfect representation of the “New Nutrition Level Makes a
49.3%) Better Life” essence of the brand

- HRELFARERREE 1002 NE236RBEAEAMI20
ERRARS  SIEPESRKUHTHNER  BF - UELEMRRES
TEERHEREA  TXRBHFAH ERNRE  KEEHFALING

- Miao Miao Kid Growth Milk in the Future Star series contains fortified
calcium, iron and zinc as well as probiotics, conducive to the healthy
growth of children. During the year, the series cooperated with the movie
“lce Age: Collision Course”, releasing limited edition Ice Age packaging to
help build the image of a quality brand dedicated to fostering the healthy
growth of children

- AREZINPYZEARLY RESESRAETERERS - Kot
TERTHOREREK - FR AXERETZ(KIER : ERRE)R
fe - EHAIERREREE  TEBZERFRRNBERET L
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR MBRE L)

- Mengniu and the Hollywood movie “Independence Day: Resurgence”
joined force and seamlessly incorporated “Mengniu Moon Milk” into
the movie, a move of strategic importance in improving Mengniu’s
international brand image. Also, a limited edition of Mengniu Pure Milk
kicked off sales in Tmall coinciding with the release of the movie in
theaters

- FRHEHFBRER(BUA : BIER)RESE REFDEEEA
[Mengniu Moon Mik(R4 A3R410) | - SRASFREER & EZ
BRMNER TV IRRERFFALINEY AR A ERABEMER

Ty
% &
- - XinYangDao tied in promotion with the movie “Warcraft”, complementing

it with a limited edition milk product sold in Tmall for fans of the movie. In
addition, the brand was planted in the TV drama “The Mystic Nine” of Igiyi
innovatively, tapping into hot talks among the consumers to interact with
the audience and drive sales

- FEEREURBIRERAE  RENEMTHREREEFNNRIEE
£ Ak REFEBEREZNAIDAZEIEAXETREEN - FIA
etNERRBTETLY  ABERHE

- Mengniu worked with the “Star partner” singer group Yu Quan to launch
the first high-quality “Internet milk” (sold exclusively online) - Hi Milk. The
product contains 3.6 of lactoprotein per 100ml of milk, which is 20%
higher than the international standard

- FEBFREARAIRFAATRMARLERRESERBTN -4
MikiB44 - B100EFHH NI ZH 2 BE3 6% « & ERIEE20%

- Awakening Youth Milk rallied, through charitable bodies, the participation
of members of the China Swimming Team, stars and celebrities and
social elites in the “Salute to Great Parents” activity to show their gratitude
to their parents and encourage consumers to care about their parents.
The activity aimed to let the middle-aged and elderly enjoy the nutritious
products and feel the warmth of care from others

- BERRLSNBRFEZMABHE AN2YERE HERR2Z
[BHEAED  RARERMERENRD G BREEEHE
BE  FhEZEHREGIER LS nRRIBRNER
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MEBRR B

Milk beverages  Revenue amounted to RMB9,380.2 million (2015:

Fruit Milk Drink took on new thematic packaging designs, allowing it to

A RMB10,434.7 million), accounting for 19.5% of the leverage such broadcast channels as TV dramas, variety shows and
liquid milk segment revenue (2015: 24.1%) Internet videos to publicize the “Milk + Fruit Pulps, Natural and Fun” brand
WABARKE.802BL(ZE—0F : A\RK attitude
104.34718 ) * IERAEDRA19.6%(—F—0%F : - ERNEGIRREMERENS EAERE K2 BARASEER
24.1%) BETRTREREY  BEFH+RN - aRBEE INREER

- Yoyi C upholds the brand motto of “Healthy Intestines Keep You Young”
and is firmly founded on its offer of “30 billion live bacteria C” and “the only
bacteria authorized by Denmark Chr. Hansen”. It has built itself into a
leading brand among functional beverages that contain active probiotics.
During the year, Yoyi C launched an innovative cross-segment product
- Live Tea, which integrates the exotic and unique characteristics of
tea - Indian red and Longjing green — with probiotics, a combination of
two very different flavors. A special edition packaging for the products
was launched to complement the movie “Batman v Superman: Dawn of
Justice”. Yoyi C also introduced to the market a low sugar version of the
sea salt and lemon flavor drink that contains quality sea salt from Australia
and 30 billion live bacteria C. With a lower sugar content and added
micronutrients, it promises to taste better and be more health-enhancing
for consumers

- BHCBRIEERY BFEIMHMEEIR  LRENI00EENCE R
[FHEMERE—RERE |  TERMARRD AN EERE - 71
BHCHEBERENERERZT BA TRERENIRARNRER
EEMNEAZE  AARHNIBRERHMES LEBRATRNOKEZ
R RREPERTARERABEA : ERBRRLTEHNEE £
HCEELAELSEERNR  BELNEE - B25E300FENENC
ERERSNARFIIMETE - REEETRESREMER

Yogurt Revenue amounted to RMB14,870.8 millon - Just Yoghurt is made with strictly selected quality milk from exclusive

B (2015: RMB11,527.4 million), accounting for 30.9% of farms and fermented with bacteria imported from Denmark. It has a pure
the liquid milk segment revenue (2015: 26.6%) and simple taste and is high in nutrients, hence suitable for all members in
WABARE148.7088 T (Z2—0%: a family. Just Yoghurt again worked with the variety show “Run for Time”
AR¥115.274187T) + 1EREIBA30.9% of Hunan TV and had its brand presence instilled into the movie “The
(ZB—TF : 26.6%) Mermaid” to promote the brand concept of “Good taste, no additives”

- AFRTNREEERSHR  EONERERE OREELT AF
LEER ERERRAMA - BRTRMEAT(2BMET)RAREA
EUEAR) EERMEMFRE  TRNIMAFIR
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR MBRE L)

- Champion launched the Red+ yogurt series, which contains BB
bifidobacterium from Denmark, American pomegranates, cherries, plus
roses from Yunnan and milk from exclusive farms in China. The two
flavors of the Super Red Fruit Flower Yogurt series are Pomegranate &
Rose and Cherry & Rose, which have set off a wave of “Red Fever” at the
success of the Group’s dedicated image building efforts

- EmARLAE+ZIRY  BEAEBBER - XHAAR Bk ZH
BRRPEERIGIE - HEARIOR - @IUEREORNBRALE
KRETRNZY  BRBRRBHRNITE - S| R[AERR]

- Bio launched a new product series that conveys a leisurely French-style
ease. The products contain 10 billion Danone-patented B-Probiotics
and taste exceptionally smooth thanks to Danone-patented production
technique. They come in three flavors - blueberry, vanilla and red grape,
which are perfect interpretations of French craftsmanship and romance

- BEHELEERINEARBERY - HKADanoneE F TR - #REE
100fEDanone EFBRGOR * NEE - FE  AHEH=BOK  TXR
i RRNREERE

- 200g Nourishing Oats and Red Dates Flavor Yogurt was launched,
featuring concentrated pure red dates extract, imported oats of premium
quality and live bacteria from Denmark. It has a smooth and creamy
texture and is nourishing and invigorating for consumers

— PEHB0ZAFAEREY LT RERBEERT  BREGME
&R REAZENEE DEEMARZE REEEINEENE
Y|

- Xiao Jian introduced the 180g Ecolean Yogurt made with selected raw
materials from Bulgaria, Taiwan and China, and rich and pure ranch milk
for enhancing health of the Chinese people

— HRHNIS0ZEZMEY  BRERERNNE - o BRPENRH - &
NREOBSIE - AERARE

Ice Cream Revenue amounted to RMB2,179.9 million (2015: - Following the launch of the first fully-fermented pure yogurt ice cream
TKEM RMB2,141.2 million), accounting for 4.1% of the in China in 2015 which was much-welcomed by the market, Deluxe
Group's total revenue (2015: 4.4%) launched another industry-leading product in 2016, the only fruit yogurt
WABAR®E21.799EL(ZF—1F : AR%21.412 ice cream in the market, blending jam, fruit and yogurt with ice cream
B7)  EREBBRALI%(—E—RE : 4.4%) creating for consumers a probiotics-rich creamy treat that comes in many

palate pleasing flavors

— BZE—RF LTRBIEN100% 3 B 0048 EE R B 15 % i AT
& B EEFETRATEEN  HRLTS FE——RRAK
IKEM - BRE - RA BORSEADRERT  EEMARE
TREMEEN KGR REEETRESLEXHRRE R
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MEBRR B

- A new series named SuiXinGuo was added under the Suibian brand in
2016, leading the new jams plus ice cream product trend. It is rich in
structure and innovative, and has up to seven layers, combining jams
with chocolate, ice cream, cookies and cocoa beans. The product is an
international first

- BEE_Z R EREBURAIER SIBRECDRERNME -
RRVEREREE AN REETZELERR  ANNEERER
ARBERELR N KL BESRBERNLR AT BEREEER

- lce+ released a brand new XuanCaiBing sea salt and pineapple flavor ice
cream and also a brand new blueberry and lemon sorbet during the year.
The XuanCaiBing series features delicious yogurt ice cream with real fruit
pulps in an icy shell, presenting a new interpretation of the lce+ brand to
consumers. In 2016, the XuanCaiBing series had an upgrade and added
sorbets to the original Ice+ ice cream family

- +REEAYVKEERRNREENAVAEEREARSR - AVKZ
JIR—FKFNRBDRREXRNBRNORER - WREEERN - fH
BEGHN QAR  ZF—RF AR R ESHENER EXE
74 BMBRZS

- Mengniu created eight different ice creams specifically for the Shanghai
Disney Resort. They included Mickey’s Ice Cream Classic, Minnie’s Sweet
Treat and Donald’s Duckburg Ice, which were inspired by classic Disney
cartoon characters. Coming in different flavors, they promise to surprise
the palate and win the preference of consumers

- RYRLSBIRERBAIMITE G  QREKSLALKEN - K
FBIOKEN - BLEREHFTNES  ERfIEBERREBLIEDS
hEgEAG - SEROK EEESNERZXBEBEEEN

Milk formula  Revenue amounted to RMB3,150.9 million (2015: - VYashili's Oushi Mengniu continued to expand its organic product
AL RMB3,228.8 million), accounting for 5.9% of offerings. To add to the existing local organic infant milk formula Ruipuen
the Group’s total revenue (2015: 6.6%) it sells, the Group has begun final stage preparation importing organic
WARARE31.500ET(ZE—1F : AR%32288 infant milk formula which will be released to the market soon
E)  EREELBRALI%(—E—RE : 6.6%) - BHRETEHEFRERETRERERS  RAEATEREN TR

HIMEBEN  REEDNERENRETINRELEN T EEMHE
BRE - BERERTS

- Yashili upgraded the nutritional content and product packaging of the
existing Youyi series milk powder, Future Star Kid milk powder products,
and Mengniu’s ordinary multi-dimensional and student milk powder
products to satisfy the demand of consumers for not only more nutritious
products but also for packaging at the forefront of time

- BINUREEERIBRAY  ZEAXENHERD  FFESENH
ERNSENPERETTERAR  LETERRRYANARICE -
TMERRBAMHEEHERZERNER  ENRERENA HolEMRA

S

)2




Annual Report 2016 —Z—<F&#% OO 45

Management Discussion and Analysis BB RN DT

Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR i L)

- Imported from New Zealand, Yashily Super a-Golden Stage boasts
the patented INFAT active energy system that can promote growth
of probiotics in the intestines of babies thus encourages good bowel
activities. The formula was also launched in New Zealand simultaneously
offering babies there quality milk formula

- BIFFAEREENNER -2  BESFINFATRIRENZR - R
FEERERARER  ROBHBEE N  ERTRSEERERD
% RENWEEREEEZNNH

Other Revenue amounted to RMB345.6 million (2015: - Mengniu and WhiteWave upgraded the flavors of the existing walnut
Products RMB329.9 million), accounting for 0.6% of the Group’s and almond series of ZhiPuMoFang, a plant-based protein beverage
HittEm total revenue (2015: 0~6%) jointly created by the two parties, and also released a Mellow Soy Milk
WARARH3 456{ETL(=F ﬁi : NEHE3.2998 series more agreeable with the Chinese palate. Using the world-leading
7o) RASEERAO. 6% —Z-FF:06%) nanoparticles miling technique -Grind™ and at temperature below 4C,
fruits can be milled into nanoparticles with the original nutrients kept intact

for consumers to enjoy the original and most healthy taste
@ m - S4RwhiteWave XREIZMENED R REEEEL T T RENR
HMEEAREZRIINARK  BEREBESNRIIER  BHEATEEE
g J FO - ZERFA 2B ENOU-Grind " HKRHER - ERR4EE
ﬂ BEET  —RUEBENREREZNRE  RERRERKS - REE

ESRFRIRRRNKE
PRODUCTION 5E

Mengniu deploys its production capacity taking into account market
potential and its product strategies. As at December 2016, Mengniu
had 33 production bases across the country and one production
base in New Zealand, with total production capacity reaching 9.21
million tons (December 2015: 8.68 million tons).

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Mengniu has embedded the philosophy of sustainable development
into its corporate culture, and carried out the mission of “Focus on
nutrition and health, deliver a drop of happiness for every moment
and every day to more people”, with the support of its project
implementation strategy that emphasizes “Leading standards,
pragmatism, touching charity, top-level communication and
pioneering guidance”.

SEBREMBENRERKEBMBER  B#E=
T—AF+-A SHER2EARBEEEREMSIS
& FrAEREeELEEEL—E  EdsLE218
W(—E—hE+_-H : 868E M)

EE'EE
%tFHv—H%%E%JEEE,’E\EM\ﬁ%Y{t * AR
B BEWNIER BRANRH TEJEEI’J%%E
el S| RIMIEE BiRE  BEFIHIESR
- §—RE— ’;lJﬁﬁyka%ﬁI%ﬁME’Ji@
SERBIT -

=

A\




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Management Discussion and Analysis B Extm Kk 2

Mengniu’s “Have a Lecture in My Hometown” program with
“companionship” at its core, carried out in four modes involving
lectures given by celebrities, tutoring by university students, support
from partners in the ecosystem and public participation. And, to
echo with the Rio Olympics, in 2016, the program took on the
key directions of “higher, faster and stronger” and three Olympic
champions, namely, Yang Wei, Zhao Ruirui and Jiao Liuyang,
were invited to visit and show their care and love to children in
rural areas. Since 2012, Mengniu has, together with 108 charity
partners, involved 92 celebrities in the program, who visited over
600 schools in remote villages and showed their care and support
to more than 100,000 children.

In August 2016, Mengniu hosted the “Codoon Micro Marathon e
Shenzhen” capitalizing on the Rio Olympics craze, and together
with Codoon, organized the charitable donation campaign
“Exchange of Calories” on the competition day. The event had
the in-person support of Zhao Ruirui, an Olympic champion and
former member of the Chinese Women’s Volleyball Team, and
attracted the participation of 2,000 enthusiastic runners offline and
over 100,000 online. The number of kilometers accomplished by
the runners was converted into milk for donating to primary school
pupils in rural villages. The activity provided participants a platform
for charity on which they could render practical help to children
living in rural areas of the country.

Mengniu spares no effort in supporting AIDS prevention in the
community. It engaged staff and partners in the on-campus AIDS
prevention campaign “Red-ribbon Health Ambassador Campaign
on Campuses Advocating a Beautiful Youth” and encouraged
students to take part in its “Scanning Barcode for Milk” activity to
obtain tips on AIDS prevention and light up the red-ribbon symbol
of the WeChat Avatar as a show of support to the on-campus
campaign. During the year, Mengniu visited 10 universities across
the country and organized offline activities for students (e.g. Red-
ribbon Running Race) at Northeastern University and the South
China University of Technology.
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Mengniu is committed to enhancing public confidence in Chinese
milk brands and maintaining the long-term healthy development of
the dairy industry in China. To these ends, it has continued to push
forward the “2020 Sustainable Ecosystem of Milk Sources”, made
up of such projects as “University of Ranchers”, “Star Ranchers”
and “Gold Key Project”. In 2016, the “University of Ranchers” ran
15 sessions of theoretical and practical courses of different levels
at 12 practice bases and the theoretical training courses had an
attendance of over 1,500 person-time. During the year, this project
offered 10 sessions of milk source management and technology
improvement demonstration activities and 470 ranch-based
practical technology innovation topics in major milk source areas
across the country, and “Corporate Social Responsibility code
of conduct” was signed with ranchers, helping over 800 ranches
to improve on 24 aspects including herd structure and feeding
management. The “Star Ranchers” program gathered together
groups of industry experts and lecturers from around the world,
who provided professional courses via satellite to attendees at the
ranches. In 2016, the program covered 24 routine professional
video courses. Mengniu also engaged Holstein Farmer Satellite
Auditorium to produce two sessions of courses on practical
ranch management skills and advanced industry technologies
specially for Mengniu. These satellite courses were availed to
over 1,500 ranch employees. And, for the “Gold Key Project”,
Mengniu organized special technology demonstration coursework
systematically in 10 major milk source areas across the country,
and provided comprehensive guidance and carried out assessment
on ranches using professional assessment tools and by means
of on-site assessment, Q&A session, technical salon and special
topic reporting. The program covered more than 1,000 ranches in
29 cities in 15 provinces, benefiting more than 2,000 people and
translating into economic benefit of RMB300 million for the ranches.

Mengniu has actively carried out specialized energy conservation
projects during the year, including 10 key projects involving the
enhancement of electrical motor systems, air compressors and
refrigeration systems, renovation of boilers and cooling systems.
These special projects have enabled the Group to reduce coal
consumption by approximately 5,000 tons, and to reduce
emissions of carbon dioxide by approximately 14,000 tons, sulfur
dioxide by about 45 tons and nitrogen oxides by about 40 tons,
which is equivalent to planting 270 acres of trees. The Group has
gradually optimized its energy structure by increasing its reliance
on renewable energy by proactively introducing technologies such
as innovative biomass boilers and solar power systems. Also,
Mengniu has sought to become a water-conservation enterprise,
and has committed to controlling industrial water usage, raising
water consumption efficiency and ultimately, preserving the water
environment. Utilizing water-saving technologies including solutions
for balancing and optimizing water systems and upgrading heavy
water-consumed equipments, Mengniu has managed to facilitate
more than 40 advancement projects on water conservation
techniques and reduced water consumption by more than 3 million
tons.
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Based on its own practical experience managing social
responsibility delivery, Mengniu assisted the China Dairy Industry
Association in formulating China’s first “Corporate Social
Responsibility Guidance for Dairy Product Manufacturers”, in which
the core content regarding the fulfillment of social responsibilities
by dairy product manufacturers is clearly defined, to provide the
dairy industry with reference and guidance on how to improve its
capability in achieving sustainable development.

Mengniu’s corporate social responsibility efforts are well
recognized by different sectors of the community. In 2016,
Mengniu made it among “First Batch of Loving Enterprises in
the National Children Food Safety Protection Movement” as
named jointly by the China Children and Teenagers’ Fund, China
Nutrition and Health Food Association, China Children Center
and Peopleyuging.com and also among “Community Enterprises
of China 2016” at the 2016 China Annual Conference on
Philanthropy, the only dairy enterprise being honored. Mengniu’s
“University of Ranchers” program was awarded the prizes “China
Excellent Corporate Citizen in 2016” and “Excellent CSR Project of
China Enterprises in 2016” at the 12th China Excellent Corporate
Citizen Annual Convention, and was also honored as one of the
“Top 10 Popular Charity Programs” at the Second China CSR 100
Forum. Furthermore, Mengniu ranked first in the Chinese dairy
enterprise corporate social responsibility fulfillment level index in the
“Blue Book of Corporate Social Responsibility for 2016” issued by
the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and it is one of the only
two five-star enterprises among the 39 sample enterprises in the
food industry.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of about
41,613 employees in China and Hong Kong, including around
3,711 employees of Yashili. During the year, total staff costs
(including salaries of directors and senior executives) amounted to
approximately RMB4,479.5 million (2015: RMB3,438.9 million).

To actively nurture successors to support the Group’s sustainable
development in the future and to provide solid personnel support
for the Group to achieve its strategic objectives, Mengniu established
and rolled out a diversified and multi-level curriculum training
system in 2016, which covers areas including induction, cultural
training, general career development skills and leadership. The
“General Skills + Leadership” curriculum, which was launched in
June 2016, comprised a total of 42 sessions taught during the year
and 1,132 employees had attended the training.
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At the same time, Mengniu re-visited and re-positioned its
leadership curriculum, involving four programs, namely, the
Graduate Trainee (“GT”) Program, the Management Trainee (“MT”)
Program, the Advanced Leadership Development Program (“ALDP”)
and the Entrepreneurship Leadership Development Program
(“ELDP”). Mengniu optimized the GT Program and completed
three training sessions. The first class of MT students graduated
in October. After launching the first session, the ALDP Program
developed nine learning programs and implemented the learning
programs as scheduled. The ELDP Program was launched during
the year and completed the first session of the entrepreneurship
leadership course.

In addition, to help employees with career development, Mengniu
continued to formulate and improve career development paths
for them. It completed designing the dual channel for professional
development in June 2016 and put it on trial in the financial
management system to assist the system in completing the dual-
channel system design. The program was officially launched at the
end of August and completed within the year.

To effectively support its 2020 Strategy, Mengniu reorganized
its business setup at the end of 2016. The new setup comprises
independent business segments dedicated to room temperature
products, chilled products, milk formula, ice cream products
and etc., and more resources and support have been provided
to each business segment, to the end of facilitating overall and
balanced development of the Group’s various product categories.
Under the new organizational structure, Mengniu will enhance
its responsiveness to the market and customers, and improve
operational efficiency. At the same time, it will strengthen the role of
its headquarters in resource coordination and risk control.

With the milk formula registration system taking effect, the two-child
policy in full rollout, per capita income of the Chinese people rising
and urbanization continuing in China, demand for dairy products
in the country will gradually recover. Adhering to the two-pronged
strategy of “internationalization + digitalization”, Mengniu will press
ahead with fortifying resources integration, realizing innovative
development, developing new product offerings, and promoting
delicacy management and cultivating channels with intensive effort.
[t aims to continue to lead consumption upgrade with the craftsman
spirit of constantly striving for excellence.
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Looking ahead, Mengniu will be emphasizing the theme of “Focusing
Development and Gathering Strengths”, stick to the principle of
“No Compromise” on four fronts — product, quality, values and
execution to deliver high-quality dairy products to consumers. To
make sure each business unit has a stronger focus on its business
and is able to develop with a better balance, Mengniu initiated
organizational structure adjustment, splitting the original core
business into independent business segments: room temperature
products, chilled products, ice cream products and milk formula.
The new business setup has the merit of allowing focused
development of each product segment, facilitating enhancement
of the core competitiveness of products and the Group’s overall
operational efficiency, giving the Group a consumer and market-
oriented organizational model which allows the Group to quickly
respond to market situations, integrate production, supply and
sales of its products, and guide channel development. In particular,
heeding the potential of the fast-growing domestic market for
chilled products in the next few years, the chilled product division is
expected to develop new growth driver.

Milk source is the first quality assurance for dairy enterprises, which
is why enhancing quality of the milk sources has always been the
most important task of Mengniu. The increased shareholding in
Modern Dairy in 2017, a raw milk supplier, will enable the Group
to integrate the upstream supply chain resources, which will
assure Mengniu of stable and high-quality milk supply, strengthen
Mengniu’s positioning in the high-end dairy product market and
support the development of chilled dairy products. Furthermore,
having stronger control over milk sources will further improve the
Group’s operating efficiency, and lay a good foundation for the
Group to achieve its 2020 strategic objectives.

Mengniu will continue to work closely with its three major
shareholders namely COFCO Group, Danone Group and
Arla Foods, as well as leading international partners including
WhiteWave and UC Davis from the United States, to create a
global innovation platform. By stepping up efforts in relation to milk
sources, products, production and operation, system management,
brand strategy, sales channels and other aspects, Mengniu
endeavors to promote the deployment of milk sources and research
and development of dairy products worldwide, and the alignment
with international standards, and ultimately takes the quality of
Chinese dairy products to new heights.
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Mengniu will continue to leverage on its advantage in the access
to supreme resources worldwide to improve its brand value all-
round. Mengniu has reached strategic agreement with Universal
Beijing Resort, where it will become the exclusive official partner
in providing dairy product and ice cream at the resort, hence
becoming able to offer extensive product experience to visitors
of the resort from all over world. Mengniu is also entitled to
merchandising, product development and attraction brand
exposure opportunities within the resort. In the future, Mengniu will
continue to explore cooperative endeavors with Universal Parks
& Resorts outside the theme park, with the aim of bolstering the
international clout of the Mengniu brand.

Mengniu will join hands with other partners in the ecosystem on
constant innovation, and also focus on brand building and carry
out digitalized marketing. Mengniu is committed to in-depth
analysis of consumer characteristics based on Big Data, in a bid to
realize precision marketing and innovative product customization,
enhance interaction with consumers and achieve high value-added
brand effect. Relying on its SAP and the LIMS systems, Mengniu
will reinforce its digitalized management capabilities, develop a
monitoring and tracking system that covers the entire industrial
chain, enhance the accuracy in terms of quality and stability of
its production, thus provide its products with intellectualized and
systematic quality assurance.

With its solid brand presence, a strong shareholder base and
formidable strategic partners, Mengniu will steadfastly and with
determination follow its clear strategic roadmap and speed
up its strides toward becoming China’s most dynamic and
internationalized hundred-billion-dollar enterprise.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREAREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lu Minfang, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company in September 2016.
Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of the Company
listed in Hong Kong. He was the chief executive officer and
executive director of Yashili before his appointment as chairman of
the board of directors of Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of each
of following subsidiaries of Yashili, namely Yashili International Ltd.,
Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International
Co., Limited and Scient International Group Limited. Mr. Lu has
been the Vice President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life
Nutrition Greater China and had been with the Danone Group and
Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During the tenure at
the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and
market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management
skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed
significantly to the success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition
business in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent
9 years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and
almost 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has
over 18 years of experience in sales and marketing and has been
serving in general manager or executive level roles for over 7 years.
Mr. Lu has extensive experience in the management of fast moving
consumer products and dairy companies and has an excellent
grasp and the in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu
obtained his Bachelor’s degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Mr. Bai Ying, aged 46, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in July 2008 and is an executive vice president
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”). Mr. Bai was appointed as the chief operation
officer of the Company on 6 June 2014. Mr. Bai graduated with a
Doctor’s degree from China Agricultural University. He also holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe
International Business School. Mr. Bai was the vice president of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the general manager of UHT milk
division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working in the
dairy industry for over 20 years and has extensive management
experience in the dairy business. In 2010, Mr. Bai was elected as
“Progressive Staff of Hohhot” and “Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region Labour Model” for the second time. Mr. Bai was elected
as a committee member in the third session of the Standing
Committee (Enlarged) meeting of the Third Young Federation of the
Central Enterprises held on 12 October 2013. Mr. Bai was a non-
executive director of Yashili during the period from June 2014 to
April 2015.

Ms. Wu Wenting, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in September 2016. Ms. Wu was the executive
deputy general manager and the chief financial officer of China
Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until September
2016. Ms. Wu joined COFCO Group in 1992 and was the director
of the Audit and Discipline Department of COFCO Corporation from
2006 to March 2014. Ms. Wu also held various positions in COFCO
Group, including the deputy general manager of the Finance
Department of China Liang Feng Grains Import & Export Company
from 1994 to 2000 and the general manager of the Finance
Department of COFCO Oils & Grains Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2006.
Ms. Wu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University and a Master of Arts degree
in professional accounting from Central University of Finance and
Economics and has extensive experience in financial management
and auditing.
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Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the Company
in February 2016. Mr. Ma joined COFCO Corporation and/or its
subsidaries (“COFCO”) in 1986 and is currently a vice president of
COFCO Corporation. Mr. Ma holds several directorships in certain
subsidiaries of COFCOQO, including the deputy managing director of
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Ma is also the chairman of the
board and a non-executive director of China Foods Limited and
COFCO Meat Holdings Limited respectively, both companies listed
in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma was a director of COFCO Property (Group)
Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen, up to December 2016
and was a non-executive director of Joy City Property Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, up to January 2017. Mr. Ma was
also a non-executive director of the Company during the period
from August 2009 to March 2014.

Mr. Ma graduated from University of International Business and
Economics and later obtained a degree of Executive Master of
Business Administration from the same university and he has
extensive experience in strategic planning, corporate finance,
investment and M&A, and corporate management.

Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 59, is a non-executive director of the
Company, one of the members in the team founding Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the founder of Laoniu
Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated from Inner Mongolia University
with a degree in Administration and Management and obtained
a Master’s degree in Enterprise Management from the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences Graduate School. With his extensive
experience and insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys
a high reputation in the industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected
as one of “China’s Most Influential Business Leaders” for the
fifth consecutive year, and was honoured the “2007 Hong Kong
Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He was on the
list of “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” published by the Ministry
of Civil Affairs of the PRC in 2007 and ranked third in the “2007
Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and received the first and only “Lifetime
Achievement in Philanthropy Award” presented by the “China
Philanthropists List” in 2010.
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Mr. Tim Orting Jorgensen, aged 52, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in April 2016. He was was a
non-executive director of the Company during the period from
July 2012 to September 2013. Mr. Jorgensen graduated from
Copenhagen Business School in 1991 with a Master of Economics
degree, specialising in international strategy and marketing. He
joined Arla Foods amba (“Arla”) in 1991 and has held several
management positions within Arla’s international business group,
including a three year position in the Middle East and a three-
year position in Brazil. In 2005, he became the business group
director for Arla’s Danish division and in 2007, he was appointed
as executive vice president, with the overall responsibility for
Arla’s international activities outside Scandinavia and the United
Kingdom. In 2012, he was appointed to lead Arla’s newly established
German/Dutch business group, with the clear objective of
establishing Arla as a leading dairy company in Germany through
mergers and acquisitions. Throughout his 25 years in Arla, Mr.
Jorgensen has acquired extensive management experience within
international sales, brand building, supply chain efficiency and
general management. Mr. Jergensen has especially been focused
on growing the business significantly both organically and through
acquisitions.

Mr. Filip Kegels, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in April 2016. Mr. Kegels has 30 years of
experience in the management of fast-moving consumer goods
with outstanding performance particularly in sales, marketing,
integrated management and international business management.
Mr. Kegels graduated from Catholic University of Antwerp in 1986
with a Master in Economics and obtained a Master’s degree
in Management and Business Administration from University
of Brussels in 1987. He joined Danone SA, a multi-national
corporation and global leader in food products, including fresh
dairy products and other health and nutrition food products
and beverages in 1987, where he was initially engaged in sales
and marketing activities in France and later became the general
manager of various local and regional companies of Danone SA.
Between 2010 and 2012, he was appointed as chief executive
officer of Danone Unimilk CIS, a merger between Danone and the
Russian company and market leader in dairy products in CIS. In
2012, he became the general manager for Danone Eastern, Central
and Northern Europe for the fresh dairy division overseeing over 30
countries and with the objective to accelerate the profitable growth
of that region. In 2014, Mr. Kegels was appointed as vice-president
of Danone Africa, Middle East, and Asia-Pacific for the Fresh
Dairy Division. Since 2015, Mr. Kegels has been vice-president
for Danone Asia Pacific, India and Middle East, and non-executive
chairman of Danone China and Japan for fresh dairy products
division, in which he is responsible for the strategy of the division in
the aforementioned region. From December 2014 to July 2015, Mr.
Kegels was a director of Centrale Danone, a company listed on the
Casablanca Stock Exchange in Morocco. Mr. Kegels is currently a
director of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co. Ltd, a joint
venture which is owned by the Group and Danone Group as to
80% and 20%, respectively. Since June 2016, Mr. Kegels has also
been a director of Yakult Honsha Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Tokyo Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 51, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in February 2004 and is a
vice-chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao
was redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to
an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September 2002
and is currently a director and managing partner of CDH China
Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a bachelor’s
degree in mathematics from Shandong University and a master’s
degree in engineering from the No.2 Research Institute of Ministry
of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves as
a non-executive director and deputy chairman of WH Group Limited
and an independent non-executive director of China Southern
Airlines Company Limited, both companies listed in Hong Kong,
a director of Joyoung Company Limited and a director of Henan
Shuanghui Investment & Development Co., Ltd., both companies
listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao was a non-executive director of China
Shanshui Cement Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
from 30 November 2005 to 16 May 2014.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 43, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive officer
of DCP Advisors, Limited focusing on private equity transactions in
the Greater China region. Mr. Wolhardt was previously a partner at
KKR and Morgan Stanley responsible for private equity business in
China. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant and certified
management accountant and received a Bachelor’s degree in
accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the
United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive
director of Modern Dairy and a non-executive director of COFCO
Meat Holdings Limited, both companies listed in Hong Kong. He
was an independent non-executive director of China Cord Blood
Corporation, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
from April 2012 to May 2015 and a non-executive director of United
Envirotech Ltd, a company listed in Singapore, from October 2011
to August 2012.
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Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in May 2009. Mr.
Zhang is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school
of management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and is a senior engineer. He is currently the chairman
of Zhong Ding Dairy Farming Co., Ltd (F R4 ZE B R A 7)), as well as
the chairman of Beijing Xindajiading Investment Limited Company (it
RiEERRILEBRAF), an independent director of New Focus
Auto Tech Holdings Limited, an independent director of Syswin
Inc. (BJR4L4E) and Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital Group (M 2K
55 [@E). Mr. Zhang previously served as a director and president
of AirMedia, a company listed on NASDAQ), and the chairman of
Unibank Media (55 /&35 {5 1% & =).

Mr. Yau Ka Chi, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2016. Mr. Yau has
over 30 years of professional accounting experience including
20 years in serving China enterprises. He had worked for Ernst
& Young for over 20 years in its Hong Kong, Toronto and Beijing
offices with primary focus in providing professional services
in accounting and audit, initial public offering, and corporate
restructuring before retiring in September 2015. During his
professional career with Ernst & Young, Mr. Yau was appointed as
the Professional Practice Director of Greater China from July 2007
to June 2009, the Assurance Leader for Northern China Region
from July 2010 to June 2014, the Oil & Gas Industry Leader of
Greater China from May 2012 to June 2015 and the Assurance
Leader of the Energy & Resources Markets Segment of Greater
China from July 2013 to June 2015. Mr. Yau is currently an
independent non-executive director of Yihai International Holding
Ltd. and China Power International Development Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Yau holds a professional diploma in company secretaryship
and administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a member of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the lllinois
Certified Public Accountants Society and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yau also holds a certified public
accountant license issued by the lllinois Department of Financial
and Professional Regulation, the United States.
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Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 52, graduated from Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master degree in
Management Engineering. Mr. Zhang, who joined the Group
in 2014, is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. He
has over 24 years of experience in the industry of fast-moving
consumer goods, specializing in the management of operation,
finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang worked in Swire
Beverages group companies as the manager of the internal audit
and system development, the finance director, the general manager
of its bottler manufacturing company and the chief executive officer
of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang
is also the non-executive director of Yashili and Modern Dairy, both
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu Shengli, aged 52, is the vice president of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Liu graduated from Dalian Fisheries University,
and obtained a Master degree in Light Industry Technology and
Engineering from Hubei University of Technology, then a master
degree in business administration from China Europe International
Business School. Mr. Liu joined the Group in 2002. He served as
the general manager of the marketing department of UHT milk
division, the general manager of ice cream division, the assistant to
the president and the vice president of the Group. He is currently
responsible for the chilled products and the business development
of the Group. He has been working in the dairy industry for almost
19 years and has extensive management experience and advanced
management concepts in the dairy industry. Mr. Liu was honored as
a “Labour Model of Hohhot” of Inner Mongolia in 2010.

Mr. Wang Yansong, aged 49, joined the Group in February 2012
as the assistant vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu as well as
the person in charge of the quality and safety management system.
Since January 2016, he has also been responsible for public
affairs and relation and government relation of Inner Mongolia. Mr.
Wang graduated in 1990 from the food mechanical engineering
department of Beijing Institute of Light Industry with a Bachelor’s
degree in Engineering. In 1990, he joined Beijing Refrigerator
Compressor Factory as a production line technology engineer. In
1995, he was appointed the quality engineer for Beijing Embraco
Snowflake Compressor Company Limited. In 1997, he joined
Kimberly-Clark (China) Personal Hygienic Products Co., Ltd and
took up positions including process control engineer, production
manager, product development engineer and quality manager. In
2001, he joined Coca-Cola (China) Beverages Limited as technical
service manager (North China). In 2009, he became the technical
operation manager (Asia-Pacific Region) for Coca Cola. Prior to
becoming the person in charge of the Group’s product quality,
Mr. Wang had accumulated over 20 years of experience in quality
control for fast-moving goods.
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Mr. Gao Fei, aged 40, is the assistant vice president of the
Group. Mr. Gao, joined Mengniu when it was established in
1999, and successively held the positions of regional manager,
center manager, sales director and general manager of sales
department and contributed to the rapid growth of the market
share of Mengniu. Mr. Gao has abundant practical experience in
the sales, marketing and promotion of dairy products. In 2016, he
was appointed as the assistant vice president of the UHT business
division. He is currently responsible for the operation management
system of the core business of the Group. Mr. Gao obtained a
Bachelor’s degree from Shandong University, then an Executive
Master in Business Administration degree from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Shi Dongwei, aged 52, joined the Group in 2017 as vice
president and is responsible for public affairs of the Group. Mr. Shi
worked for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC from 1989 to
2001. He then served as the director of global government affairs
in China region of Lucent Technologies, Inc. in the United States,
the vice president in China region of Agilent Technologies in the
United States, the vice president of Starbucks Coffee Company
and Alibaba Group. Mr. Shi has 16 years of experience in public
affairs. He graduated from department of diplomacy in China
Foreign Affairs University and received a bachelor’s degree in laws.
He then obtained a master’s degree in diplomacy and trade from
Monash University in Australia. He is also the part-time professor
in the department of public administration of Chinese Academy of
Governance.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 44, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and he also served in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERKRSE

The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
The Board acknowledges that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its
shareholders. The Company is committed to improving those
practices and maintaining its ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save as
disclosed in the section headed “Nomination Committee” regarding
the composition of the Nomination Committee.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2016, the Board comprised eleven Directors,
including three executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Bai
Ying and Ms. Wu Wenting, four non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen
and Mr. Filip Kegels and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi. The Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Ma Jianping and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is
Mr. Lu Minfang. Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) is a Vice-Chairman
of the Board.
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The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting of performance
and management targets, evaluation of business performance
and supervision of management’s performance. The management
is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board
for the management and operations of the Group. The role of
the management is to implement the strategies and directions
determined by the Board and to work within the framework of any
written procedures and instructions laid down by the Board. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”) as
detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 54 to 61 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
definition of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has arranged in-house trainings for
Directors in the form of seminars and reading materials with
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the
Directors. During the year, a seminar was provided to all Board
members for updates of the Listing Rules by legal advisor. A
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summary of trainings received by the Directors during the year
according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

ARRBEMAES2EBEERER - UER
I 5B EL A S BBE o AR B IART R & MR
EEMHELARESTZHAMTI - EERH
EE0MAE - B
PIBEESERERRTNE  REHREHELTR
ANEFHER - REEEMEHRMNRLE BEFN
FAMMEZHFIIRANT

B - &R EREBEFEER

Executive Directors
Lu Minfang (appointed on 15 September 2016)
Bai Ying
Wu Wenting (appointed on 15 September 2016)
Sun Yiping (resigned on 15 September 2016)
Non-executive Directors
Ma Jianping (appointed on 19 February 2016)
Niu Gensheng
Tim Qrting Jorgensen

(appointed on 1 April 2016)
Filip Kegels (appointed on 1 April 2016)
Ning Gaoning (resigned on 19 February 2016)
Yu Xubo (resigned on 15 September 2016)
Liu Ding (resigned on 15 September 2016)
Finn S. Hansen (resigned on 1 April 2016)
Christian Neu (resigned on 1 April 2016)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)
Julian Juul Wolhardt
Zhang Xiaoya
Yau Ka Chi (appointed on 1 October 2016)
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew

(resigned on 1 October 2016)
Liao Jianwen (resigned on 15 September 2016)

BITES
EHR(R_E—R"FNLA+THBEZE) A B, C
S A C
RXEB(RZE—RENATHBEZE) A, C
BEFE(RZE—RENLATHEBET) A, C
FHTES
BREF(RZE—R"E_ATILBEZE) A B, C
FIRAE A C
Tim @rting Jergensen

(RZZE—RFEA—BEZT) A C
Filip Kegels(R=ZF—XFMA—HEZT) A, C
ESE(RZZE—R"FZATLBEEET) A B, C
FERRZE—R"ENATHART) A, C
WT(RZZE—R"FNLATHBEE) A, C
Finn S. Hansen(iA == — /<& 5 — HEL) A C
Christian Neu(PA ZZ —7RXF M A — B EHE) A C
BIFHITES
FREE(XEBERE) A B, C
Julian Juul Wolhardt A C
SRBER A C
BRB(RZZE—REFE+HA—BEZE) A, C
[

(RZZE—RE+H—H#T) A, C
BEX(RZZE—RENLATHEBBT) A B, C

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the A :

business or directors’ duties

B: giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums B:

C: reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and C:

regulatory updates
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting
the Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect
of operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held five meetings during the year ended 31 December
2016 and one further meeting since 1 January 2017 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board
and Board Committee meetings, the annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) held in 2016 are set out in the following
table.

Board
Meetings*
Directors Ezged
Executive Directors #fEs
LuMinfang (appointed on 15 September 2016)  E&N(H-E-~ENFTRREZ() i
Bai Ying AB o5
Wu Wenting (appointed on 15 September 2016) ~ RXEB(R-E—RENATRAEE() i
Sun Yiping (resigned on 15 September 2016) ERE(R_2-~ENATRARE) 34
Non-executive Directors FHnES
Ma Jianping (appointed on 19 February 2016) ERT(R-S-~E-AthBEZD) 505
Niu Gensheng kA 35
Tim @rting Jergensen (@ppointed on Tim @rting Jorgensen
1 April 2016) (R=F-/~FMmA-BEZE) 44
Filip Kegels (appointed on 1 April 2016) Filp Kegels(# =5 —~EMA—-REZ() 4/4
Ning Gaoning (resigned on 19 February 2016) EER(R-T-NE-BTABRAE) 000
Yu Xubo (resigned on 15 September 2016) FRERE-~"ENATRARE) 1/4
Liu Ding (resigned on 15 September 2016) WT(R=E-~ENATRAEHR) 0/4
Finn S. Hansen (resigned on 1 April 2016) Finn S. Hansen (K= E— "M A—-BEE) n
Christian Neu (resigned on 1 Apri 2016) Christian Neu( R =5~ A —AEHE) in
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Strategy
and
Development Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination ~ Committee General
Committee ~ Committee  Committee BER  Meeting
BNZEE  HHZEE RAZEe  ERZEE  RREEAR
1 0/0
o
00 00
1 o
22 1 1
1 o
0/0 22 o
0/0 22 o
00 0/0
12 o o
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0/0
0/0
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Strategy
and
Development

Annual

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination  Committee General

Meetings*  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee BHR Meeting

Directors EZged’ ENZEe  ¥MZEeR ReZER YREZEE  RRESAE

Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHTES

Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zher) EHB(NEEE) 45 202 00 202 il 0/

Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 5/5 3/3 22 22 1

Zhang Xiaoya RED 55 33 22 2 0A

Yau Ka Chi (appointed on 1 October 2016) BREN-F-E+A-BEZM) 11 1 000
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew (resigned on FES(R-T—~FTA-REL)

1 October 2016) 34 22 1

Liao Jianwen (resigned on 15 September 2016)  BEX(RZE-~EAETRBET) /4 112 0A 01

* During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and one ~ * RARRFARTTOREZTEGER —AEME

other meeting to handle operational-level and investment matters.
According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for
convening a Board meeting is two members.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors
for their records. All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures are complied with and advising the Board on
compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group’s business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2016,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ma Jianping, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Lu
Minfang (since 15 September 2016) and Ms. Sun Yiping (up to 15
September 2016), each an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with Shareholders and that views
of Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting or the next following general
meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms
of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available for public
inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2016, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three members, two of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen)) and the remaining one member is an executive Director (Ms.
Wu Wenting). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.
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The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of
the Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s
workload and required commitment will be taken into account.
In addition, factors comprising economic and market situations,
individual contributions to the Group’s results and development as
well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2016. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

— reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and made recommendations
to the Board;

— reviewed the Company’s existing share option scheme and
made recommendations to the Board; and

—  reviewed the proposal of granting of shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme (the “share award scheme”),
and made recommendations to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2016 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

AR (AR¥T)

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-4,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to
the financial statements.

R EMRAM ST NETRENEEREIAR
A LHF S - SNSRI FEE10 -

=

g\




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Corporate Governance Report tEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2016, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt) and the remaining three
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Tim
@rting Jergensen and Mr. Filip Kegels). The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

Code Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that an issuer should establish a nomination committee which
is chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent non-
executive director and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors. With effect from 15 September 2016, each of
Mr. Jiao Shuge and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya (each an independent non-
executive Director) ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee, and each of Mr. Tim Qrting Jergensen and Mr. Filip
Kegels (each a non-executive Director) became a member of the
Nomination Committee. As such, less than half of the members of
Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors
starting from 15 September 2016. The Directors are of the view
that each of Mr. Tim Qrting Jergensen and Mr. Filip Kegels is able
to carry out his responsibilities as a member of the Nomination
Committee in the best interest of the Shareholders notwithstanding
that he is not an independent non-executive director as required
under Code Provision A.5.1.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value
to the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company. In the selection process of a
candidate to act as a Director, the Nomination Committee makes
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the dairy industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of
available time and assesses the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Board had also in August 2013
approved the adoption of the board diversity policy. Under such
policy, board appointments will be based on merits and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional or industry experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Company will also take into account other factors
based on its own business model and specific business needs
from time to time. The Nomination Committee will continue to
give adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when
making recommendation of candidates for appointment to the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2016 to discuss the new appointments
and resignations of Directors during the year and to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive directors of
the Company and to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2016, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi) in which two possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yau Ka Chi.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2016. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

- met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;

- reviewed external auditors’ management letter and
management’s response;

- reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

- reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

- reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;
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- reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

- reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

- discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

- reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company and
those who deal with the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal controls or other matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages
103 to 110), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at 31
December 2016 and the consolidated financial performance and
cash flows of the Group for the year then ended.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The objectives of the risk management
and internal control of the Group are: to rationally establish
comprehensive risk management strategies in a systematic manner
and to apply the concepts, philosophies, procedures and tools of
risk management throughout the establishment and implementation
of strategies for effectively managing the risks while reasonably
ensuring the realization of the Group’s strategic objectives and
operation objectives and propelling the sustainable development
of the enterprise. Such risk management and internal control
systems are designed for managing risks rather than eliminating
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Group has set up a comprehensive risk management and
internal control system, forming an effective system for labor
division and three lines of defense in risk management, with the first
line being each of the business units; the second line being the Risk
and Internal Control Management Committee (hereinafter referred
to as “Risk Control Committee”), risk management functions and
each of the business review and supervision departments while the
third being the internal audit and disciplinary review function.

The Group has set up a risk management framework comprising
Risk Control Committee, the risk management department and
the risk management commissioners of each business unit, and
has clearly outlined the responsibilities of each risk management
unit. The Group, through complying with the risk management
framework under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission) and introducing external consultation
bodies for providing guidance and training on risk management and
advocating the culture of risk management, has gradually enhanced
the professional standard of the risk management staff.

The Group has established a series of basic regulatory control
measures over risk management where the Audit Committee,
the risk management committee of the management and the
risk management department of the Group are responsible for
the supervision and implementation of such measures. The risk
management department of the Group follows the principle of
“building the concepts of risk management and implementing the
risk management policies” and through identifying and evaluating
the risks in seven aspects, namely, the Group’s strategies, market,
finance, operation, law and compliance, quality and food safety
as well as sustainable development, it places strong emphasis
on the significant risks at the Group level, the business system
level and the business operation level. Based on the principle
of managing risks in different categories and ranks, it adopts a
rotational management method in risk identification, risk evaluation,
risk responses, risk control and risk reporting. Based on such an
initiative, it has formulated appropriate risk strategies to effectively
reduce and avoid the adverse impact brought by such significant
risks to the Group’s strategic objectives, operation objectives and
sustainable development.
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In 2016, on the basis that a comprehensive risk management
framework has been established and the formulation of the basic
regulations for risk management has been basically completed,
the Group has continuously dealt with, monitored and reported
on the risks that were assessed as material to the Group and
managed other significant risks according to the level and category.
The focus of risk management, the responsible departments
and responsible persons, the flow of management and the
report system have been further clarified, which enables the risk
management to be developed to the “defined stage”. As the
second line of defense of risk management, the risk management
department of the Group fully takes part in, oversees and reports
on the process and the results of material risk management of the
risk management business department, which is the first line of
defense of risk management. Meanwhile, the Group, after taking
into account the Group’s strategic and operation objectives, will
conduct a new round of risk identification and assessment when
appropriate, so as to manage factors that materially and adversely
affect the achievement of the Company’s strategic and operational
objectives.

The chief executive officer of the Group and the Party secretary of
the Group who is in charge of risk control and auditing business
serve as the chairman and the deputy chairman of the Risk
Control Committee respectively while the committee members
primarily comprise the head of the major business management
systems. The Risk Control Committee has set up a specialized
risk management department which will be responsible for day-
to-day management and the risk management department will
report to the Risk Control Committee regularly on their works in
risk management. Meanwhile, the Risk Control Committee and the
risk management department will report at least twice a year to the
Audit Committee on their works in risk management and the Audit
Committee will evaluate and supervise the work of the Risk Control
Committee.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and
effective internal control system, to safeguard the assets of
the Group and the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing
its effectiveness regularly. Aiming at strengthening the risk
management culture of the Group and minimizing the impacts of
the major risks on the business and earnings of the Group, the
senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate and
review the significant risks to which the Group is exposed to and
reports to the Board on a regular basis. The Group also appoints
external consultants, when considered appropriate, to review the
Group’s internal control, working systems and workflows, as well
as the management systems, and to make suggestions on system
enhancement.
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The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

Apart from strict implementation of a performance assessment
system and training programs for its staff, the Group has in
place a series of written working systems in respect of business,
production, finance, legal compliance and administration aspects,
to ensure the significant risks, to which the Group is exposed, are
contained:

- Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various
business functions is delegated to respective management
within limits set by senior management of the headquarters
or the executive Directors. The senior management meets on
a regular basis to discuss and approve business strategies,
plans and budgets prepared by individual business units.
The performance of the Group is reported to the Board on a
regular basis.

- Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks
the risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business
according to their likelihood, financial consequence and
reputational impact on the Group.

- Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for
each business function, in which approvals, authorization,
verification, recommendations, performance reviews, asset
security and segregation of duties are included.

- Information and communication — The Group’s working
systems document operational procedures of all business
units, as well as authorization and approval procedures for
significant decision making.

- Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-
assessment methodology, continuously assessing and
managing its business risks by way of assessment by the
headquarters of the Group and each business unit on a
regular basis, and communication of key control procedures
to employees.
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The Group has set up an independent internal audit department
which will directly report to the Party secretary of the Group
who is in charge of risk control and auditing business and the
Audit Committee. In addition to maintaining objectivity and
independency, the internal audit department also adheres to
the management philosophy of “focusing on significant risks,
prompting the improvement in management and increasing the
value of the enterprise”, and the standard of “objectivity, integrity,
capability and confidentiality”, with a view to constantly raising
the quality of internal audit, adopting systematic ways to evaluate
the effectiveness of the Group in corporate governance, risk
management and control, procuring consistent improvement
thereon, enhancing the value of the enterprise and reasonably
ensuring the realization of corporate strategies and operation
objectives.

In 2016, the internal audit department has completed the
formulation of annual audit plan and the layout of audit requirements
of the management approved by the management and the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has also monitored and reviewed
the effectiveness and result of the work of internal audit. Based on
the risk assessment and the needs of the management, the internal
audit department conducted internal audit and project audit in the
risks areas that were significant to the Company and attached
great importance to the follow-up and rectification in relation to the
audit findings, which promoted the effective coping of significant
operational risks and the improvement in management. Meanwhile,
the Group has approved the establishment and the promotion
of the standards for ICQ (Internal Control Questionnaire), further
enhancing the awareness of internal control of business units and
their ability of self-management.

The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the works on internal audit at least twice a
year. Significant audit findings can be directly and freely reported
to the Audit Committee. Resources such as the annual budget
on management fee, staffing of the internal audit department and
competence are guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the
Audit Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.
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The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Code provides for detailed
rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

- information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria thereof
- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure
review and disclosure of

- procedures for the circulation,
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures

The Group has set up a specific disciplinary department, which
is responsible for investigating and handling reported matters
on breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts and corruptions.
This is to demonstrate openly to our business partners and staff
on the methods and channels of reporting. At the end of 2015,
the methods and channels of reporting were published on the
Company’s website. Such measures would have a deterrent and
preventive effect on matters related to breach of disciplines or
rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Audit Committee
carried out review and evaluation on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reporting channels, the resources,
the staff qualification and experience for audit functions and the
effectiveness of the work undertaken and there were no significant
areas of concerns identified during the evaluation of the risk
management and internal control systems and reporting channels.
The Board had examined the risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls
and reviewed the evaluation performed by the Audit Committee,
the management and internal and external auditors, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and considered them effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concerns were identified.
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The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions and their training programmes and
budget and considered that they are adequate.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee
will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2016 are as follows:

ExglRd TARRAES  AEEF LM
BREBETANER BINERERER &
EFNHEIFELEESNEAE  RFRRERE
RHIEY

S ER X BB

REE OB INBZBED R LK B RHEN E A
EVZERARZEINEDZEE RERIMNIZH
AR AREETHIZBIE - HHREZRERE
SRNEINBEBERT RO MRBEITERE
Al - EEEBFZBTFERERHREMER
BEANZER -

BHE_Z-—R"F+A=t+—HIEFEXMHE
SN TLOKEREMEBAOERFBOT

2016 2015

—EB-XE —E—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

Services rendered R K IR AR%ETR AREFIT

Annual audit FEER 4,100 4,100

Interim review R HEAZE R 700 700

Other subsidiaries’ annual audit EMFRARFERT 1,950 1,350
Non-audit service FJETET AR

Review on continuing connected transactions HHRHERERS 45 40

Other professional services* Hih BB 900 1,320

7,695 7,510

*

Other professional services include agreed-upon procedures services,
options incentives scheme consultation service and IT consultation
service, etc.

In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Group listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, has an amount of RMB3,190,000 (2015:
RMB2,930,000) paid/payable as auditors’ remuneration during
the year.

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

N

2

* HibBXRBEFBEEF RS - HRAEE
s AR R (2 B B MRS S -

B BB BEO BRI - AREER
RFAERETOFRBELMFRAEN, AR
A& AR¥3,190,000(ZF—HF : AR
#2,930,0007T) °
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STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009. As at 31 December 2016, the
Strategy and Development Committee comprised one executive
Director, Mr. Lu Minfang, four non-executive Directors, Mr. Ma
Jianping, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jorgensen and Mr. Filip
Kegels. The Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by
Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31 December
2016, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the Directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2016, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group’s operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’s
information, latest news and reports.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition, to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by depositing the written
requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary, specifying the objects of the meeting, the name(s)
and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and signed by the
requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

REEHERREBE

ARARRIEGRBR SR E H R RIGER
B NABEHEBBIRESE MY BT BET
g% Mﬁ%ﬁ$ AR R ERERERD
Bl EARAEE %$%&¢T¥%h'ﬁMﬁ
HEVANGREE IMERKEBABEASHE
MEBXEMEBRBIRE - AEEGREE
MIREEBEEY - AERIREETERHALQA
MWEM - &FIBEE MRS -

BRAGLHE - EZFTREE/HIMNRER
BREFESR BRRAGLRARERRTAE

HRE - BRERERAEFNFBIHRGTET
%?WLuW BT EE DA IR 2RE RN

ERIREEENERE -

B R R

BRIBEARBEGERME  REEZRZAFE
MERRBRRASHEENT LR +D 2 — 5
R TR BIA RS —ZREE
—FERAIEER(HERIEA)) > BERELER
xi”ﬁhi%mkﬁoiﬁxiﬁtt$ﬁﬂ
REBNEZHER (U - BBRBEEELTTE
2625 P IE A E8IE801-2% ) - WIARRME AL
ﬁA EFRANBASHEDN  FRANER KX
GARER  WHBRARE -

MEEE N REER Y HEFT21 B RN EIZETE
RBFEZZH21IBRERAE - BIERKABEH

ERRAREZHMREES0% A EMEMBERA
AREEEARAENHERTAARBREARE -

e P T A EBRANERAE ISR EEZEHR
Kz AEFA=ZEAEMEEHN  BARRZARG
FKANENEREETEREARANEMAERER
BRASMEEELNMARX



For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com.
The Company will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely
manner. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors
at the general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination Committee of
the Company of his/her intention to propose any person (other than
himself/herself) for election to the office of a Director and a notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness
to be elected. Such notices shall be sent to Suites 801-2, 8th
Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying the
name and contact details of the shareholder putting forward the
proposal for election of Director and the name and contact details
of the person proposed to be elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016 is set out in the sections headed “CEQ’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The discussions therein
form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk products (such as
UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and
other products (such as cheese) in China. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2016 by business segments is set out in note
4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of
the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year, an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, key performance indicators, environmental policies and
performance, and the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends is set
out in the sections of this annual report headed “CEQ’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and in the notes to the
financial statements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are regulated
by Hong Kong and PRC laws. During the year ended 31 December
2016 and up to the date of this report, the Board was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 111
to 112.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.089 (2015: RMBO0.14) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB349,327,000 (2015: RMB549,357,000) in total,
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
on Thursday, 8 June 2017.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15
to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 117 to 118 and note
55 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB13,222,061,000 as at 31 December 2016 (2015:
RMB12,943,077,000).
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately RMB13,209,000 (2015:
RMB12,362,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

During the year, the Company issued 7,165,736 ordinary shares
(2015: 4,098,971 ordinary shares), fully paid, were issued for a
total consideration of RMB76.5 million (2015: RMB65.1 million)
as a result of the exercise of share options under the share option
scheme of the Company.

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 38 and 41 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2016 were:

Executive Directors

Lu Minfang (appointed on 15 September 2016)
Bai Ying

Wu Wenting (appointed on 15 September 2016)
Sun Yiping (resigned on 15 September 2016)

Non-executive Directors
Ma Jianping (appointed on 19 February 2016)
Niu Gensheng
Tim Qrting Jergensen

(appointed on 1 April 2016)
Filip Kegels (appointed on 1 April 2016)
Ning Gaoning (resigned on 19 February 2016)
Yu Xubo (resigned on 15 September 2016)
Liu Ding (resigned on 15 September 2016)
Finn S. Hansen (resigned on 1 April 2016)
Christian Neu (resigned on 1 April 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)

Julian Juul Wolhardt

Zhang Xiaoya

Yau Ka Chi (appointed on 1 October 2016)

Wu Kwok Keung Andrew (resigned on 1 October 2016)
Liao Jianwen (resigned on 15 September 2016)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya
will retire by rotation and Mr. Lu Minfang, Ms. Wu Wenting and
Mr. Yau Ka Chi will also retire in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting as at the date of
this report.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 54 to 61.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties and
responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
insurance in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors
and its officers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) (the “Associated Corporations”) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the
Associated Corporations (not including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):

Company/Name of
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R0~ HERDREEZNE
BRR%ER

RZFE-—RFTZA=1t—R0 ARAERKE
ZITBABRZENBEA LR ARE REEMA
HEAE (E & R ESF RAEEN([#5 RS &
{5 D EXVER) ([18EEE® DRt - ABREMR D RIE
BET  BACIAEZRBEFRDIFI52(FHE
FEMERMANERD AR - S L5 A
BEMES REBLETETAERETERRS
MRS A (TIREST R D ANE AR R ME B
BRHAERRR (B S ORI :

EER
= B

>

RAR B SHEAARBEB R D TR (TEER
B R B B THORBAE) -

Percentage of
the Company’s/
Associated
Corporation’s

Total Number of  Issued Share Capital

Name of Director Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares HEARDF/1EHEE
BExpg ARQR/EBEERE Bt E ERRAY ERTRANEDL
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 4,937,277 (L) 0.13%?
Sp:d ARA] fE A=
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Personal Interest 336,151 (L) 0.02%
(Group) Company Limited EARER
(“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”)
NRERFAE(RE) KK
BRAR(ARTS])
Notes: MHEE -
(1) It included shares granted to Mr. Bai Ying under the restricted (1)  Z2(B BIERIEAR D BIR &1 Z ZE) T8 2 B8
share award scheme and the key management retention plan of the BREMEIBAARETHBAENRE -
Company.

(2)  The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of
the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 3,925,027,186
shares) as at 31 December 2016.

()  Indicates a long position.

2 HEBERNHBEHEARAR-_Z—X<F+=-A
— T+ —HBEETRMDEE3,925,027,186 N H »
LEEFEBE -
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Certain Directors have been granted options and shares under the
Company’s share option scheme and the share award scheme,
details of which are set out in the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above and as set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, as at 31 December 2016, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of the Associated Corporations as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ Interests,
Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award
Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate granted to any Director,
or his or her respective spouse or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2016, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRES

RZFE-—RFT-A=1T—R REZHFIHE
DI £ 3361 EFENELMATLE - ARFH
T ERR(RAR R RAROXE B & P A &
RS MABECR EXEHINARABESTREEIT
KA BRRIN AR BB R ABRA R D T B0 o

KRBT

Name of Substantial Shareholder

COFCO Corporation

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
China Foods (Holdings) Limited
Farwill Limited

Colour Spring Limited

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
Prominent Achiever Limited

Arla Foods amba

Danone SA

Danone Asia Pte Ltd
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
JP Morgan Chase & Co

TERREE BB

PRESEBRAA
HREEE(HE)BRAR
FERm(ER)BRAF
ERERAT
FRERATE
HIRILEERERAF
PRIEREERAR
BERRAR

Arla Foods amba
Danone SA

Danone Asia Pte Ltd
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
JP Morgan Chase & Co

Percentage of
the Company’s

Issued

Number of Share Capital®
Ordinary Shares HARATERT

LHEKREE &Nl dyl
1,234,500,758 (L) 31.45%
1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)©® 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@@ 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@® 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@® 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L) © 31.43%
1,238,700,758 (L)@ 31.43%
468,578,000 (L) 11.94%
270,444,841 (L) 6.89%
5,655,841 (S) 0.14%
237,480,088 (P) 6.05%

Notes:

Bt

(1)  COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of (1)
1,234,500,758 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 800,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 800,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

FREEBAERAAEBAENREAAAE
1,234,500, 758kl FH#EE & - B B2 1E(a)]
BEZETRRPEEE(BEB)BRAAINAL
7]1,233,700,7588 i85 R (b)EBRE S —2E T A
FICOFCO (BVI) Limited# 7% F1800,000 8% f% 17
AR - COFCO (BVI) Limited iR AiE B E
2&FATCOFCO (BVI) No. 9 LimitedAZ A 7
800,000% f% {7 7 5 #Ez ©
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COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
are deemed interested in an aggregate of 1,233,700,758 shares in
the Company under section 317 of the SFO.

China Foods (Holdings) Limited (previously known as COFCO (BVI)
No. 108 Limited) is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its subsidiary, COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited.

COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is deemed interested in
296,028,044 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Prominent Achiever Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2016
was 3,925,027,186.

Indicates a short position.
Indicates a long position.

Indicates a put position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.

@) mkmﬁﬁﬂa%w%m7W*¢#ﬁlv§&
BRAR - ERERAAF - ERARAA - FiE
FLEZERBRAD T~¢@ﬂ%&ﬁﬁ@@ﬂ
ZARAF]  Arla Foods amba * Danone Asia Pte
Ltd# 4R AR AR 2 &4 ££1,233,700,758 B A% 17
HERER °

@) HFEEGER)BRA T(WECOFCO (BVI) No.
108 Limited) iR A EBE2EFTRRERERA
CIE ZEFAUN T1%3mom&wh@m%*o

4) FRIEEREBEERATNWEAZBEETFARTIE
FLEKREBR A REEAE A RQEF]1,233,700,758 A%
DH MRS o

(65) HRILEBEBRAGFEABREZETA

iﬁ@ AIEA AR ‘m%o%pmhh@m%

(6) Danone SAMER &iE B E 772 FlDanone Asia Pte
LtdAZARA F]1,283,700,758F i (7 P A #E s ©

(7)) RZE—XE+ZA=+—8 AQRDETR
D 4E#53,925,027,186 °
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 1 December 2015, Yashili International Group Limited (# =+
MEEEE AR QA (the “Purchaser”) and Danone Asia Pacific
Holdings Pte. Ltd. (the “Seller”) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Seller has conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued capital
of Dumex China (including the rights to be licensed or assigned
to Dumex China pursuant to a trademark license agreement, a
patent license agreement and a trademark assignment agreement)
for a consideration of €150 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,230 million), subject to adjustments, payable in cash (the
“Dumex Transaction”). Please refer to the joint announcement
of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Yashili Group”) and the Company dated 1
December 2015 for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the Dumex Transaction will benefit
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole as the Dumex
Transaction may benefit the Yashili Group in the following areas: (1)
obtaining the “Dumex” trademark which is highly recognized in the
PRC; (2) obtaining access to Dumex China’s sales network which
enable the Yashili Group to penetrate into the markets of first and
second tier cities; (3) optimizing the Yashili Group’s production
network and reducing production costs by acquiring advanced
production facilities; (4) obtaining the Danone Group’s continuous
support in research and development which in turn would enhance
the Yashili Group’s research and development capabilities; and (5)
broadening the product portfolio of the Yashili Group. Please refer
to the joint announcement of Yashili and the Company dated 1
December 2015 for further details.

The Dumex Transaction was completed in May 2016, upon which
Dumex China became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Yashili.

Dumex China is a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Danone SA dedicated to the IMF
business in the PRC. It is primarily engaged in the manufacture,
sale and import of dairy products and other related nutrition
products.
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As at the date of the signing of the Equity Transfer Agreement,
Yashili is an approximate 51% owned subsidiary of the Company.
Since Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”) has
25% shareholding interest in Yashili, Danone Asia is a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level under the Listing
Rules. As each of Danone Asia and the Seller is a member of the
Danone Group, therefore, the Seller is also a connected person
of the Company at subsidiary level and the Dumex Transaction
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest of the applicable
percentage ratios calculated under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the Dumex Transaction exceeds 1% but is less
than 5% for the Company, the Dumex Transaction is subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 20 February 2012, the Company entered into a master sale and
purchase agreement (the “Master Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”), a substantial shareholder of
the Company holding approximately 31.45% in the shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2016 and therefore a connected
person of the Company, pursuant to which the Group will continue
to, subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products (including packaging materials) from COFCO, its
subsidiaries and certain associated companies (collectively “COFCO
Corporation Group Companies”) for a term commencing from 20
January 2012 to 31 December 2014.

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new master
sale and purchase agreement (the “New Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with COFCO to renew the existing Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2015 and ending on 31 December 2017, which may
be extended at the Company’s option, for a further period of not
more than three continuous years, subject to compliance with any
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules. The annual transaction
amount under the New Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017
is not expected to exceed RMB800,000,000.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the Company, is
a connected person of the Company, the transactions under the
New Master Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

REEREEZEREANEE XA AKRARE
BHB51% RN FAF] - B¥Danone Asia Baby
Nutrition Pte. Ltd.([ Danone Asial) 48 # L F
25%h%#E © Danone Asias ETARBIT AR A ET
NEIEEMEEAL - BDanone Asiak HEH
9 BDanoneS BIMKE - AL HEFIMAR QR
EFRAREEMBEAL  MEEXRIHEK L
MREFUAETARFNBEER S - HRREE
R HME EMRAEMAZ THESERA DL
KR ARB NS BBIBEERE% © ZEERS
BT EMARAE4AZE NS AT R E M AL
Tk BERRGEIE L IR AT -

BFEBREXRS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products (including packaging materials) was
approximately RMB405,348,000.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into () in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2005 Share
Option Scheme”) on 28 June 2005 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. The 2005 Share Option
Scheme expired on 27 June 2015. The following share options are
granted under the 2005 Share Option Scheme and are valid and
exercisable during the year.

Number of share options

BREHE

As at
1 January
2016 Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled

i during during during during
Name or category of participant =F -7 theyear  the year? the year the year

SRENLIER -A-A  EARM  ERfED ERAR FRdEH

BT

RARARRZZEZRFANA-TN\BRA—IEEBR
st a8l ([ —TTRFBEE])  BUsEk
REEAEEXERDBEERNEER2EE -
—ETRFEREAIR _T-AF At
HEm - FR BE_ZTLFBERETER
- BRFERDABYEA FITRMBRENT

As at Exercise period of
31 December  Date of share options Exercise
2016  grantof (both dates inclusive)” price of share
R=B-AE  sharcoptions BREFTHEHD options
TZR=t-B ERUBREEH (BHEEWR)" BRETKE
HKS

BT

Executive Director
HrES
Bai Ying 4,163,548 - - (3,200,000) - 963,548 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 12.05
HE 3% “Z-1%tAtHZE
TE+H ZE-N\§+AnA
Employees in Aggregate 37,036,134 - (7,165,736) (28,500,000) - 1,370,398 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 12.05
[EB& 3% “Z-1%tAtHZE
TE+H ZE-N\§+AnA
41,199,682 - (7,165,736) (31,700,000) - 2,333,946

)

)




Notes:

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than seven years from
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the share option
scheme are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

2) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$14.18.

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share
Option Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work to
increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2 June 2026.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no share option was
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) during the year ended 31 December 2016, held any interest
in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the securities of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of the
SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the
“Restricted Share Award Scheme”) to motivate the employees
to maximize the value of and share the results with the
Company in order to achieve sustainable development of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2016, the number of shares of the
Company granted to selected participants before bonus issue
was 32,349,400 and that after bonus issue was 10,653,825,
of which 2,229,500 (before bonus issue) shares were granted
to Mr. Bai Ying, an executive Director. For further details of the
grant of shares, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 29 April 2013, 22 April 2014, 19 September 2014, 8
April 2015, 30 September 2015 and 22 September 2016.
Further details of the Restricted Share Award Scheme are also
set out in note 42 to the financial statements.

The Company adopted the key management retention plan
(the “Retention Plan”) to retain and reward the Group’s key
management personnel and employees with great potential
and to drive the achievement of strategic objectives of the
Company. According to the Retention Plan, the Company will
contribute a maximum of RMB150 million for the execution of
the Retention Plan.

As at 31 December 2016, the aggregate number of shares
of the Company granted to selected participants under the
Retention Plan was 14,492,753, of which 466,521 shares
were granted to Mr. Bai Ying, an executive Director. For further
details of the Retention Plan, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 11 April 2016. Further details of the
Retention Plan are also set out in Note 42 to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2016,

(1) the Company repurchased on the open market a total of
6,116,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of
RMB58.1 million, all of which were cancelled during the year
ended 31 December 2016; and

(2) the trustee of the share award scheme purchased on the open
market a total of 2,094,000 shares of the Company at a total
consideration of approximately RMB16.9 million.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2016.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 96 to 97 and
the share award scheme as set out on page 98, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has pledged certain
investment deposits, pledged deposits, land use rights, property,
plant and equipment and dairy cows aggregating to approximately
RMB1,641,618,000 (2015: RMB1,181,352,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS

Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are set out in
notes 46 and 49, respectively, to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on pages 291 to 292.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64 to 83.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Emst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang

(appointed on 15 September 2016)
Mr. BAI Ying
Ms. WU Wenting

(appointed on 15 September 2016)
Ms. SUN Yiping

(resigned on 15 September 2016)

Mr. MA Jianping (Chairman)
(appointed on 19 February 2016)
Mr. NIU Gensheng
Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN
(appointed on 1 April 2016)
Mr. Filip KEGELS
(appointed on 1 April 2016)
Mr. NING Gaoning
(resigned on 19 February 2016)
Mr. YU Xubo
(resigned on 15 September 2016)
Ms. LIU Ding
(resigned on 15 September 2016)
Mr. Finn S. HANSEN (resigned on 1 April 2016)
Mr. Christian NEU (resigned on 1 April 2016)

Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT
Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya
Mr. YAU Ka Chi
(appointed on 1 October 2016)
Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew
(resigned on 1 October 2016)
Mr. LIAO Jianwen
(resigned on 15 September 2016)

Mr. ZHANG Ping
Mr. LIU Shengli

Mr. WANG Yansong
Mr. GAO Fei

Mr. SHI Dongwei

Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris (Qualified Accountant & Company

Secretary)

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319
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INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Ms. SHI Lei

Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Email: ir@mengniu.cn

Website: www.mengniuir.com

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China

BNP Paribas

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
Ping An Bank

Rabobank

Standard Chartered Bank

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
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Emst & Young RKETENEFEFR Tel B 37: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower BEBTRAREIE 15 Fax {EEL: +852 2868 4432
1 Tim Mei Avenue h{EKE 218 ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

EY zx

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 111 to 290, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B HPERFAXRAERAAZERR
(RASHEZME LA EFRLE])

=R
EECERBEAPEIFIAEARAR(ER
AN REFRAR(ERE]DENF 111220088
REMBERR  BER_ZT—AR"F+-_A=1+—
BOGEEMBIRE BEZBHLEFENGEAR
mRC FEERHKRAER  HEARIREIRNES
RenER  URKAMBHmERME BEEX
SETBRBZR -

BERR  ZERAMBHRREREBEBR G
AR EgRmOBRYHREENEE M Qi
Rk EREE-F-AFT_A=1+—HBHHK
BB RBEZ A LFENEAMBTREAR
HEHENE  YEERBERRKOINKER
EZRmE o



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Independent Auditor’'s Report & Z 3R &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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Impairment testing of gooadwill and trademarks with indefinite lives

BT R AR F R 1749 60 (B 2t

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful
lives before impairment provision amounting to
RMB8,622,686,000 represented 18% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2016. The impairment
tests performed by management for various cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units
(“CGUs or CGU groups”) involved significant judgement
for the determination of the value in use of the CGU or
CGU group. In particular, due to the deterioration of the
performance of the milk powder product CGU group
in 2016, management focused on the assessment
of the recoverability of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite lives before impairment provision recorded
for the milk powder product CGU group aggregating
RMB7,587,870,000, which resulting in an impairment
provision of RMB2,253,794,000 in the current year.
This is a key audit matter due to the magnitude, the
complexity, and the management estimates involved
in the impairment testing. The accounting policies and
related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 21 to
the financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included an assessment of the
2017 budget and the five-year projection prepared by
management and a reconciliation of the inputs used to
determine the value in use calculations in the 2017 budget
and the five-year projection. Furthermore, we involved
internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating
the inputs used including the weighted average costs of
capital and expected perpetual rates, and the model used.
We also focused on the adequacy of the Company’s
disclosures concerning those key assumptions included in
note 21 to the financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HARETER

ARETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FTRRETEERNEES E

Acquisition of Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”)

WiEZEZBY ERMERA A ZEHFE )

On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired a 100% equity
interest of Dumex China from Danone Asia Pacific
Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Danone”) at a cash consideration
of RMB1,027,258,000. Management engaged external
appraisers to evaluate the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of Dumex China. This is a key audit
matter due to the significant management estimates and
judgment involved in the accounting for the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 44 to the
financial statements.
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We evaluated the competency and objectivity of the
external appraisers engaged by the Company to perform
the valuation. We also involved our internal valuation
specialists in evaluating the valuation methodologies
adopted and the assumptions used in the valuation of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of Dumex China, in
particular, trademarks, land use rights and property, plant
and equipment.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Independent Auditor’'s Report B3 % & AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REYMBETRE M B RREREN
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL B

STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, ZEZHEBZEZEEBNEET @ LT sE
we determine those matters that were of most significance in ¥ KNG EMEHRENET TIERABRE -
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current  MEKEHETEE « BRIEEARIERTRHFA
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe BB EEIE  IRBEANBERT - TER
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation AFBNZEEEASEEHANTIREREEBHEA
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely RABNZEEAN R M IAERRETEE 4
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be AIEZ e XEEIREFHEM L SERE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent  H BEASG AZ SR ENBAEEABEAAES

auditor’s report is Tong Ka Yan, Augustine. fik o

Ernst & Young KBS AT
Certified Public Accountants B BEEN

Hong Kong BB

29 March 2017 —E—+HF=A=-1+N1H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBEmER

Year ended 31 December 2016 #i 2 —ZT— "F+-_A=+—HIFE

2015
—F—RF
Notes RMB’000
M ARET T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEE
REVENUE I'PN 5 53,779,339 49,026,516
Cost of sales THERKA (36,143,937) (33,651,042)
GROSS PROFIT E7 17,635,402 15,375,474
Other income and gains E MU Rz 5 701,784 521,268
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RACHE A (13,435,206) (10,985,039)
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (2,471,365) (1,871,250)
Other expenses HithE A 6 (2,850,668) (392,591)
Interest income FlEU A 477,844 563,273
Finance costs BB A 8 (293,700) (318,634)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates FE(EEEE AR FIE,
(E518) 22 (225,477) 137,669
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM  REFERKL XK
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BATRE,(E5E) 7 (461,386) 3,030,170
Income tax expense Sz 11 (351,379) (510,038)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM MR EZEKEEEN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RERE, () (812,765) 2,520,132
DISCONTINUED OPERATION RIS
Profit for the year from a REDKRIEEE LR
discontinued operation ZNE R 12 - 122
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AERNE(BR) (812,765) 2,520,254
Attributable to: A& e,
Owners of the Company KREHEB A (751,155) 2,367,291
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R A 2 (61,610) 152,963

(812,765) 2,620,254
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss &2 &% &

Year ended 31 December 2016 HE T — ~"F+-A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—B—AF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREETTT

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AAREBREBTA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EaEERER, (EHE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF (AR AR¥ )
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED
IN RMB PER SHARE) 14
Basic BN
- For profit/(loss) for the year —AEFE, (Ei8) (0.193) 0.609
— For profit/(loss) from continuing —REARFECEETH
operations (&) (0.193) 0.609
Diluted #E
— For profit/(loss) for the year —RNFFE(ER) (0.193) 0.607
— For profit/(loss) from continuing —REFECEERR
operations FE, (&18) (0.193) 0.607

S—)

2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEREWER

Year ended 31 December 2016 HE T — ~"F+-A=+—HILFE
2015
—hF
Notes RMB’000
FiEE AR®ET T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REFE(BR) (812,765) 2,520,254
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt2mia  (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HERBREHR»EE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BamEMEmE
in subsequent periods: Wz, (E518)
Exchange differences: ME 5, 5
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINETER)
foreign operations PE H =58 (128,597) (66,650)
Cash flow hedges: REREEF :
Effective portion of changes in fair value KERFEHT A
of hedging instruments arising during NAEZEHH
the year BERED = 9,645
Income tax effect Fristiss & = (1,257)
Net other comprehensive loss HEHMEN 2 EZE
to be reclassified to profit or loss ERWEMEE
in subsequent periods EiEFE (128,597) (568,262)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EI@:HHF'ﬁT\ﬁE%ﬁ ]
not to be reclassified to profit or loss :.:Tﬁ SR E M2 E
in subsequent periods: m,/ (E518)
Equity investments designated at ?a)i#'yb/{’&ft [EG =8
fair value through other HEHT AHMEE
comprehensive income: WS AIRE
Changes in fair value N EEE) 25(a)/(b) 94,371 (117,050)
Net other comprehensive HEHBIEEN2E
income/(loss) not to be ZEGNHEMEE
reclassified to profit or loss Wi, (ER) R
in subsequent periods 94,371 (117,050)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS, Hib2mES
NET OF TAX HERBLE (34,226) (175,312)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  S£E2EK3 (&18)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR LG (846,991) 2,344,942
Attributable to: AT &7 1 -
Owners of the Company KRaHEB A (823,053) 2,157,043
Non-controlling interests FEAEAR AR R (23,938) 187,899

(846,991) 2,344,942
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI R R

As at 31 December 2016 R=ZE—XFE+-_A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2016 2015
—E-XEF —FT—RHF
+TZA=1+—0 ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEKREE 15 12,698,374 11,637,977
Construction in progress EEIRR 16 1,271,844 900,939
Investment properties KREME 17 67,486 20,078
Land use rights THb (P AR 18 983,794 888,680
Goodwill S 19 4,527,518 5,850,599
Other intangible assets HihmA g E 20 2,086,247 1,731,018
Investments in associates REE N RIHIRE 22 4,132,099 4,185,883
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 23 529,123 307,534
Biological assets EYEE 24 479,386 289,823
Non-current financial assets RSB E 25 2,495,681 2,327,916
Long term prepayments RHITAER R 28 15,566 91,738
Total non-current assets BIERE B E 29,287,118 28,232,185
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other current financial assets B heemEE 25 4,195,737 5,255,273
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 34 36,501 10,944
Inventories R 26 3,314,282 4,339,506
Trade and bills receivables JE R 3R & =R 27 2,340,099 1,617,757
Prepayments, deposits and other SN )
receivables Hib gl xaa 28 2,704,611 2,158,884
Pledged deposits REETFR 29 960,863 722,402
Cash and bank balances R RIRITET 29 6,070,078 7,931,237
19,622,171 22,036,003
Assets of disposal groups DEAFAEFEN
classified as held for sale BEHENEE 12 215,138 384,353
Total current assets BREEE 19,837,309 22,420,356

S—)

2
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position && Bk R &

As at 31 December 2016 R=ZE—~F+=-A=+—H
31 December
2015
—T—hF
+=HA=+—8”
Notes RMB’000
B = AREFTT
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENAE
Trade and bills payables AR NREZE 30 5,405,620 4,644,298
Other payables and accruals HipENRENIBIRE R 31 6,510,886 4,989,524
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREAMEER
other borrowings &2 3,045,417 6,080,751
Other loans HiEXN 83 52,559 43,915
Derivative financial instruments PTAESRIA 34 - 3,160
Deferred income PEFEUT A 36 135,093 45,652
Income tax payable FER PTG AR 145,242 153,367
15,294,817 15,960,667
Liabilities directly associated with the HEAoBEABEEEN
assets classified as held for sale BEAEEZEENAE 12 7,852 15,708
Total current liabilities VLA 15,302,669 15,976,375
NET CURRENT ASSETS BREEE 4,534,640 6,443,981
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERARBAER
LIABILITIES 33,821,758 34,676,166
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREAMEER
other borrowings 32 5,542,163 4,969,511
Long term payables KA 3RTE 35 36,914 68,399
Deferred income PRIEWBA 36 533,385 303,116
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBE 23 62,190 76,050
Other non-current financial liabilities Hu3Ensepgas 37 2,143,378 2,643,936
Total non-current liabilities BIEREBIE 8,318,030 8,061,012
NET ASSETS BEE 25,503,728 26,615,154
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 44 B &4k R 3%

As at 31 December 2016 R=ZE—XFE+-_A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2016 2015
—E—REF e S
a=- b=l |+ — A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYET T ARBT T

EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the KRaEB A
Company FEERE R
Share capital A& A 38 357,374 357,262
Treasury shares held under share award IR = #EE)zt &l T~
scheme BB EFRD 42 (354,409) (415,762)
Other reserves Hib s 39 12,940,822 13,321,140
Retained earnings REF)HE 7,901,126 8,873,599
20,844,913 22,136,239
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR A RS 4,658,815 4,478,915
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 25,503,728 26,615,154
Ma Jianping Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
BEY E &R
Director Director
EZE EZE

S

2
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Year ended 31 December 2015 &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

Year ended 31 December 2016 #i 2 —ZT— "F+-_A=+—HIFE

2015
—T-hF
Notes RMB’000
BisE ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBELENESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax: AR, (E8) -
From continuing operations REFELEE (461,386) 3,030,170
From a discontinued operation KRADKRILCEER = 122
Adjustments for: EANIESEE S
Interest income FEUA (477,844) (563,273)
Finance costs AE R AR 8 293,700 318,634
Depreciation of items of property, Y% - BEREETE
plant and equipment 7 1,536,404 1,391,302
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 7 2,457 3,030
Amortisation of land use rights + 3t {55 PR AR A £ 7 24,760 26,005
Amortisation of other intangible assets HipmpEEgH 7 37,903 23,951
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, BREMX  BER
plant and equipment HEEE (k) 5/6 20,634 (10,412)
Gain on disposal of a disposal group classified HESEAZAER
as held for sale M E A 5 (29,127) -
Provision for trade receivables and other JFE Ui B 2 K
receivables H b e IR 6 63,530 9,503
Write-back of provision for trade receivables BB ERF K
and other receivables o e U B 6 (20,740) (83,955)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value &5 = o] &35, % & 6 129,857 43,806
Provision for construction in progress FEETREE 6 1,712 -
Impairment of goodwill EERE 6/19 2,253,794 =
Government grants related to income B A FE B R ER AT R B = (78,450)
Amortisation of deferred income-assets other BN S — B EI
than biological assets SNEE EE (32,667) (25,547)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates [E(REsE N REE,(F)E) 225,477 (137,669)
Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in RELE B2 AR
an associate R EE 6 = 33,045
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEF AR 5 - (60,232)
Fair value gain arising from re-measuring BN ERVEERE
the initial equity interest EENRAERE 44 (9,489) -
Gain on bargain purchase HER Al 44 (9,213) -
Gain arising from changes in SARELBEE W
contingent considerations 5 - (95,022)
Loss arising from changes in fair value less AF AR EREERAR
cost to sell of dairy cows VEB)E LR EE 6/24 25,696 19,323
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net BN B8, () 55 5/6 (134,235) 53,754
Net fair value loss on forward currency contracts iz HRSMNE S LA A E
B IEF 6 2,371 12,444
Unrealised fair value gain of commodity ARHEANRER
futures contracts DA ERE (4,850) (5,933)
Equity-settled share option arrangements PARR 9 2 T RO BB AR AE 2 4 = (69,359)
Share award scheme R EZ#EEh=t 2| 42 40,939 91,724
3,479,683 3,926,961
Increase in other financial assets Hih & mhEEL N
- entrusted loans —ZER (1,207) (78,106)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TERD,/(3Em) 1,014,334 (97,609)
Increase in trade and bills receivables JIE U BR 2 N =R 1 (649,458) (392,254)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits ReBSTFZRED,/(380) 50,272 (103,703)
Increase in prepayments, deposits AR ke REMEK
and other receivables FIAE N (570,760) (498,940)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables R ERF R EE
40,/ (GRd) 498,557 (312,966)
Increase in accruals and other payables TER B A K EL A FE 5 FRIB A 0 1,555,190 420,309
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Z&8EE£HRER

Year ended 31 December 2016 HLE—Z—"F+-_A=+—HI-FE

2015
—T—AF
Notes RMB’000
BisE ARBTT
Cash generated from operations RS IEE LIS 5,376,611 2,863,692
Interest paid SAF B (312,332) (294,526)
Income taxes paid FRFEH (551,335) (659,977)
Net cash flows from operating activities RELBELENFRERE 4,512,944 1,909,189
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENEERE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant EE¥¥ - BERHE
and equipment FTS 58 100,226 102,751
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  fR E1R A Y% 135818 17 1,306 -
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights BRE T AREMERIE - 6,057
Proceeds from disposal of other intangible assets & & H fh & i, & E P15 208 = 7,577
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets BREEMEEMBHIA 24 7,653 6,429
Proceeds from disposal of a disposal group HESRAREFEN
classified as held for sale BEMMSHIE 98,000
Purchase of items of property, BEME - BEMRE
plant and equipment (1,004,187) (5653,761)
Purchase of construction in progress BETEIR 16 (1,976,081) (2,311,753)
Purchase of land use rights BE LR 18 (46,285) (17,093)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEEMELEE 20 (10,922) (7,737)
Purchase of biological assets BEAMEE (230,775) (152,484)
Acquisition of unlisted equity investments BEIELMRAKE - (2,500)
Disposal of unlisted equity investments HEIEETRAKE - 1,654
Capital injection to associates A NRNEE = (517)
Dividends received from associates L ER B & A B AR S 18,555 23,460
Acquisition of subsidiaries g SN (1,156,675) 18,925
Receipt of purchase price adjustments WEE B ERE 72,437 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR 45 - 151,593
Payment of contingent considerations sk ARERR (10,000) (10,000)
Receipt of government grants related to WHEERTEE K
purchase of fixed assets and biological assets EYEERBNBRHEDE 291,862 111,515
Increase of long term time deposits REE BREFIEM (25,143) (415,909)
Purchase of time deposits with original maturity of & REIHHE A=1EA
more than three months Ak B9 TE BATE 3R (1,657,141) (14,873)
Purchase of unit trust investments BEEMETRE = (170,000)
Disposal of unit trust investments HEBAETRE 170,000 327,000
Purchase of investment deposits HERERFN (4,139,490) (9,346,781)
Withdrawal of investment deposits W B E T 5,049,039 12,265,485
Interest received WERF S, 442,158 517,706
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REFEHEL/(FRA)
activities BRLHE (4,005,463) 536,644
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4R8I ERER
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE T —"F+_A=+—HIFE
2015
“T-hF
Notes RMB’000
B et AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities METHEENELSRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans FTRBRITEFMERIE 11,002,522 6,552,196
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BEABETER (13,972,904) (5,670,507)
Increase in pledged deposits for bank loans RITERRRESFTIEMN (288,733) (363,110)
Proceeds from other loans Bt ERTEIIE 8,644 4,000
Repayment of long term payables BEREEMNFE (77,013) (86,227)
Shares purchases for share award scheme AR E SR TR 42 (16,916) (135,535)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option — 1B45 LARK 17 32 1+ O B A% 8 22
arrangements 17D 41 76,464 65,100
Shares repurchased and cancelled B D BB K st 5H (58,142) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W eI AR AR R i (137,724) (2,510,675)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests IR R T & 38,475 19,926
Dividends paid to owners of the Company TRARREEANRE (552,697) (585,118)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SN CEX Tl ds) (58,471) (69,599)
Deemed disposal of equity interests in BIEH & — 7 AR RHE
a subsidiary without loss of control CRAREESIRE) = 3,468,594
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEZHEL (A
financing activities BEERE (4,036,495) 689,045
Net increase/(decrease) in e RREEED
cash and cash equivalents 20/ (Fid) 258 (3,529,014) 3,134,878
Cash and cash equivalents FHRERALEEY
at beginning of year 29 6,833,608 3,607,033
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (F%8) 51,062 92,658
Cash and bank balances attributable to disposal ~ FEEAFELIRE RIRITETT
groups (119) (961)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRESEEY 29 3,355,537 6,833,608
Analysis of balances of cash and FeRBeEEYNERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the RERE B ISR Z 5 ERA
consolidated statement of financial position e RiR1TEF 29 6,070,078 7,931,237
Restricted deposits R EITER 29 - (40,229)
Time deposits with original maturity BREHBEA=ERNLH
more than three months EHFER 29 (2,714,541) (1,057,400)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RizeHemERH IR
consolidated statement of cash flows ReRBEEEY 29 3,355,537 6,833,608
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 AR B AE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands. The
Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and distribution

RAREEESR
RARARERERESTMAXINEREE
BRAF] o AR RO EMPERZNP.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman lIslands © XA &) & —RRE
ERAF - MAFRARIFERPEARKM
B[P B DI E I B m A AT o

of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the

“PRC”).

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AAREEFRAFBFOT :

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued/registered interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL,/ BB/ FARER
8 RHIES S R REBDL TERH
Direct Indirect
E# 55
China Dairy Holdings (i) Cayman Islands US$214 100% - Investment holding
FEEHS 24ET RERR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) Mauritius US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
RS 100%7T RERR
Start Great Holdings Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$16,066,969 100% - Investment holding
RERNES 16,066,969 T RERR
Colour Vantage Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
AERLEE 1% RERR
Golden Stage Holdings Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
EEREHS Er REER
Mengniu (China) Investment Company Limited () ~ PRC US$200,000,000 100% - Investment holding
FH(TE)REBRAR () e 200,000,000% 7 RERR
China Mengniu Interational Co., Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands HK$8,448,802,973 99.95% - Investment holding
mESTERARLA () ABRNES 8,448,802,973% T REHR
Plant Base Limited (i) HK HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
BERESHERAA () B 18T REER
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product PRC RMB100,000,000 = 79.98%  Manufacture and sale of
(Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i & AK100,000,0007 dairy products
FEEREEm (S8 )BRAF ()i EERLENEm
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

PEAIREEER @

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued/registered interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR/ BB/ KAREL
8 EE T3 BT RERDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef 83
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone PRC RMB250,000,000 = 79.98%  Manufacture and sale of
Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) # AR¥250,000,0007 dairy products
WEaFFEEIHRERAA (i) EERLEANEm
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product PRC RMB87,500,000 21.36% 58.63%  Manufacture and sale of
(Beijing) Co.,Ltd. (i) # AR87,500,0007C dairy products
SERNARRIR)BREERT ()i EERLEN R
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB150,000,000 26% 73.99%  Manufacture and sale of
SEAE (B BRRT ()i i AR¥150,000,00070 dairy products
FERHEHm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company ~ PRC RMB1,504,290,870 8.97% 91.01%  Manufacture and sale of
Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) (iii # AR#1,504,290,8707T dairy products
RELFFE(RERAFRAA EERLENHm
(TREEE]) (i
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou PRC RMB30,000,000 26.40% 73.59%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i)Gi) # AR#30,000,0007 dairy products
REEFFAFBRERELRA ()i EERLEN SRR
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB56,000,000 26.06% 73.93%  Manufacture and sale of
SHIE(RM)EREFLF (i) T AR #56,000,00070 dairy products
FERHENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB70,000,000 26.05% 73.94%  Manufacture and sale of
SEAR(EL)ERERRAH ()i S AE#70,000,0007T dairy products
EERLENHm
Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMBG60,000,000 26.03% 73.96%  Manufacture and sale of
SIERZAREMAH (i) e AR¥60,000,0007C dairy products
FERHENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB275,000,000 - 99.98%  Manufacture and sale of
SHAE (BB BRAF ()i HE ARE#275,000,0007C dairy products

SERHEA RS
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Notes To Financial Statements B iR &HisT

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

A REEER @

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued/registered interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR,/ BB/ NG 4
8 R ES TR RERDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# R
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy PRC RMB150,000,000 = 99.98%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. ()i H AR¥150,000,0007 dairy products
REEFFRRIEFRRAF ()i FERNEN Em
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC US$8,994,700 26% 73.99%  Manufacture and sale of
SEEIIERRAT (i) # 8,994,700% 7T dairy products
EERLEN Em
Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB75,000,000 26% 73.99%  Manufacture and sale of
SHEAZ(BERR)ARAA ()i el AR¥75,000,0007 dairy products
FERHENEm
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB52,351,700 - 50.99%  Manufacture and sale of
RREELENEBRLA (i) # ARE52,351,7007 dairy products
EERLENHm
Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashili”) Cayman slands HK$1,000,000,000 - 51.01%  Investment holding
B HERERERAR(ELM]) FEES 1,000,000,000/ 7 RAER
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 51.01%  Investment holding
ErFEREEERAR Eh 18T REER
Yashili International Group Ltd. PRC RMB1,126,105,300 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
(“Yashili International’) (iv) HE ARH#1,126,105,3007C dairy products
FIAEREEARAR(ELHER]) (v) FERNEAN S
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. New Zealand NzD287,032,059 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
MERRL A X AR ERERAF ki 287,032,059%TF i T dairy products
FERHEN 2
Yashili International Baby Nourishment PRC RMB531,815,600 = 51.01%  Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) # AR¥531,815,6007C dairy products
(ELHEREDRERMERAR () FERNEANZm
Plant Base (China) Limited (iv) PRC RMB600,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding
BRES(PE)BRAR (V) H AR 600,000,007 REBR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)
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To Financial Statements B #& 3R & HisE

PEAIREEER @

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued/registered interest attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR/ BB/ KAREL
8 R ES S ERAE RERAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 83
Aspen Foods (Zhengzhou) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB550,000,000 = 51%  Manufacture, distrioution
BRESR (M) BRAF () H AR550,000,00070 and sale of plant-based
beverages
EE - DHREERDL
At
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. PRC RMB2,226,000,000 - 51.01%  Production and sale of
(“Dumex China”) (il H AR #2,226,000,0007 dairy products
SEHENTREARAR ([ SEHEHRE]) (i) FERHENHm

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited
liability under PRC law.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

(iv)  The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

During the year, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex
China from Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Danone”).
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 44 to the
financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

() AREBEBLKEHMEBAAL K2R
HEMKE RRIER ©

iy ZEFLARHREFEZEZFMAERE
(/NI

(i) ZEFLAOREBEPEEEIMRPING
BRAE -

(iv) ZEFLRREANTEREMMNEZEINIED
o,

FA > ARAIEEERS1.O1%ERN T A
) # 4= F| @) Danone Asia Pacific Holdings
Pte. Ltd.([ Danone ) Y% % 5<% $1 B & #B A
B o WHEHE — e B E NI S kM sT44 o

EE5 A LRBSINAATDT AR EBHA
EEATEEEERYE  RERAEEE
EFENEADS - EERBRERMBTA
ABEREEEBBATE -
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RBEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
on a historical cost basis except for share options, certain
financial assets and derivative financial instruments which
have been measured at fair value. Certain biological assets
and agricultural produce upon harvest are measured at fair
value less costs to sell. Disposal groups classified as held
for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and
fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

HEFBRRZREFEAENZES([H
REAENZBE ) BMOBERMFRESE
A ([ BRI 5 RS 2RI |) R &7 1 AR5 3%
BRERE - MEMRABLNAEREL
HEBRE ETEMEERTESRT AN
RAEFE - ETEMEEREERBAKIA
RAERBEEXNARTE - DBERFAFEN
REMATIZEREENRA A ERBEERNE
HEREES RS BR - FEITENMIEE2.4 - 175
BRUAARETARB D27 BRHEES
S PTABESRABREREANTAL -

BAMERRBEARTNETAR (KB
[A&EE DHEE_FT—R"F+=A=+—H
IFFEENBBERR - TARARRBEES
MEESNER(REABEER) - E4%
EEALHEWIRE H R RS mAE] &
BB ZEEAIERITR - WHBENE
R WIEE RN (BIFEAREE B Al A 88
NEEBWREFNEBEESRIREER) &
Loy S ORAE o BNEVSHEHIAE o

EARAERIMEREB IR RIREST KRS
B RORIBLER - EFEESTHEY
RIRETORNE  AREEEEHMAER
EERER 8%

(@) HEFERENEMRREFBEANGLD
ZHE

b) HtEHLHEENERN K

() ARBEFRRESBEIIRE -
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq) 21 EREE @)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the day that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

FRANP B RERREARRQ R LR RS
Hi - WERA—BNEABREE - FRFN
EERAKENGENEEAEEEREE
HERLERRIESRIIR -

BEakEt2EKEED IEBERALRE
A AR R R - BRIt < BORHE
R R A B RS - AEBAQRBN
BERENEE  #zm - WA FAXEAE
BREARBRSNEERSRERGAR
BB -

HWAEFERBRBS LR =TEEGRERE
—HEXEN-ALREE - AREEEHT
METEHRRETERENE - FRFEIN
PRAEREE (WEAEIZHIE) RERIZA

M AEBAEY T AR AIEHRE - BIEK L
BRONZTANEE(BEFE)RAE
(i) AT FE 12 A% IR SR e 2 O BR T B I (i) A A
WRLEH R E =25« RERFTURRE
B R RME -~ (i) FrREEMIRE R A R E i)
BRI AL EENRBRIEIE o SLRTR
Hib 2 AR S NERNAEBRGI D EH
SR ABRNRBAEER) - FriREE
HASEEERELERBNEEXBEAR
EE MR e
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Notes To Financial Statements B iR &HisT

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to
IFRS 10, IFRS 12
and IAS 28

Amendments to
IFRS 11
IFRS 14

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 38

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 41

Amendments to
IAS 27

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations
Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Amendments to a number of
IFRSs

22 B HXREBRIKE

AEBCRAFENFBERR ERRAUT
¥R S NS FT BB A TS R 22 R

B R B 75 e o5 2 Al KEERE -
F10%; - RIS [EAL AR E
HEERE125 &

BB et AR ZE 2855
HEET

B R B 745 e o5 E A WE A E 2R
F115RAERT S5 e

B R B 75 e o5 2 A EE AR
$£145%

EE =l HE B
FB1RMIER]

B2 ERIE165  AETE ALY
N EIRR T 4R A%
E385RMIER]

BRI E 1657
B e ER|

BA1EAERT
BB SsrERE27, B BERLF
HIIEET )7 )%
—E——FF (EHEREE]
—E—pF B 7 R 5 2E R

PBHFEE N



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Except for the amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28,
amendments to IFRS 11, IFRS 14, amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41, amendments to IAS 27, and certain amendments
included in the Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle, which
are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the amendments
are described below:

(@ Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements. The amendments
cClarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of financial position may
be disaggregated;

(i) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which
they present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using
the equity method must be presented in aggregate
as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in
the statement of financial position and the statement of
profit or loss. The amendments have had no significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle
in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating
a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the
economic benefits that are consumed through the use of
the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment
and may only be used in very limited circumstances to
amortise intangible assets. The amendments are applied
prospectively. The amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group as
the Group has not used a revenue-based method for
the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle issued
in September 2014 sets out amendments to a number
of IFRSs. Details of the amendments are as follows:

° IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations: Clarifies that changes
to a plan of sale or a plan of distribution to
owners should not be considered to be a new
plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the
original plan. Accordingly, there is no change in
the application of the requirements in IFRS 5.
The amendments also clarify that changing the
disposal method does not change the date of
classification of the non-current assets or disposal
group held for sale. The amendments are applied
prospectively. The amendments have had no
impact on the Group as the Group did not have
any change in the plan of sale or disposal method
in respect of the disposal group held for sale
during the year.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to
IFRS 2

Amendments to
IFRS 4

IFRS 9

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS28

IFRS 15

Amendments to
IFRS 15
IFRS 16

Amendments to
IAS 7

Amendments to
IAS 12

IFRIC 22

Amendments to IAS 40

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

2017
2018
2019

adoption

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions®

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts®

Financial Instruments’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers®

Leases®

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses'

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration®

Transfer of Investment Property”

Amendments to IFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities’

Amendments to IFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting
Standards®

Amendments to IAS 28
Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016
that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based payment;
and the accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes
its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The
amendments clarify that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-
based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based
payments. The amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net share settlement
features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet
the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when
certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction are modified, with the result that it
becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction,
the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled
transaction from the date of the modification. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

In September 2014, the IASB issued the final version of
IFRS 9 (the “IFRS 9 (2014)”), bringing together all phases of
the financial instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all
previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group has early adopted IFRS 9
(2009) and IFRS 9 (2013) on 1 January 2014 and 1 July 2014,
respectively, while the Group expects to adopt the full text of
IFRS 9 (2014) from 1 January 2018.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for application now.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements
under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS
15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January
2018 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon
adoption.
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property in IAS
40. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect
the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be
required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January
2019 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon
adoption.

Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The
amendments will result in additional disclosure to be provided
in the financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2017.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 were issued with the purpose
of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at
fair value, although they also have a broader application for
other situations. The amendments clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs
to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal
of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance on how an entity should
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets
for more than their carrying amount. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2017.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operation.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportional
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

The Group measures its share options, certain financial
assets, biological assets and derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(0

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on
the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The depreciation
rates of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land
Buildings and structures

Not depreciated
2% to 7%

Plant and machinery 10% to 32%
Office equipment 10% to 32%
Motor vehicles 10% to 32%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and property under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment
properties. The estimated useful lives range from 27.5 to 50
years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) level.
Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 20 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.

Computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms from 30 to 70 years.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group initially recognises financial assets at which the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt
instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives
and equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss and
equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (with gains and losses remaining in
other comprehensive income, without recycling).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a
debt or equity investment.

A financial asset is classified as debt instruments at amortised
cost, if:

(@) the asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(b)  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through
profit or loss, except for investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading where, the Group may elect
at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other
comprehensive income.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
though profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the
financial asset is derecognised or impaired and through the
amortisation process using the effective interest rate method.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on a debt investment, derivatives and equity
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value and
is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or
loss and presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

Equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there
is no subsequent recycling of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as long as they represent a return
on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt
investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss s,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables, interest-bearing bank loans, other
loans, bonds payables and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. No
financial liabilities have been designated at fair value through
profit or loss by the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

EXREER

RUEHERR - s EERREEERRAE
R FRIABERAFT & - BRIFTIRREIE
BEKX - HEUBERT - AIRKAIEE - 8
B4R L FERRIL B B A B RN R M 5% - W
m M RN RaRER -

8 54 PR S T AR TR (E (4 SR B
BRI R BRI B AR AL F -
B 8 84 2 DI AR S RS 2R MO R A
Ao o

MBRREN
AEBEBITHOMBERFREOIAREEBHA
TREARIR B T A AT (RS B BB IR N
FERFRFA AN FIEABHEE B BEmE
KNEH - MBREFREVERRAABELH
BITRERONERBERIRAETRABERRE
RRAE  RERERER  AEEZTIIM
ENBRRETEVHERAQ - ()REBEH
REBTRFEENKEGLFAIEE &
(B RERS R R HHESEER) °



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income
and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if
all of the following criteria are met:

° the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging
instruments and eligible hedged items.

° At the inception of the hedging relationship there
is formal designation and documentation of the
hedging relationship and the entity’s risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That
documentation shall include identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess whether
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements (including its analysis of the sources of
hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge
ratio).

° the hedging relationship meets all of the following
hedge effectiveness requirements: there is an
economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does
not dominate the value changes that result from that
economic relationship; and the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from
the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged
item. However, that designation shall not reflect an
imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognised
or not) that could result in an accounting outcome
that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

° fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability
or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

° cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment; or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Fair value hedges

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be
recognised in profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if
the hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument for which
an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income).

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised
cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as
an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the
hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair
value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item
is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the
carrying amount of the hedged item (if applicable) and be
recognised in profit or loss. If the hedged item is a financial
asset (or a component thereof) that is measured at fair
value through profit or loss, the hedging gain or loss on the
hedged item shall be recognised in profit or loss. However,
if the hedged item is an equity instrument for which an
entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income, those amounts shall remain in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value hedges (continued)

When a hedged item is an unrecognised firm commitment
(or a component thereof), the cumulative change in the fair
value of the hedged item subsequent to its designation is
recognised as an asset or a liability with a corresponding gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The separate component of equity associated with the
hedged item (cash flow hedge reserve) is adjusted to the
lower of the following (in absolute amounts): (i) the cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the
hedge; and (ii) the cumulative change in fair value (present
value) of the hedged item (i.e. the present value of the
cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows)
from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
that is determined to be an effective hedge (i.e. the portion
that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve
calculated in accordance with above mentioned shall be
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such
as when hedged financial income or financial expense is
recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged
item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the same period or periods
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the
hedging strategy), or when the hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income remain in hedging
reserve until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign
currency firm commitment is met.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current
or separated into current and non-current portions based
on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-
current (or separated into current and non-current
portions) consistently with the classification of the
underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dairy cows

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of
an asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance
costs and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is
determined based on their present location and condition and
is determined independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until such
time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Milk

Agricultural produce represents milk. Milk is recognised at
the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. The fair
value of milk is determined based on market prices in the
local area.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw - cost on a weighted average basis;
materials
Finished - cost of direct materials and labour and a

goods proportion of manufacturing overheads
based on the normal operating capacity on a
weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when, and only when,
the government grant becomes receivable. If a government
grant related to a biological asset measured at its fair value
less costs to sell is conditional, the Group recognises the
government grant in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when, and only when, the conditions attaching to the
government grant are met.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by
equal annual instalments.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Other grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
the payment has been established.

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic
of China except for Hong Kong and Macau (“Mainland
China”) participate in a central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme and share
award scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in notes 41 and 42 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated
as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Tax charges
and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 ERETHERBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the
Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the reporting
date, the assets and liabilities of companies whose functional
currency differs from the presentation currency are translated
into RMB at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the
reporting period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or on whether certain companies
of the Group is determined to be a Chinese resident
enterprise by the PRC governing tax authorities in the future.
Management considered that it is not probable that the
Group’s subsidiaries in PRC will distribute profits earned from
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2016 in the foreseeable
future, and accordingly no provision for withholding tax was
made in 2016. Where the final outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally determined, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise.

EREHE R AT

ERERRUAREOIISRES - ALK
A F% - AEREERAENREFR
DA 5 4 B 6 0 R BR A R - it R B
%o ARREBRRMGIAG TR - T
B A A AR EAR KR E
KBE -

ERARENEFHRERT EEED
TR IAT HE (B8 RGEMEB SN - 58
MEHRRACHERASEBERNREATE ¢

DIKREEENAB

NEERBEBREHBRR T REET
FRBIDERBMELENTENE - BE5TE
BURR IR E TR R B AN S E R F LN F]
EARARABEEHTREBNRIEE RRES
FRERGEATRA - EEERASEUER
IR AREEMFEFRETKATEEDIK
R-EENF—A—HE-ZT—R"F+=-A
=+—HFHRRMFE At =F—RFW
EETREEINET o M2 BRI ERE
BEVETETN & ZEMELNELERE
157 = 2B IR K E TR -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that it does not bear all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these machinery and accounts for the contracts
as operating leases.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis.
This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Details of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are given in note 21 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite useful lives)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group completes a business combination, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value. Management estimation is
required to determine the fair values of the assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, and the purchase consideration,
and on the allocation of the purchase consideration to
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable market where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement and estimation is
required in establishing fair values. Management must estimate
the expected future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 23 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based
on the credit history of its customers and other debtors and
the current market condition. Management reassesses the
provisions at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details
of share-based payments are contained in notes 41 and 42 to
the financial statements.

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected vyield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 24.
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Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. ﬁ“‘ij\*‘Bﬁﬂ

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

° Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

° Ice cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream;

° Milk powder products segment — manufacture and
distribution of milk powder; and

o Others segment — principally the Group’s cheese, plant-
based nutrition product and trading business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from
continuing operations except that interest income, finance
costs, share of profits of associates, income tax expense,
as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded
from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFBER @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016

BE-T-AF+-A=t—HILFEE

Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder
products products products Others Total
REMER  KEHER MHER Hity #@ar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥Tr AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR%¥Txn
Segment revenue: AHUA
Sales to external customers HETINDER 48,102,872 2,179,940 3,150,895 345,632 53,779,339
Intersegment sales DEEHE 536,786 128,143 - 274,220 939,149
48,639,658 2,308,083 3,150,895 619,852 54,718,488
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales #4454 R 85E (939,149)
Revenue from continuing operations 3 B EHEL L 25 H KA 53,779,339
Segment results DEEE 2,708,266 (258,975)  (2,724,266) (132,689) (407,664)
Reconciliation: G
Interest income FIBMA 477,844
Finance costs BB (293,700)
Share of losses of associates JELEE A RFE (225,477)
Corporate and other AR REM
unallocated expenses THEL (12,389)
Loss before tax from REHEREER
continuing operations HAEE (461,386)
Income tax expense Friefx i (351,379)
Loss for the year from REFBELEER L
continuing operations AEER (812,765)
Segment assets PEEE 28,933,430 2,309,669 12,829,812 632,420 44,705,331
Reconciliation: JHE
Elimination of intersegment 357 HE
receivables W RIE (8,691,755)
Corporate and other AR REAM
unallocated assets IHBEE 12,895,713
Assets related to disposal groups ¥ R B B E 215,138
Total assets BEE 49,124,427

=~
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016

4, REFIEE @

BE-T-AFE+-A=+—HILEE

Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BEPER KEKER MHER Hity @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥Trn AR¥ETrn AR¥Tn AR%T=x
Segment liabilities 2HEE 14,579,687 2,183,081 3,010,372 903,729 20,676,869
Reconciliation: IR
Elimination of intersegment Eapicbakili
payables FERTFUR (8,691,755)
Corporate and other AR REMRD
unallocated liabilities =L 11,627,733
Liabilities related to UAUHGEL
disposal groups aE 7,852
Total liabilities #BaRE 23,620,699
Other segment information: HipHER
Depreciation and amortisation WER#H 1,178,533 130,095 195,193 34671 1,538,492
Unallocated amounts A EFE 63,032
Total depreciation and amortisation T K #4858 1,601,524
Capital expenditure BARRAY 2,422,710 304,224 1,453,539 4,352 4,184,825
Unallocated amounts A EFE 167,663
Total capital expenditure® BARHEY BE 4,352,488
Impairment losses recognised Rz A BERERH
in the consolidated statement REEE
of profit or loss 102,113 5,801 2,338,850 2,129 2,448,893
Impairment losses reversed RREERREER
in the consolidated statement AR
of profit or loss (14,125) (6,210) (216) (189) (20,740)
Impairment losses recognised/ RigaBRRER/
(reversed) in the consolidated (BE)RRESE
statement of profit or loss 87,988 (409) 2,338,634 1,940 2,428,153
Unallocated amounts relating B R ERT A
to share option scheme fredEREdl
and share award scheme ADEFIE 40,939
Total non-cash expenses L HE
relating to share option scheme R = 42BNzt 24
and share FRETHBH
award scheme 40,939

S
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
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4, REFITEE @

Year ended 31 December 2015 HE_Z—HF+-_A=+—HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BEDER  KERER MHER 2t fasr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue: DEHWA
Sales to external customers HEFITRE 43,326,642 2,141,192 3,228,800 329,882 49,026,516
Intersegment sales AEEHE 417,043 188,830 50,378 236,331 892,582
43,743,685 2,330,022 3,279,178 566,213 49,919,098
Reconciliation: GIE
Elimination of intersegment sales %57 2 $H%E (892,582)
Revenue from continuing operations 58 B #5848 4 £ FHILA 49,026,516
Segment results DHEE 3,166,684 (235,084) (67,127) (244,527) 2,619,946
Reconciliation: JIE
Interest income FIEUA 563,273
Finance costs BB (318,634
Share of profits of associates AN 137,669
Corporate and other NEIREMADE
unallocated expenses T 27,916
Profit before tax from RERELLER Y
continuing operations HATHE 3,030,170
Income tax expense iy (510,038)
Profit for the year from RERBECLEER 2
continuing operations REF|E 2,520,132
Segment assets ITHEE 26,601,192 1,896,127 14,331,373 1,324,122 44,152,814
Reconciliation: JIE
Elimination of Fapisban=iiil
intersegment receivables e IR (9,681,088
Corporate and other NAEIREMADE
unallocated assets BE 15,796,462
Assets related to disposal groups R EEENEE 384,353
Total assets BEE 50,652,541
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REIBER @

(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2015 HE-ZT—RG+-A=+—HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
products products products Others Total
BEDER  KERER IBE R HAit Bat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:
Segment liabilities THER 14,552,301 1,483,008 2,058,501 1,464,801 19,558,611
Reconciliation: G
Elimination of intersegment payables %4443 25F & (4 208 (9,681,088)
Corporate and other AR REM D E
unallocated liabilities aE 14,144,156
Liabilties related to disposal groups ¥ R E BRI & & 15,708
Total liabilities #afk 24,037,387

Other segment information: Hit o HEH :

Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,096,485 92,171 162,242 35,416 1,386,314
Unallocated amounts A 57,974
Total depreciation and amortisation 7% i 4a%E 1,444,288
Capital expenditure BRREY 2,100,021 211,880 456,555 8,489 2,776,945
Unallocated amounts AR EFE 249,975
Total capital expenditure* BARREY BE 3,026,920
Impairment losses recognised R A BRRIER

in the consolidated statement REEE

of profit or loss 45,044 4,893 2,182 1,190 53,309
Impairment losses reversed Rz BERELM

in the consolidated statement REEE

of profit or loss (81,442 (2,313) (200) - (83,955)

Impairment losses recognised/ R ABREER/
(reversed) in the consolidated (B EVREE R
statement of profit or loss (36,398) 2,580 1,982 1,190 (30,646)

Net amortised/(reversal of) fair value 3% N BB R IE R 21 R i E
relating to share option scheme &Iz EIM A AL

and share award scheme () FE 12,640 (6,118) 5,726 - 12,248
Unallocated amounts relating U HE

to share option scheme RE BT 2l

and share award scheme THBRE 10,117

Total non-cash expenses relating % K B 2| & it 2
to share option scheme HEETEIM IR S
and share award scheme T EE 92365




OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

*

Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
intangible assets, land use rights, biological assets, equity
interests in subsidiaries, associates and other equity
investments.

Revenue from external customers
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in
Mainland China.

Non-current assets
Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located
in Mainland China.

There was no sales to a single customer which amounted for
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2016 and 2015.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA ~ A R W=
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, WA EHERNRERE  KHNKBES
after allowances for goods returns and trade discounts, and LB ST UREBEEEANME A REE
after eliminations of all significant intra-group transactions. KRS BITSRIEEE -
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains REEFRGIFERLEEBOIA - EUA
from continuing operations is as follows: R DHTAT -
2016 2015
—E—RF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYET T ARKETTT
Revenue: WA -
Sale of goods EmiHE 53,779,339 49,026,516
Other income and gains: HEMUA B E
Government grants related to BB &
- Recognition of deferred income — ERERIEEWA G
(note 36) (M$7£36) 37,494 32,939
— Income and biological assets (note a) — BT REYEE
BB (fizta) 183,308 228,475
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEF ARk - 60,232
Gain on disposal of a disposal HESEAEEFER
group classified as held for sale REAR TS 29,127 =
Gain arising from changes in contingent AR BE B EE WS
considerations (note b) (FizEb) - 95,022
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE BEM
plant and equipment Bl = 10,412
Promotion service income (note c) EEREWA (HEe) 134,090 -
Gross rental income HaBlA 47,468 47,357
Foreign exchange gains, net P H a5 134,235 -
Others i 136,062 46,831
701,784 521,268
54,481,123 49,547,784

S—)
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)
Notes:

(@)

The government grants in the form of cash donations have
been received for the Group’s contribution to the development
of the local dairy industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these grants.

On 10 January 2013, the Group acquired a 49% Oushi
Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi
Mengniu”) with a cash consideration of RMB60,000,000 paid
at the acquisition date, an aggregate of RMB40,000,000 paid
equally in the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
acquisition date, together with a contingent consideration of
RMB150,000,000. The above contingent consideration would
only be paid when the Group’s milk powder business meets
certain performance targets.

On 31 December 2015, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Arla
Foods Amba (“Arla”) entered into an agreement according
to which, Arla waived its right of receiving an amount of
RMB100,000,000 out of the contingent consideration of
RMB150,000,000, in order to receive the remaining amount of
RMB50,000,000 immediately although the Group still had not
met the before mentioned performance targets.

As a result, Inner Mongolia Mengniu derecognised the present
value of the contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000,
which was RMB95,022,000 and recognised a gain in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during 2015.

This represented promotion service income from Danone and
Arla during 2016.
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6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HtEH

2016 2015
—E—RF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBETTT

Donations B 13,209 12,362
Fair value change of biological assets EYEEARELZE
(note 24) (Bf5E24) 25,696 19,323
Loss on disposal of items of property, REYE BE&
plant and equipment RIEEE 20,634 -
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) RERE(HE21) 2,253,794 -
Provision for construction in progress EETIREBE
(note 16) (fFzE16) 1,712 -
Write-down of inventories to GFEMRE R FE
net realisable value (note 26) (FtzE26) 129,857 43,806
Provision for trade receivables and FE UL BR SR K HoAt
other receivables FE W FRIE B 1 63,530 9,503
Write-back of provision for trade Bl FE R TR K
receivables and other receivables Hoh e U I8 (20,740) (83,955)
Educational surcharges and B B AR T 4 &
city construction tax RN 235,761 235,546
Foreign exchange losses, net M N B85 = 53,754
Net fair value loss on forward EAINEES DA EEE
currency contracts (note 34(a)) F58 (MI7E34(a)) 2,371 12,444
Loss on deemed disposal of REHE— & QRS
partial interests in an associate (note a) A (Hira) - 33,045
Others Hip 124,844 56,763
2,850,668 392,591
Note: 5T
(@  On 20 July 2015, China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China @ Z—ZZT—AHEFtA=-1+H FERBEAKESE
Modern Dairy”) issued additional shares to new shareholders, BRAER AT ([HREBAKME]) AEFIREE
which resulted in the dilution of Group’s interest in China H BN D - AR AR S B A AR B IR A
Modern Dairy from 27.9% to 25.4%. RIS F27.9% 8 £25.4% ©

S—)
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7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations

is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Annual Report 2016 —Z— NFEF

Notes To Financial Statements B iR & HisE

7. BAIAE (ER)
AR BRSSO BA A (S
18) Ty (GEA) T A& Bk st E TS -

2015

—E—hF

RMB’000

AREFIT

Cost of inventories sold HEFERAR 36,157,504 33,663,028
Realised and unrealised fair value gains BHENAREEHRGE

of commodity futures contracts, BRA R EREFEE

net (note 34(b)) (P 5E34(b)) (13,567) (11,986)
Cost of sales 5 BN 36,143,937 33,651,042
Employee benefit expense EERAER(BIEHE

(including directors’ and chief executive’s WENEShEE

remuneration as disclosed in note 9) TERA B B

- Wages, salaries, housing benefits and —I& - %% FEEF

other allowances K B ARG 4,051,872 3,095,035

— Retirement benefit contributions — RIRAEFI LR 386,663 321,522

— Share option scheme expense —BERETERE

(note 41) (Bt3E41) = (69,359)

— Share award scheme expense — R E R EIA X
(note 42) (FfFE42) 40,939 91,724
4,479,474 3,438,922

Depreciation of items of property, VI - BERERETE

plant and equipment (note 15) (MF5£15) 1,536,404 1,391,302
Depreciation of investment properties WEYENE(WE17)

(note 17) 2,457 3,030
Amortisation of land use rights (note 18) b fsE AR 8K (FH7E18) 24,760 26,005
Amortisation of other intangible assets H bR L

(note 20) (M$7%20) 37,903 23,951
Research and development NEMFEFEE R

costs — current year expenditure 108,141 81,900
Outsourcing expense (note a) She B A (MisEa) 256,752 483,914
Minimum lease payments under KEHERRES

operating leases 230,752 196,825
Display space leasing fees [R5z B A E 2 949,638 789,301
Auditor’s remuneration (note b) ZEEN 2 (F3EDb) 7,695 7,510
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 7.

Notes:

(a) For the purpose of promoting operation efficiency, the Group
outsourced the production of certain products. The amounts
represent the total amount paid by the Group for purchasing
outsourcing services.

(b) In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors,
Yashili, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Main Board
of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, had an amount
of RMB3,190,000 (2015: RMB2,930,000) paid/payable as
auditors’ remuneration during the year.

FINANCE COSTS 8.

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as
follows:

BAAE(EE) @

PR

@ AREFEERE  AKEIRETERE
E - ZeREARERBEZSIINERY

S HYAREE

() MELAENIENZBEEERI

EANN|

REARZGREEMBR AT TR ETH
FRABLIRARFEN, BB

AR#3,190,0007t (=& —

2,930,0007T) °

B E A A

hE: AR%

KEFBREXBOBERADTAT

2016 2015
—E2—REF —ZE-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBT T
Interest on bank loans RITEFRAE 186,731 188,110
Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% BRI 50%A-E— \FH|
bond due 2018 #32500,000,0003 7T
EE 2 B 125,914 114,423
Interest on long term payables KHIE R F B 6,744 6,502
Increase in discounted amounts of ] 5 P 7 8 T 388 AN 2 SR
contingent considerations arising KREWITEIRE
from the passage of time 549 8,918
Net fair value loss/(gain) on interest MZRHBELNAALE
rate forward contracts (note 34(a)) BB (s ) E%E
(Fi=E34(a)) (26,238) 681
293,700 318,634

S—)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFIETHASHM
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIBEEAHMAEXTIAR AT ZEA LMRE
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of (TEmRE]) « FBEDQBMERES383(1)(@)
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the o)~ XM AEAA(FEESFMEE
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong FOROIE2H DO RENAFEEEREEST
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies A EFHT -

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

2016 2015
—E2—REF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARETT

Fees e 1,585 1,692
Other emoluments HEae
— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —HA¥H¢  EFEEA -
allowances and benefits in kind E 2B R E Y
(note (e)) (FF3EEe)) 9,995 11,941
- Retirement benefit contributions (note (€))  — R i@ Ak (B3t (e)) 280 197
11,860 13,830

=~

g\
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continuea

9. EERFEMTBAEFH@®

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
inkind contributions  remuneration
EXFE
EERH
HitrZHR
He BNRE  BRAEAMHX )
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
el ARMTT  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR
2016 —E-R
Executive directors HiTER
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu -BRHRE (@)/(e) 9 2,069 18 2,096
- Ms. Sun Yiping —FERt (a) 21 2,380 75 2,476
- Mr. Bai Ying —-ARLE 30 4,629 107 4,766
- Ms. Wu Wenting - RN L () 9 557 18 584
Non-executive directors FHTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning -EgBiE (a) 25 - - 25
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BRTEE (a) 125 - - 125
- Mr. Yu Xubo - FEEEE (@) 106 - - 106
- Mr. Niu Gensheng —HRERE 150 360 62 572
- Ms. Liu Ding -WTxL (@) 106 - - 106
- Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansent & (@) 37 - - 37
- Mr. Christine Neu —Christine Neu?t 4 (a) 37 - - 37
- Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen ~Tim Qrting Jorgensent & (a) 113 - - 113
- Mr. Filip Kegels —Filip Kegels7t £ (@) 113 - - 113
Independent BUFNTES
non-executive directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge —EREEE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt’t4& ~ (b) - - - -
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REGLE 260 - - 260
- Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew  —#AEIs& 2L 4 (@) 195 - - 195
- Mr. Liao Jianwen -BENEE (@) 184 - - 184
~ Mr. Yau Ka Chi -BRETE (a) 65 - - 65
1,585 9,995 280 11,860

S

2
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. ESRFETHAEFH@
REMUNERATION (continued)

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
E15e
EERHN -
2 R
e ENfE  RIRRNIEE i)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fizE ARBTL ARETT ARETT ARETT

2015 —T-TfF
Executive directors HITEZR
~Ms. Sun Yiping —FFErt (8) 30 8,347 98 8,475
- Mr. Bai Ying —-AREE 30 3,234 99 3,363
Non-executive directors FaTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning -EgBEE (a) 150 - - 150
- Mr. Yu Xubo -FRkEE (g) 150 - - 150
~ Mr. Niu Gensheng —4RERSE 150 360 - 510
- Ms. Liu Ding -WT&x (a) 150 - - 150
—Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansent & (@) 150 - - 150
- Mr. Christine Neu —Christine Neut 4 (@) 150 - - 150
Independent non-executive BUFNTES
directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge —EREEE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt’e4& ~ (0) = = = =
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDEE 244 - - 244
- Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew — — I3 554 (@) 244 = = 244
~ Mr. Liao Jianwen -BENGE (a) 244 - - 244
1,692 11,941 197 13,830

=7
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

R E M U N E RATI 0 N (continued)

Notes:

Mr. Ning Gaoning resigned as a director on 19 February
2016. Mr. Finn S. Hansen and Mr. Christine Neu resigned as
directors on 1 April 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Yu Xubo, Ms.
Liu Ding and Mr. Liao Jianwen resigned as directors on 15
September 2016. Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew resigned as a
director on 1 October 2016. Mr. Ma Jianping was appointed as
a director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen and
Mr. Filip Kegels were appointed as directors on 1 April 2016.
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Ms. Wu Wenting were appointed
as directors on 15 September 2016. Mr. Yau Ka Chi was
appointed as a director on 1 October 2016.

During 2016, the two directors agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB520,000 (2015:
RMB488,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned,
there was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

As of 31 December 2016, certain directors were granted share
options in respect of their services to the Group under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of which
are set out in note 41 to the financial statements. In accordance
with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent the fair value at
the grant date of the share options issued under the share
option scheme of the Company amortised to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year disregarding whether
the options have been vested/exercised or not. During 2015,
there was a reversal of share-based payment expenses relating
to the share option lapsed due to the unfulfiment of vesting
conditions under the share option scheme. The reversed share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to Mr. Bai
Ying was approximately RMB6,122,000.

9. EERFETHBAEFM@

G

FRBELER S —XRNF-ATHALBEE
FZE—H - Finn S. HansenE4 K Christine
NeuE ER T —"FUA—BHFHTES
—B > BN LLT  THRSE -WT X
TRBEEXEAR-_TE—A"FALATER
BAEEE W HREEEN TR F
TA—HHAESE B - FEFEERS
E—RNE-_A+NBEZEAESE  Tim
@rting Jergensen 5 A& K Filip Kegels 5 &
R-ZE—A"FUA—HEZTAEE &
BHREERRXELTN _T— R FNA
THERAEZAAES  BRBLENR=-Z
—RNE+A-BEEEAEE -

TE-RFE MUEFEREREHEES
e BEAHARKS520,000T(=F
—HF : ARW488,0007T) « B At &
Sh REEIEEMNEHREERELRE
HEEAM SN2k

HE-_T—XRF+-A=+—H &T=
EHEMAEERENREERRBIRE
BT B TR - FBENI R
R4 o RIREPR I RS R F 25 -
B ERAIER AR R B AR BIFT81T
NEREAREBHNAAE  FAER
REBRRATUNEE  mMTmZSER
EREERB, /11 - —T—FHFR - &
0] 2 25 R0 B8 AR 3 B B DA RS AR A R ) 2
0 TARBRETEBETHRBIRMER
BERK - BT ABLENRBRES KB
(0] i A e 1 ) 49 A R #66,122,0007T ©
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHRAEFMm

R E M U N E RATI 0 N (continued)

Notes: (continued)

d. As of 31 December 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr. Bai Ying
were granted shares in respect of their services to the Group
under the share award scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 42 to the financial statements.
In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payments benefits
represent the fair value at the grant date of the shares
amortised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the year disregarding whether the shares have been vested/
exercised or not. During the year, due to the unfulfilment of
vesting conditions under the Share Award Scheme, there was
a reversal of the share-based payments expenses relating to
the shares granted to Ms. Sun Yiping of RMB48,122,000 (2015:
recognised an expense RMB6,660,000). The share-based
payments expenses relating to the shares granted to Mr. Bai
Ying was RMB4,480,000 (2015: RMB15,806,000).

e. In addition to the above remuneration paid or payable to Mr.
Jeffrey, Minfang Lu, Yashili had an amount of RMB2,243,000
paid/payable to him as its executive director and chief
executive officer during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Two (2015: two) of the five highest paid employees were
directors whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining three (2015: three) non-
director, highest paid employees, who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

BeE - ()

d HBEZT—XRF+-A=1+—8 BFEX%
ZERABGCEFREH AN EBIRERN RS
BEARRIREREEE SR LRS-
BN ERERME42 - RIBRE TS
HEERE25 - LR AER I @
ERORBHBHNAAE imem,n

?aﬁﬁ%m%bﬂéﬁﬁ MRz ER D 2

BB 1T TN ARIREEEET
%IJT ﬁ%%ﬂ%#ﬂiﬁﬁafﬁ BB THRF
LT G AR BERAN R E R
o] AR #48,122,000c (—Z T —HF :
RERARKE,660,0007T) - BEETH
E’ef‘ﬁiﬁ’]ﬂx@%ﬁxfﬁﬁ%ﬁ’%ﬁ’]ﬁ REAA
AR#4,480,000(ZT—HF : AR
15,806,0007T ) °

e. KL skENESMELENIMNESIN
B+ FMEFREERERNERERITE
ERBHCHN BN ARE2,243,0007T °

10. AN RESHEES

hfiseHEEEEMU(ZE—HF : M
fEE - ﬁ%ﬁ{&ﬁﬁﬁﬁdﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁétxﬁ
B-AFEXNTAR ﬂﬁﬁ%_i(_“
—hHEF: ZAD)FEFE  ERHFEECGIES

HEE)NMEmT

2015
—hE
RMB’000
AREFTT

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other AEXE S - FEEF -
allowances and benefits in kind H A28 R EYFIE= 10,939 6,626
Retirement scheme contributions RINRFIFIEIHER 228 294

11,167 6,920
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continueq) 10. AV B SHEE @
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose MEF AN TEN SRS IEFESERENY
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: BT :

Number of employees

BE#HE
2015
—E—RF
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 72,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7C24,000,0004 7T - -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ 7C24,500,0007 7T - -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/ 7C25,000,00074 7T 2 -
3 3

During 2015, share options were granted to one non-director,
highest paid employee in respect of his services to the Group,
further details of which are set out in note 41 to the financial
statements. During 2015, the reversed share option benefits
relating to the share options granted to the non-director,
highest paid employee were approximately RMB8,034,000
in aggregate. The share option benefits relating to the share
options granted to this non-director, highest paid employee
are not included in the above analysis.

During the year, shares were granted to three (2015: three)
non-director, highest paid employees in respect of their
services under the share award scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements. During the year, the share-based payments
relating to the shares granted to non-director, highest paid
employees were approximately RMB3,720,000 (2015:
RMB7,323,000) in aggregate. The share-based payments
relating to the shares granted to these non-director, highest
paid employees are not included in the above analysis.

—T-RFRN AR IEEREERHE
HAEBMRSERBRE(EEFBEN
BRI AR EE)  c —E—HFAN F
BRZaeanFESEBERLERED
Bl B8 IR AR I & H 40 B A R #8,034,000
T EMAMTEREEERZER=HIE
EEREERIBRENERERET -

FR ZH(ZT—AF: ZR)EaFE
EEERERERBBEAR MR EREN
SRR BN (B EFHBEMSRERM 429
WE) TR FHEAZSEE=SHHFEESRE
BRIBMDOABRGAEROINEHEY
ANRBEZ 720,000 (ZE—FHFE : AR
7,323,0007T) o Ll p AT EBIEE R R%
EREHIEEZEERDRMOOURG BE
MRS o
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FIERXH

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on WHBighE A REMECEMRERE([FED
Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT Law”), except for certain LRREBE]) BAEBREFFARERS
preferential tax treatment available to certain subsidiaries of FTRIEERI » REBETHCEREREE
the Group, the entities within the Group are subject to PRC THREMERERHIBEIR2%(ZE—F
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% (2015: 25%) F:25%) ZHEIMPRTCEMEH ([
on the taxable income as reported in their statutory accounts ZEWRER]) EATER NIRRPE e
which are prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting KRBTSR RmE o

standards and financial regulations.

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETTT

Current income tax B EA FriS i
Current charge for the year ARFRNHAS 515,010 444,910
Adjustments recognised in the year for FRREFEHER

current tax of prior years TR EE 28,200 13,196
Deferred income tax (note 23) IEFE A8 (F17E23) (191,831) 51,932

351,379 510,038

=7

g\
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the
income tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate
for the year is as follows:

11. fIBHZH @
KEFERN  BFAIFE, (BB IRETE
BMBRZRAENMEHR YL - BB AEET
BREFSMR RAEMMEHRE I BANNT ¢

2015
—E—RF
Notes RMB’000
MisE ARBTT
Profit/(loss) before tax from REFELEER 2
continuing operations AR, (E8) (461,386) 3,080,170
At CIT rate of 25% (2015: 25%) Bo5%(ZF—HF :
25%) 1> TS
REslE (115,347) 757,543
Non-deductible items and others, net  ~AJ4KIIHIIE B &
HibCFER) (@) 553,309 (4,896)
Adjustment recognised in the year — FRFLAFFE BIFTEH
for current tax of prior years TR HY B 28,200 13,196
Effect of lower tax rates ERENE (o) (132,385) (94,433)
Effect of tax exemptions MBHE R (b) (191,709) (201,942)
Losses/(profits) attributable to RNCIN=Y Vot =P
associates (FIE) 56,369 (25,912)
Tax losses utilised from AN RS EE
previous periods (83,056) (38,357)
Tax losses not recognised RIERISE B 235,998 104,839
At the effective income tax rate of 3% (76.16%)( —Z— R F :
(76.16%) (2015: 16.83%) 16.83% ) BEBRETSHHL
Ry 351,379 510,038
Notes: BiaE
(@) Included in the non-deductible items was an item relating to (@ EIATHEMNEEHTBRE-Z—FH®

the impairment provision of goodwill related to the milk powder
product CGU Group amounting to RMB563,449,000 in 2016
(2015: Nil).

(b)  Thirteen (2015: fifteen) subsidiaries were granted lower tax
rates by the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT
law and the corresponding transitional tax concession policy
and “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of
the western China development strategy.”

Twenty-eight (2015: twenty-two) subsidiaries were granted
tax exemptions in accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of agriculture
products”.

The total taxable profits of the subsidiaries that are
subject to tax concessions amounted to approximately
RMB1,635,273,000 (2015: RMB1,102,545,000) in aggregate.

()  The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
approximately RMB7,491,000 (2015: RMB3,641,000) is
included in the share of profits of associates on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

MHERRSELEEUARIRESERE
B N R 563,449,000 ( =T — A 4F -
&) o

T=M(ZZ 5% +AME) FARER
RUBRARBEPEDEMSHE - RN
Y B ECEIE R R MR OR A E b 7a 3K
%%ﬁgﬁEﬁ%ﬂﬁzﬁkﬁ%?ﬂ%ﬁ@@%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

ZHN\E(ZE—RF : —+=ME) F27A
ERBE(AREGZIOEMESRERIE
HRE MV TEE (H17) /@MY BR
ReRH -

EEBREEENTRARNEREAHELEE
AHHARKE,635273,000c(—E—H
F : AR#¥1,102,545,0007T) °

BN R RE(E B A AR ¥7,491,000 7T
(ZZF—n% : AR¥3,641,0007T) * &t
ARRBEERMEERE ARFERA -



12. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS

HELD FOR SALE
On 29 August 2013, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding

Industry Management Co., Ltd. (“Founding”) acquired an
additional 64% equity interest in Chengdu Mengniu Dairy
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Sales”) exclusively with a view to
subsequent disposal within one year. Prior to the acquisition,
Chengdu Sales was a 36% associate of Founding. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form of
cash of RMB5,763,000 paid on the acquisition date. Chengdu
Sales engages in the dairy products trading business. The
subsidiary was acquired for the purpose of the Group’s
distributorship reorganisation. As at 31 December 2013 and
2014, Chengdu Sales was in the process of liquidation. On
15 December 2015, the liquidation procedures had been
concluded. As such the net assets of Chengdu Sales had
been classified as a disposal group in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013 and
2014, and the operating results of Chengdu Sales for the
years ended 31 December of 2013, 2014 and 2015 had been
disclosed as a discontinued operation in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2015, Yashili planned to dispose, in the
next 12 months, of Scient (China) Baby Nourishment Co.,
Ltd. (“Scient China”) and Heilongjiang Yashilli Dairy Co., Ltd.
(“Yashili Heilongjiang”), which no longer operated as at 31
December 2015. Scient China and Yashili Heilongjiang were
principally engaged in the production and sale of paediatric
milk formula products and base powders, respectively. The
proposed disposal is pursued in view of the key strategic
deployment of Yashili in the next five years, with an aim
to provide a highly efficient and modern production layout
through attaining an optimised and reasonable production
capacity. As at 31 December 2016, the negotiation for the
sale of Scient China was still in progress and expected to be
completed in the next 12 months, while the disposal effort of
Yashili Heilongjiang was temporarily ceased. As such, the net
assets of Scient China were classified as a disposal group
held for sale as at 31 December 2015 and 2016, while the
net assets of Yashili Heilongjiang were classified as a disposal
group held for sale as at 31 December 2015 and were
ceased to be classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 December 2016.

In addition, Danone Dairy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Danone
Shanghai”), an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Group,
intends to dispose, in the next 12 months, of a dairy
processing plant it no longer utilises as at 31 December
2015, which includes a parcel of land use rights, certain
production lines and related buildings. As at 31 December
2015, final negotiation for the sale was in progress. As such
the related assets of Danone Shanghai had been classified as
a disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2015. As at
31 December 2016, the transaction had been concluded.
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12.

TEAFRFENEESR

—E—=FN\AZThB RAXEEFHE
EXEHEAREEAR AR ])EEKE
SEAEHEARET AR ([AAHEE])
B4%EHE  HAREEBER —FRNHEZ
EHRE - WBERT - AKEPIHE A 21536%
MEEERE - WIENBEREUREARE
5,763,000 7T A U BE B BRI ST 1~ - AR EBSH &1
FHERRSHER - WEZTAREERSE
AEBEALCHEEEE RE—=FK =
Z-—ME+-A=+—08  RIPHEDER
TEHBERER c —TE—RAF+-A+HHE %
ANEGEHBRRTEN - MARHEHENR - —=
ER-ZE-MNFE+-A=+—HWNEEFE
REBUBEMRRARSE AR B - MAKERE
EHE = —ZT-NMFER-T—F
F+ A=+ BULFENKEEEENEZRS
BRRANEELE—BERIEEETR -

—E-RE+ZA=1+—8 - BLFtE
RARI2EAHEER=_FE—AF+=A
= t+—HTBEENHEE (PR BHTEER
mARAR([HEEFRE]) REBEIHELFZL
EAERAR(THLF(ERRI)]) - lEBHE
RHETF(RET) SR EERERERHE
BNREF D RER - EITERLESE
ENRNBETARRAFHREEERE  §ES
BERRERSEERERE—TA5RENIR
RICEERD - —E—XR"F+-_A=+—H
Dt EmE P EER - FBENARKI2(E
AR mMAEEHTH(REITNITENE
ZF o MERRNFEEN_Z—HF
FZEBE—RE+_A=+—BoEAEEE
ENREHE METF(BEIDFEER
—E-RF+ A=+ HOEAEARFE
MEEH YR_ZE—"F+_HA=+—H
TEYBEAFEFENREM -

BEAN - AEEREE T AREREILR(LE)E
RAB([ZEELEDERARR+ —_BEALE

ER-—_EBE—FAF+_A=+—BFEFEAHN
FLMINTR  BE—ELA bR -
ETEEGABEEF - —2—RF+-A
T+ HERHEETRERRER &
It - ERE ESNBEEEER S —RF+=
A=+ B2EABEHFENEER - K=
T—RNE+-A=1+—"8 ZXF2TK°
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12. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS 12. 7 EABESENEEAmw
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of disposal groups R+ A=1+t—HoEAEEFENEEMA
classified as held for sale as at 31 December are as follows: HMEIBEENBEERNNT -
2016 2015
—E—-XEF —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARET T
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB Mk 134,453 242,645
Construction in progress EETRE - 378
Investment properties "B 44,774 44,538
Land use rights 4 b {55 A 31,079 50,110
Other intangible assets HmEpEE 645 144
Deferred tax assets FETIBREE = 8,575
Inventories =g - 31,229
Trade and bills receivables JFE R 3k K =5 39 144,094
Prepayments, deposits and EAR Bek
other receivables H b B IR 10,589 6,370
Cash and bank balances Re RIBTTEF 1,080 961
222,659 529,044
Less: Intra-group receivables B EEARA B EERGUR (7,521) (144,691)
Assets classified as held for sale NHEABBEFENEE 215,138 384,353
Liabilities af&
Trade and bills payables ERERRRER 201 33,454
Other payables and accruals Hib I 5IB R IBIRE R 6,440 78,152
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEE E 2,864 5,414
9,505 117,020
Less: Intra-group payables A EEARBEEN R (1,653) (101,312)
Liabilities directly associated with Y BARBEGENEE
the assets classified as held for sale HEHEENEE 7,852 15,708
Net assets directly associated with W EAEEERN
disposal groups FEE 207,286 368,645

S—)
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2016 2015
—E-RE —E—AhF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETT

Declared and paid during the year KNEE IR AT

Equity dividends on ordinary shares  Zi@Azh% & 552,697 546,923
Proposed for approval at the AGM 122K FHEX S H &
Equity dividends on ordinary shares: I i@AZA% 2. :
Proposed final - RMB0.089 (2015:  ##k R HAA% &
RMBO.14) per ordinary share — G ER
AR¥0.0897T
—T—hHF:
AR#0.147T) (@)/(b) 349,327 549,357

Notes: B3 -

(a)  The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the (a) #RFEHARESABLARRBRELER
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming BREBEFAE([IRRBEFAE H0E -
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”).

(o)  This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the b) ZERBEIRAR-_ZT—R"F+_A=1+—

consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016 but
will be reflected as an appropriation of share premium account
for the year ending 31 December 2017.

AMEEMBREABASEE  ERRBR
RBE_Z—+F+-_A=+—HILFE
BB S E D B ©

=

g\
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. AR EE Hﬁ?ﬁﬁk@ﬁ‘iﬁﬂﬁﬁ
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY U/( =

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (a)
The basic earnings/(loss) per share for the year is
calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amount is as follows:

BREXEF,(BR)
AEEERERRFN,(BR)IRE
FRARREBEEE ARENE
(Eﬁ?ﬁ)ﬁ%%iﬁﬂeﬁéﬁ Frlg:opiik::3
FHHE

AEEREART(BE)EMAAM
TR BB BENT

2016 2015
—E—RF —=—RF
Number of Number of
shares shares
RHEE &by 4E]
’000 000
Sl Fix
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January RN—A—HBRTEER 3,923,977 1,958,591
Effect of shares repurchase 1D BB E K SH A R 2
and cancellation (5,052) -
Effect of bonus shares ARG - 1,961,292
Effect of share options exercised BT EREN R E 2,550 2,391
Effect of shares purchased RIZRE BT 2]
under share award scheme Ol BE A% D RS2 (35,300) (33,073)
Weighted average number of ordinary HEGRERNRET,
shares for the purpose of the basic (EE)TAEM T B
earnings/(loss) per share calculation N5 3,886,175 3,889,201

S
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. A RFRIEEREEAELERE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY N, (E8) @
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

/\

The diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated
by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss
per share amount presented for the year ended 31
December 2016 in respect of a dilution because the
impact of the share options and shares under share
award scheme outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share amount presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares
used in calculating the diluted earnings per share
amount is as follows:

FhEERN,(BR) DREBEFAR
NEEBREEARENE, (EE)
ARG ESRERRT,(EE)
FRER A EARNE BT E B INEFY
2o WERFAMBARBEERNE
B IR EAE ﬁéﬁjziﬁﬁﬁﬁjt 18 A Y
BB G E

BREARITENEREREGBRES
Bt 28l EE T —RF+=
A=T—RLEFEMEINERER
EBESEEEREEXE  WZFE
FI27MEeREANBE BN SRS
SHIEH B -

BE-F-aF+-A=t+—AL%
S EE RIS R AT T
IR E BT

2015
—hF
Number of
shares
S d=
000
FI%
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ & &MEARZF|FTHE
the purpose of the basic earnings per share TSEAR INAE 8
calculation 3,889,201
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, BREFANFTE B E
assuming issued at no consideration on the BT IRERE
deemed exercise of all share options during the 172 TR INRE 92
year 3,281
Adjustments for share award scheme FARE BT BIE L TR 4,761
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for T ESREERFIFTAR
the purpose of the diluted earnings per share TR INRE T
calculation 3,897,243
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.

Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land  structures  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
XAEELH EEREREN BERES WARE AE -
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥Trn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%Tn ARETn
At 1 January 2016 R=E-X5¥-A-H
Cost A 37,095 6,011,772 13,362,562 776,500 159,473 20,347,402
Accumulated depreciation ZAERAE
and impairment - (1,558,484)  (6,674,526) (363,713) (112,702)  (8,709,425)
Net carrying amount FEFE 37,005 4,453,288 6,688,036 412,787 46,771 11,637,977
At 1 January 2016, net of n=F-"E-A-B"
accumulated depreciation MREFHERRE
and impairment 37,095 4,453,288 6,688,036 412,787 46,771 11,637,977
Additions AE - 198,320 431,449 247,510 9,459 886,199
Transfers from construction BRATEETR
in progress (note 16) (B3t 16) 13625 587,802 1,150,239 41,9% 433 1,803,934
Transfers to construction BRZERETR
in progress (note 16) (MzE16) - (361) (74,124) - - (74,485)
Transfers to investment ERERENE
properties (note 17) (B3E17) - (50,621) - - - (50621)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WETFAR - 59,622 10,479 9,372 1,704 81,177
Disposals = - (111,372) (63,451) (7,345) (4,038) (186,206)
Transfers from assets of BEADEAEEEEN
a disposal group classified REREE
as held for sale - 20,013 15,840 2,009 1,061 38,923
Depreciation provided during FRTERE
the year (note 7) (M&7) - (307,768)  (1,065040)  (146,875) (16,721)  (1,536,404)
Exchange realignment 5 R 3,793 18,299 75,121 289 378 97,880
At 31 December 2016, net of RZE—F
accumulated depreciation +ZRA=+-HB"
and impairment MR ZHERRE 54513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
+=A=t+-A
Cost AR 54,513 6,671,726 14,699,828 1,017,738 158,146 22,601,951
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERRE
and impairment - (1,805043) (7,531,279) (452,055  (115200)  (9,003,577)
Net carrying amount FEFE 54,513 4,866,683 7,168,549 565,683 42,946 12,698,374

S
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% ~ BE K& HE @
(continued)
Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land structures machinery  equipment vehicles Total
AR FEREREN HERES BA%E "B b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARET:R
At 1 January 2015 RZZF-R%F—f—H
Cost KA 40,103 5,334,002 11,392,719 628,299 182,384 17,577,507
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERAE
and impairment - (1,443198)  (6,055,361) (299,519) (112,121)  (7,910,199)
Net carrying amount FOFE 40,103 3,890,804 5,337,358 328,780 70,263 9,667,308
At 1 January 2015, net of WZE-R%F—f—8"
accumulated depreciation MR BETE RAE
and impairment 40,103 3,890,804 5,337,358 328,780 70,263 9,667,308
Additions AE - 40,459 522,561 222,815 13,146 798,981
Transfers from construction ERATETR
in progress (note 16) (MzE16) = 975,415 1,927,393 14,977 2,859 2,920,644
Transfers from investment ERALEANE
properties (note 17) (M3E17) = 36,168 = = = 36,168
Acquisition of a subsidiary G- SN - - - 241 - 241
Disposals e - (61,959) (81,537) (5,875) (3,339) (152,710)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 45) & ¥/ R (fifz145) = (229) (6,117) (13,314) (535) (20,195)
Assets of disposal groups PEEREREN
classified as held REABE
for sale (note 12) (M3E12) = (176,230) (59,039) (4,489) (2,893)  (242,645)
Depreciation provided FRNHERRE
during the year note 7) (Hi&7) = (259,238)  (969,211)  (130,190) (32,663 (1,391,302)
Exchange realignment B3R (3,008) 8,098 16,628 (164) (67) 21,487
At 31 December 2015, W_E—1%
net of accumulated +=A=+-R"
depreciation and impairment MRZHTERAE 37,095 4453288 6,688,036 412,787 46,771 11,637,977
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1%
+-A=1-H
Cost KA 37,095 6,011,772 13,362,562 776,500 159,473 20,347,402
Accumulated depreciation ZAHMERAE
and impairment - (1,558484)  (6,674,526) (363,713) (112,702) (8,709,425
Net carrying amount REFE 37,095 4453288 6,688,036 412,787 46,771 11,637,977
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(@)

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with
net book values of approximately RMB184,937,000
(2015: RMB217,460,000), RMB117,245,000 (2015:
RMB65,877,000) and RMB211,681,000 (2015:
RMB42,674,000) as at 31 December 2016 have been
pledged to secure the long term payables (note 35),
short term bank loans (note 32) and long term bank
loans (note 32), respectively.

The Group leases its ranch facilities included in
property, plant and equipment with a net book value of
approximately RMB7,564,000 (2015: RMB127,011,000)
to independent third parties under operating lease
arrangements, with lease terms ranging from five to
eight years (note 48(a)).

15. ¥ - BMERRE@®

(@

AREBEFR_ZT—XNE+ =
A=Z+—BEEFEHARE
184,937,000 L(ZF—HF : AR
217,460,0007T) + AR¥117,245,000
T(ZZE—HF : AR¥65,877,000
TR AREE211,681,00000( —FE—H
£ AR¥42,674,0007T) V% -
EREHEEEIRAERASEESK
HA e~ RRIE (Bt 5E35) ~ M HIRITE X
(FIsE32) R EARITE K (FIFE32) /Y
G o

AEEREBEGCEHEZERE TB
VEZHFHAEEINADE  BE R
RENPIS R ENREEFEOARE
7,564,000 (=T —HF : AR
127,011,0007T) * HEABAFEN
F(HzE48(a)) °

16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EEIRE

Movements of construction in progress are as follows: AEBMEETIEEBHUOT ¢
2015
—E—hF
RMB’000
AREFT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREE 900,939 2,030,097
Acquisition of subsidiaries g S/NC] 130,627 -
Additions during the year FRRE 1,976,081 2,311,753
Assets of disposal groups classified SHERBEFENEE
as held for sale (note 12) HEE(ME12) = (378)
Transfers from assets of disposal EBEESEARFEREN
groups classified as held for sale BEHREE 41 -
Transfers from property, HEAYE  BEK
plant and equipment (note 15) =i (MIsE15) 74,485 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 45) HEF 2R (KI7E45) = (267,693)
Transfers to property, HESYE  BEK
plant and equipment (note 15) =i (MIsE15) (1,803,934) (2,920,644)
Transfers to other intangible assets EREFAMELAE
(note 20) (H$7£20) (5,010) (133,518)
Transfers to land use rights (note 18) B2 1 b {5 PR (BT RE18) - (41,807)
Impairment (note 6) BUE (FisEe) (1,712) -
Exchange realignment b AR 327 (76,871)
Carrying amount at end of year FIRERE(E 1,271,844 900,939
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17. REWE

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTTT

At 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—8 - fIRRFHTE

depreciation 20,078 103,814
Additions during the year FRRE 550 -
Transfers from property, EBEAWE  BEK

plant and equipment (note 15) B (MIsE15) 50,621 -
Transfers to property, BEEYE  BEK

plant and equipment (note 15) B (MIsE15) = (36,168)
Assets of disposal groups classified SERBEFENEEAR

as held for sale A= = (44,538)
Disposals HE (1,306) -
Depreciation provided FAFTERE(HET)

during the year (note 7) (2,457) (3,030)
At 31 December, net of Nt+=—A=+—8 -

accumulated depreciation MR E 67,486 20,078
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H
Cost BXAR 75,032 23,894
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (7,546) (3,816)
Net carrying amount REFE 67,486 20,078

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined
by the directors of the Company, based on the market
approach with reference to market transaction prices of
similar properties, taking into account other factors, i.e.,
characteristics of the properties and locations, was estimated
to be approximately RMB94,566,000 as at 31 December
2016 (2015: RMB28,547,000).

BREMEAABR-_FT—R"Ft+-_A="1—
Bt &89 AR%94,566,000t(ZF—H
F: AR%28,547,0007T) * ZAAEHNK
RAEEREMSERSEZRBUNENTS
RHEREE - YEREMEAE  IYE
FrE MIEE -

-

g\
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Fair value hierarchy

17. REVZE @)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

DIREEBR

TR FEAKERENEN A ENE

S

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2016 using

R-B-AE+ZA=+-HEANAAEE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
SERT IS
wE
(F—%)
RMB’000
AR¥ETT

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
BEATEE
BAHE
(F=&)
RMB’000
ARET T

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
E-DEIE
BAHE
(B=H)
RMB’000
ARBT T

#st
RMB’000
ARBT T

Fair value measurement for:

BTGB IAR

AA(EFE
Commercial properties [ElERES - - 94,566 94,566
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2015 using
RIE-—RF+-_RA=+—BERNAKEHNE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 8) Total
B BT 5 ERAER EARTAEHE
BE BASE TN
(F—R) (E=H) (EF=H) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
Fair value measurement for: &t 5| & IBHY
NAEHE:
Commercial properties Sl ES - - 28,547 28,547
During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 FR - MEBEBAE=HHXEE=REH (=

(2015: Nil).

S

)2

T-hF8)-
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18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. LT ib{EFE FAE
2015
—E—hF
RMB’000
AREFIT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYREE 908,368 1,073,291
Transfers from construction HEATREIRE
in progress (note 16) (FfizE16) = 41,807
Additions during the year FARE 46,285 17,093
Acquisition of subsidiaries g S/NC] 76,555 -
Transfers from assets of disposal EBEARATEN
groups classified as held for sale REHEE 2,578 =
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) & T AR (M5E45) = (141,651)
Disposal k= (3,716) (6,057)
Assets of disposal groups classified DEARBEFENEEM
as held for sale BE = (50,110
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7)  FF RsHi2#E 84 (FHEE7) (24,760) (26,005)
Carrying amount at end of year FRERME 1,005,310 908,368
Current portion included in prepayments, SARBEERFENK -
deposits and other receivables under e & E M REWRIER
current assets (note 28) BNERER 5 (F5E28) 21,516 19,688
Non-current portion JEBNHEREL o 983,794 888,680
1,005,310 908,368

Certain land use rights of the Group with net book values of
approximately RMB21,867,000 (2015: RMB9,485,000) and
RMB93,215,000 (2015: RMB23,454,000) have been pledged
to secure the short term bank loans and long term bank loans
of the Group, details of which are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

AEBFRmFESN AR 21,867,000 7T
—E—RF : AR¥9,4850007T) & A
R#93215000 T (—ZFE—HE : ARK
23,454,0007T) W E T L RAEEEA
AEERH RITERRRARITEZTHK
- BEF SRR FmERMES2 -
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19. GOODWILL 19. B
2015
—E—RF
RMB’000
AR¥ETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HBHHERARE 5,850,599 5,837,501
Acquisition of subsidiaries i /N 930,713 13,098
Impairment during the year (note 21) FRRE(HFE21) (2,253,794) -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—BHEKRmE 4,527,518 5,850,599
During 2016, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned subsidiary —E-RFAR - ARAREEAFS1.01%
of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex BENFLARIBTINKEZE %P S
China. The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of EERTRE o EIEEKIK ﬁ%&iﬁ%)\ﬁwf
RMB718,476,000. Further details of the acquisition are 718,476,0007C © Y iEHE — Z B &N B 15

included in note 44 to the financial statements.

During 2016, Linxia Yiging Muslim Food Co., Ltd. (“Linxia
Yiging”), a 70% indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired a 70% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging Food
Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia Yiging”) from Inner Mongolia Fuyuan
Farming Co., Ltd. (“Fuyuan”), an associate of the Group, and
acquired a 30% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging from
independent third parties. The business acquisition gave
rise to goodwill of RMB48,452,000. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 44 to the financial statement.

During 2016, the Group acquired an additional 87% equity
interest in Shanghai Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Mengniu”), in which the Group originally had an equity interest
of 183%. The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB125,212,000. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 44 to the financial statements.

During 2016, the Group acquired nine other subsidiaries
from third parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
the sale of dairy products. The total purchase consideration
for these acquisitions were in the form of cash of
RMB40,638,000 paid at acquisition date. These business
acquisitions gave rise to goodwill of RMB38,573,000 in total.

During 2015, the Group acquired an additional 72%
equity interest in Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Wuhan
Mengniu”), in which the Group originally had an equity interest
of 28%, from an independent third party. Wuhan Mengniu is
mainly engaged in the sale of dairy products. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash of
RMB40,103,000 paid at the acquisition date. This business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB13,098,000.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the goodwill was tested
for impairment (note 21).

WERMIFEA4 -

T RFR - AR EIHEEREAT0%RER
FRAAGES EFERMERAA(RES
B AAEEREATNE S S EHEER
BEARAI(ERDEEAZTES ERMAR
REI[AREET0%MKAE - LABULE=
FHENERSE0%RE - RIEXBKEE
AR E ARA48,452,0007T © W — ¥
B =B T AR i 5E44 o

ZE-RNER - AEERELERGHESR
RARI(I EESRE])EEINSTR I E (KNEE
FRRZARIEB13% M) - SIEEBUWE
EEEEARE125212,0007T © WEHE—
S B E TSR R 5E44 -

—TREFER - AEERFZSREBEMA
Fﬁ%ﬂaoﬁt—r%ﬁjf—gﬂfﬁ%ﬁﬁ 7 &

cFWEMBAWEBREARESFE AL
ﬁ RULEE B Hﬁszﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬂo 638,0007T ©
W E W IEE £ E LA RES8,573,000

JT °

“E—RF  AEBER—BBIE=ZFWK
ERESZFIEER AR (RESF])E
INT2% BT HE (AR E B[R R 5% A 83 B 28%
BEAE) s UESRF T BHREHEIARG - K
BARENIRS AR 40,103,000 7T 73 Uk &
BHS RBEEBERBEEAREARE
13,098,0007T °

%:?—ﬁiﬁ:k—£¢+ A=+—
B EITRERE (FFEE21) ©

ﬁw
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. HihEmFEEE
Movements of other intangible assets are as follows: HEthEmpEEEHmT
Patents and Computer
licences  Trademarks software Others Total
BRRATE (G £ Hitr st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR
Note a Note b
Hizta Hiztb
Cost at 1 January 2016, net of iy Rl =i
accumulated amortisation RECNE - 3N 2T 1,803 1,542,259 175,296 11,660 1,731,018
Acquisition of subsidiaries W AR - 301,155 93 75,952 377,200
Additions NE - - 10,922 - 10,922
Transfer from construction EheiEIR
in progress (note 16) (HizE16) - - 5,010 - 5,010
Amortisation provided FNEHEES
during the year (note 7) (FfzE7) (644) (1,560) (34,161) (1,538) (37,903)
At 31 December 2016 RZBE-—R"E+-f=1—H 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RE+-A=1+-FH
Cost BUR 51313 1,857,064 247,014 91,142 2,200,533
Accumulated amortisation KETEH (4,154) (15,210) (89,854) (5,068) (114,286)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,159 1,841,854 157,160 86,074 2,086,247
Cost at 1 January 2015, net of R-ZE-nE-A-H"
accumulated amortisation I NEREI): S 9,605 1,543,819 53,757 13,194 1,620,375
Additions NE - - 7,737 - 7,737
Transfer from construction BRAEETR
in progress (note 16) (MzE16) - - 133,518 - 133,518
Disposal HE (3,333) = (3,184) = (6,517)
Assets of disposal groups classified A AR AEER
as held for sale (note 12) REREE(12) = = (144) = (144)
Amortisation provided ERHEE S
during the year (note 7) (Wf37) (4,469) (1,560) (16,388) (1,534) (23,951)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE-RF+ZA=1-H 1,803 1,542,259 175,206 11,660 1,731,018
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RF+-A=1—H
Cost A 5,336 1,565,909 232,599 15,195 1,809,039
Accumulated amortisation S £ (3,533) (13,650) (57,303) (3,535) (78,021)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,803 1,542,259 175,296 11,660 1,731,018
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueaq)

21.

Notes:

(@)

IMP

There were five trademarks: a trademark acquired in 2007
at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at cost less
any impairment losses and was amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years; four
trademarks acquired as part of business combination in 2010
at RMB174,219,000, in 2013 at RMB1,366,000,000, in 2016
at RMB283,047,000 and RMB18,108,000 respectively, which
were regarded as having indefinite useful lives because the
trademarked products are expected to generate net cash
inflows indefinitely. As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the
four trademarks with indefinite useful lives were tested for
impairment (note 21).

Others represented the exclusive right of distribution channels
of RMB78,147,000 acquired as part of business combinations,
and the customer relationships with an amount of
RMB13,000,000 acquired as part of a business combination in
2014. They were stated at cost less any impairment losses and
were amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives ranging from 10 to 15 years.

AIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Good

will and trademarks with indefinite useful lives acquired

through business combinations have been allocated to the
following cash-generating units (the “CGUs”) or groups of
cash-generating units (the “CGU Groups”) for impairment
testing:

liquid milk products CGU Group excluding Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”) CGU Group;

ice cream products CGU Group excluding Yiging CGU;

milk powder products CGU Group;
low temperature products CGU Group;
Junlebao CGU Group; and

Yiging CGU.

20.

21.

Hib\BEEEMT @ @

Bt

(@)

FAEEERAE: —EAR-ZZTEFEK
N AR #15,600,000 7T W BE - 2 Ak A
ER AT ARERKYERNEGER
HEF A FERAFH-F&E  DERNA
¥BAH B DRR=ZZTE—ZTFK
—E-=FYUARKE174,219,0007T & A
R #1,366,000,000 T Wi - UER ==
— N LA R #283,047,0007C & A R &
18,108,000 C W % - W iR E mIE AR Al
LERBELEFHSRAMEE AHESE
RAEREH R RNER-ZT—F
F+-A=+—8 LarEEREHH
AEZEEETRERH (MiE21) -

HMEIEAXBEMHN —D - LARE
78,147,000 L WEH DR EEZHE - I
FRIEBEBEMH—HH  RZZT—TFMNU
AR 13,000,000t HENEFBE - #
SRR TREBEIRLHBEEN
T10E16FENHTAIERFHRERESE
B o

BB &R F HE R AR E RS

BREBAFDRSHEERERFHBHRE
PEETIReELBEU(ReELEM])
SRS ELEMARN(ReELEMAR])
TERERI :

RENERREEBVEMN(ARHE
BREIXBRAR(IELE DR
EE BRI -

HEMERBEEEMARN(ZER
SEEEMERIN)

PERRESELEMAR
EREmMRSELBMAR
BRELcELEMAR &

TEHeELEM -



21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives before
impairment provision allocated to each of the CGUs or CGU
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21. BERERFHBHFENRENS

(&)

PEESREELBUNRNEELSEMAR
H R (L 18 4 BT 7 N SR R A 3 R HA R AR A0

Groups are as follows: FERE N
Ice cream Milk powder Low temperature

Liquid milk products products products products Junlebao Wuhan Mengniu* Yiging Total

RENER KEHER hER EEER B4R BEgs gk &3t
215 2015 2015 215 2016 2015 215 2015 2015
i it 3 i it 3 5-1f ZE-nf el CF-1E it 3 i it 5-1f
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 SGILEHNUN  RMB'000 [GLUEAINR  RMB'000 SGLIELIIN  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR Pdell ARSETT AEETR DRSS ARETT ARETT
Gooduwil g 344316 167433 23865 230865 5938828 5220347 = 142,563 142563 283293 283293 - 13008 48482 - 6,781,312 585059
Trademerks #iE - - 1649047 1,366,000 174219 174219 - 18,108 - 184137 1540219
344316 167433 23865 230865 79587870 6506347 142,563 142563 457,512 457512 - 13098 66,560 - 8622686 7,390,818

* The goodwill allocated to Wuhan Mengniu CGU in 2015
was reallocated to liquid milk products CGU Group due
to the Group’s reorganisation.

The recoverable amount of each CGU or CGU Group has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
each CGU or CGU Group for 31 December 2016 and 2015.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

a)  Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margin achieved in the three
years immediately before the budget year, adjusted
for expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to
the actual data of the past year of countries from where
raw materials are sourced.

fOERAEESE T -RFESRT
RESGAReELBUNBEEND
RNERRESELBMAER -

fit ¥R AE
ERESELBENSBCELBMAR MK
Bl e BENESREIREABIAER AT RTE
BB AEE  RERSREEATERT
BEFEREETUETE -

HE T RNER_TRAFE+_A=1—
BEBcELBMKIREEEBMMERNE
AEERKALETER TEEREERE
TERETEERENAMKENSEEER
REFMAAT

BEENX-ARETEEEHNXE
ENEENEXBEFEN =FEH
B FEFRE - 3 F IR REER T
K FEER A E A ANIE N7 T LAGE R -

a)

EMHEREY -2ZRHARBER
EFEEREUE -

=7

g\
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21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 21. BERERFHBENRENR

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE (1)
LIVES (continued)
c)  Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax )
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs or
CGU Groups.
d)  Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate d)

the cash flows beyond the five-year period are based
on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and
the medium or long term growth target of each CGU or

WRE-FARFTRETIHAL RRAE
BReEABMRRELEEGAR
B E LR ©

BEX-AREERAFHUNRRESR
EMERE - IAREMNGEFIER
RREE  WEBTFRERE - BHE
RKERERSELENSRTELSE
AR REER B RAEMRT -

CGU Group.
The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the ARESAsBANTEREBARAERL
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five- BN REHEMNERERDOT

year period are as follows:

Discount rate Growth rate
gk BRE
2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-AF ZE-0F ZB-AE —E-1F
Liquid milk products CGU Group BENERR S E BT 11.40% 10.36% 4.0% 4.0%
Ice cream products CGU Group KERERRSELEMAR 11.27% 10.53% 3.0% 3.0%
Milk powder products CGU Group ~ fihERR &£ ER A7) 12.16% 11.85% 3.0% 3.0%
Low temperature products CGU Group 1XBE w3 £ E £ B 16.75% 16.19% 3.0% 3.0%
Junlebao CGU Group EHERSELEMAR 14.71% 14.53% 4.0% 4.0%
Wuhan Mengniu CGU RERTREEEEN n/a 12.67% n/a 3.0%
TER TER

Yiging CGU SERSELEN 13.63% n/a 3.0% n/a
TER TER

S—)

2




21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
LIVES (continued)

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

During 2016, due to the deterioration of the performance
of the milk powder product CGU Group, the directors have
consequently determined to recognise an impairment loss
of the goodwill directly related to the milk powder product
CGU Group amounting to RMB2,253,794,000 (note 6). The
recoverable amount of the milk powder product CGU Group
amounted to RMB7,544,021,000 as at 31 December 2016.

The sensitivity analysis for the milk powder product CGU
Group on the key assumptions used in the calculation of
value in use, taken individually, gives the following results:

Reasonably possible change

Annual Report 2016 —Z— NFEF
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21.

2 KR F B R RE RS

(&)

TERRNEEEIPBURIIR 2 -

—E—RFERN PHERBEESELEMER
REAR EEHERREEREEBIHE
ﬁiﬁiéiﬁﬁiﬂﬁuE’Jﬁ%)ﬁﬂﬁréﬂé}\Eﬁ%
2,253,794,000 7T (Hf7E6) ° T—RF
+=-—A=+—H" ﬁﬁ%&uuﬁi%iﬁﬂ%ﬂ
BIE AT U [l & 58 A A R 7,544,021,0007T °

EFEREENTANEIERRSaETH
MHERRESELEMBRHRESTER
N

Additional impairment

BETHERE HIMEE

RMB’000

ARETT

Revenue growth rate Decrease 2% 642,919
WA R 2%

Gross margin rate Decrease 1% 639,273
ESVAIES B 1%

Discount rate Increase 1% 1,044,822
RS 12 901%

Except for the milk powder product CGU Group, in the %%:mﬁfr BROMERRESEEELMMAR

opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s or CGU Group’s
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

S - EETE IR Bl 2 BB AT AR E B RERAERM]
éf@Tﬁ%i‘é@JT\@%ﬁlfﬁﬁF ABUSNRS
EABMARNRAEBREATKRE SRR -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REE N TINIRE
2016 2015
—E—-XEF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Share of net assets B FEE 3,042,538 3,096,322
Goodwill on acquisition IWEEIES R 1,089,561 1,089,561
4,132,099 4,185,883
The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances 7R B LA N A 2 [ RO FE MR SR A R
with associates are disclosed in note 50 to the financial REESRB TE MR sES0P HE ©
statements.
Particulars of the material associate are as follows: EEBEQRFBOT
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registrationand interest attributable to
Name issued shares held business the Group (indirect) Principal activities
R AN REBEENRE
&R BEEERTROFESE EEHY BA(EE) FTEER
2016 2015
bt T
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (i) Ordinary shares of Cayman Islands 25.4% 25.4%  Production and sale of milk
HK$0.1 each
HEIBRRAERRBRAR) FREE0ETH REHS 25.4% 254% EERMEED
0] Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member (i) 9&%@%&;‘%?*%‘% B = 7% P sk &2 ok 2 2R 48
firm of the Ernst & Young global network ARHE MR B A RIEZ ©

S

2
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea) 22, REEQNFINKRE @
China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material associate PEBERNERSE AEANEEESER S NG
of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group mainly EBREETENRERNEENKIHERNSR
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of raw milk and is BENRE - SWIAREZSEALR o

accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRIWRPEHBEARHENTEERBE (5
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its financial EHBERE > TRENKEBIRHEEE
statements, adjusted base on the fair value valuation of its FEBEBEMNARBEMERARE) NEZE KR
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date, reconciled to the REEMEEREER -

carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETTT

Current assets mENEE 3,552,655 2,952,869
Non-current assets ERBEE 14,027,737 14,351,989
Current liabilities mEEE 7,825,119 7,238,778
Non-current liabilities ERBEaE 2,860,689 2,319,026
Net assets BEE 6,894,584 7,747,054
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEE R AR R (101,383) (168,135)
Attributable to owners of HBIR AR

China Modern Dairy B AENL 6,793,201 7,578,919

=7

g\
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 22. NEHE D RINRE m)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

REEREZRANEEARNT

2016 2015
—E—REF = S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AE BB ERTL LA 25.4% 25.4%
Group’s share of net assets attributable to  ZN£E &5 (HH4 2 A &)
owners of the associate, B ANEREEFE -
excluding goodwill TEEEE 1,726,152 1,925,803
Group’s share of net assets of an unlisted REB DB ZE ATREA
domestic subsidiary of the associate, —MEFELETFRFA
excluding goodwill BEFE  TEEDE 90,507 110,879
Goodwill on acquisition IWESIES A 1,048,421 1,048,421
Exchange realignment PEE 5, 3 £ 301,224 107,560
Carrying amount of the investment HERMEE 3,166,304 3,192,663
Revenue W A 4,862,311 4,826,341
Profit/(loss) for the year REFE(ER) (785,495) 343,718
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEEEmWKEERE (E1B)
for the year (785,495) 343,718
Dividend received B E = 13,843
Fair value of the Group's investment REBIKENRE 2,302,911 2,269,785

TRETAEERE AR (ERNMELTE
RN G E R (8B ERKERERE
fRB) -

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material extracted from their unaudited management
accounts:

2016 2015
—E-XRF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ ANEEE|pABEE N AR E HY
investments in the associates BRE(EEE 965,795 993,220
Share of the associates’ revenues DG E R R AR T R
and profits/(losses): w0, (&) -
Revenues WA 1,001,752 1,696,500
Profit/(loss) for the year REFHE,(&EB) (10,093) 43,760
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for FEE2EmKE(EE)
the year ekl (10,093) 43,760

S

2




22.

23.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

All the above associates have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain
associates because the share of losses of the associates
exceeded the Group’s interests in these associates. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of
these associates for the current year and cumulatively
were RMB47,752,000 (2015: RMB31,377,000) and
RMB117,447,000 (2015: RMB100,888,000), respectively.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are
as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Notes

22.

23.
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REEQATNRE @
LHFEBE AR CRAER ARG KR
FANEE - AEEERIEERENGET
BENRNER BARGEBHEARNE
BHRBAEBREE QAT NELR - RAF
B AEEAEREEZEHEARNE
BREFFEED B ABAREA7,752,0007T
(ZE—FHF : AR¥31,377,0007T) & A
R#117,447,000c (—ZE—RH4F : AR¥
100,888,0007T) °

IEEBL IR
FREEREAEZBMT -

BIEFSREE -

Tax losses Write-
available for ~ downof  Provision
offsetting inventories  fortrade Impairment
future tonet receivables of property, Un- Share
taxable realisable andothers plantand invoiced  Deferred award
Deferred tax arising from: profits value receivable equipment  accruals income  scheme Others
TE#ER% EWESR
ERBAEN MAREZE  HMEW 9% BE  ABREZ ZER
BB - REGE WERRE IR RRERE WERER  ELW 8l Ht &t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETZ ARMTR ARBTn ARETz ARMTR AR%TR ARBTn ARMTR
At1 January 2016 \ZE-E-R-A 141,435 5970 523 724 104,304 38,302 3,228 13,048 307,534
Acquistion of subsiciares W T A F(Hiad)

(note 44) 33,323 - - - - - - - 33,328
Exchang alignment A% 1,720 - - - - - - - 1,720
Credted/(charged) to BRREE/ (XE)

proftt orloss 58,744 3,516 12,312 439 38,236 50,627 14,747 7925 186,546
At 31 December 2016 RZF-AETZA=T-R 235,200 9,486 12,835 1,163 142540 88,929 17,975 20978 529,123

=

g\
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. LL&IEU‘E
The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are FRREHBEEZHNT : (B)
as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax assets: (continued) BEFSHERE : (8)

Taxlosses Write-
available for downof  Provision
offsetting ~ inventories  fortrade  Impairment

future fonet  receivables  of property, Un- Share  Derivative
taxable  redisable  andothers  plantand invoiced ~ Deferred award financial
Deferred tax arising from: profits valle  receivable  equipment  accruals income scheme  instruments Others Total
A% EUWEHR
ERWAEN WAREE  AbER NR BRE  REGER RE  fite@
BIREHARE - WEER WEREE FUERE RRBEE HERER BN £EE IR -0 @t

RVMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RVBOOD  RMBIOOD
ABRTTL ARBTL ARBTL ARBTR ARMTR ARMTL ARMTR ARMTR ARRTL ARBTR

At 1 January 2015 R-2-18-f-H 2211 48,55 8,068 1,333 201,134 34,216 18,739 1,257 18,407 379,910
Assetsof disposel  AEAREREN
goups clessifedas  REHEE(H3E12)
held for sale (note 12) (7,851) (@) (253 - - - - - - (8,575)
Chagedtoother  Ef2ENERRE
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (1257) - (1,267)
Creaitedcharged) o~ BEARE/(38)
profit or loss 121,075 (42,114) (1282) (609 (122,830) 4,086 (16,511) - (6,359 (62,544)
At31 December 2015 H=B-1%
tZA=t-H 141,435 5970 523 724 104,304 38,302 3,228 - 13,048 307,534
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be EIE TR BIR 2R F 2 A 1) g ) IR E AR AR
available against which the above tax losses and deductible B - ] AR LA 0 _E i R TR RS 48 I AT H10R D

temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. MER -
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. EEHIE @)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of EETRIBEEN ARG 518 B /R -

the following items:

2016 2015
—E—RE —T—hfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) AR B K BE B AE O R TE SR () 1,362,175 751,934
Deductible temporary differences R ER 223,678 770,507
1,585,853 1,522,441
() The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years ()  ERBIEEERRAUEEAREEEER
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in BERTFERZHE -

which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect FERIBEEWE S E M F AR
of the above items as it is not considered probable that tax AR AR LR A A Fil KBS AR FHIE R
profits will be available against which the above items can be o AREE B -t AT HR R R = A
utilised. The approval of tax authorities would also be required MBS TR ISR RO U ©

to utilise the above deductible temporary differences by the

Group.

The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the year FRELEFMSHABELBHT

are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments
acquisition of of financial
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments

LU ST
ARENDRE EMIAMN
EERERA : e DRERR Aft @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R

At 1 January 2016 W-B-—xE—F—H 72,213 3,059 718 76,050
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ BzALE /(LE) (17,537) 4,455 (778) (13,860)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"F+ZA=1—H 54,676 7,514 - 62,190

=~

g\




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIR4AE£GR AT

Notes To Financial Statements Bi7&sR XM

23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) jﬁﬁﬁlﬁi(g)
Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustments
acquisition of of financial
Deferred liabilities arising from: subsidiaries instruments Others Total
WETFR
TFEE@AM SRIAMN
EILEARERE - HE ARERE Hft @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2015 R-—E-—HF—F—H 84,240 7,804 32 92,076
Assets of disposal groups NEAREREN
classified as held for sale REREE(M12)
(note 12) (5,414) - - (5,414)
Charged/(credited) to BREAXER/(CR)
profit or loss (6,613) (4,745) 746 (10,612)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ—hE
+-A=1+—-H 72,213 3,059 778 76,050

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2016, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s other subsidiaries located in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB12,591,481,000 at 31 December
2016 (2015: RMB11,038,475,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

RIBPEEEMETE - NP BARERIZH
SNEEERAIEREES /)fEE’JH“ BABK
10%TEMNH - BHERTA-—FTZT/\F—A
—BERER WEAR-_ZFTELF+ A
=+ BRERAELENEF o i EINEER
BEMBRIEEER <FTERBIHE - RIF]
BREEENRREY - AEENERARER
5%310% ° AUt ZKE@M?JEE%%EMJ
REKRZHNFRAR-ZEZTN\F—H—Hie
MBI IRE S FTH TR

—E-XE+-_A=+—08  TARAEH
iz FA AR B K BE R E A T2 B Y R BE H & A
MEMMENHEEREMEEHRIBAE - &
BERE ;%2%27%7%%1 oIk 28 F1 Y
AIREHRK - —E—ARF+_A=+—H -
& R ph B R P Iﬂ*%@ﬂm&’éﬁafﬁmﬁ
FHEZRAARRECHEEESEOAR
#512,591,481,0007(ZF—HF : ARM
11,038,475,0007T ) °

MR R 2N R A 1) EL IR 3R S AT A 8 T B A B P
BRER -



24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
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24, £YEE

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are milk production
companies that principally engaged in the production
and sale of milk. Dairy cows are primarily held to
produce milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by the
Group and the output of milk at the end of the reporting
period and during the year are shown below.

ARBETFRARTPHEELE
TEREFMEN - AFEEIRFHA
EENZA - REBERREHRIF
NEENI T HERENHEWT -

2015

—E—RF

Head of

dairy cows

LA (38)

Milkable cows e 10,172 3,989
Heifers and calves NS RN 14,602 10,284
Total dairy cows L1 24,774 14,273

Milkable cows are those dairy cows that are held for
milk production. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows
that have not reached the age that can produce milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
the heifers reached approximately 14 months of age.
After approximately a nine month pregnancy term, a
calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw
milk and the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is
typically milked for approximately 305 days before a dry
period of approximately 60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce milk, it would be
transferred to the category of milkable cows based on
the estimated fair value on the date of transfer. The
sale of dairy cows is not one of the Group’s principal
activities and is not included as revenue. The sales of
dairy cows are determined based on the actual selling
prices.

D RFIEEDRENILE - NF
RN B RBIE T

—BERT  NEFEREEH T HE
AAREEE - HNEAZEBE - )
A AFRREERY - WELE
Fta o N BESEINAI05K © 2%
HEAKIBOKEFLE -

NEEAFIRER - FIRER A B0
(CEIAPHIE B ES YRSVl I o
EXHAKENEEXHZ— T
FEAMA - A HEIRIEEREE
M °
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 24- EWEE(E)
(A) Nature of activities (continued) (A) FEBMHE @

2015

—ZT—hF

Tonne

A

Volume of sales of milk produced FTEEE 59,808 26,128
The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from $E.7¥<£§L%zuuﬁ*§lﬂ§bﬁﬁﬁim
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does ARnERRE - ANEETE quECEJEH%ﬂE

not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will IEREBRIGABTE®K - A2

decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the ERR - WEAH E’MTEI/EJZ$E
directors of the Company are of the view that there B 7] DART M A H & 49 7] A3 DAY Il 2L

is no available derivative or other contracts which the LUMER TEA R o
Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in
the price of the dairy products.

(B) Value of dairy cows (B) H4EHE
The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting WEARNILFEE :
period was:

Heifers Milkable
and calves cows Total

PRERNF nBE L

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARMT T AR®BT T

At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—XRF—H—H 182,488 107,335 289,823
Increases due to purchase B U B 388 0 69,737 - 69,737
Increase due to raising EESE (FEK A X

(Feeding cost and others) HAth) g hn 153,175 - 153,175
Transfer ) (193,507) 193,507 -
Decrease due to sales A & &R (848) (6,805) (7,653)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes $L4~ /A 7 (B $5 & A AR

in fair value less costs to sell B EE A Mz

of dairy cows (note 6) (E518) (Fi7E6) 31,033 (56,729) (25,696)
At 31 December 2016 RZZT—ARF

+=-A=1+— 242,078 237,308 479,386

S

2
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continueq) 24. EYPEEm@m)
Heifers Milkable
and calves cows Total
IINEFE RN e @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT ARMETTT

At 1 January 2015 R-_ZE—HF—HF—H 108,571 51,700 160,271
Increases due to purchase A Uk B 382 N 74,606 1,886 76,492
Increase due to raising AESE(FEK AKX

(Feeding cost and others) Hfth) 3% hn 78,812 - 78,812
Transfer B (63,415) 63,415 -
Decrease due to sales HER (3,004) (3,425) (6,429)

Loss arising from changes in  ZLA2A A EREE S KA
fair value less costs to sell of B EEEMEE

dairy cows (note 6) (Mi5E6) (13,082) (6,241) (19,323)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE—FF
+=-—A=+—H 182,488 107,335 289,823
The Group’s dairy cows in Mainland China were valued REBRTPBERENIFEBILA?
by an independent qualified professional valuer. The BEEGEMMGE - MAURETSE
fair values less cost to sell of the heifers and calves are B N FERNFERA R ER D ESK
determined with reference to the market-determined KBE2EFR - miERESEIE
prices of items with similar age, breed and genetic MMIEENMISEEETE - AREZE
merit, if the market-determined prices are available. Due BENERTISER  HERMEER
to the fact that the market-determined prices of milkable FIREE U EZFHEENAARE
cows are not available, the valuer has applied the net D E R o

present value approach to calculate the fair values less
cost to sell of these items.

Certain dairy cows of the Group with fair values less RZZE—R"F+ZA=+—H K&
cost to sell of approximately RMB51,810,000 (2015: Nil) BETIAFNARBERLEKEL
as at 31 December 2016 have been pledged to secure AR #¥51,810,000t (= — A F :
the long term bank loans of the Group, details of which /) ZRBEEERERAEEN R

are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. IRITER - 5N P ERKRMTES2 -
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continueq) 24, EYEE @)

The principal valuation assumptions adopted in applying FEAFREEZIZFEANETEEERRK

the net present value approach are as follows:

° The quantities of the existing dairy cows at the
end of the reporting period will reduce at a certain
culling rate due to the natural or unnatural factors;

o The culling rates adopted are based on the current
available breeding data of the Group and future

operating plans;

° The quantities of cows will increase as calves are

born;

° The expected average prices of milk during the
six projected lactation periods are estimated after
taking into account certain percentage growth,
future demand and inflation in the PRC for each

projected year;

° The cash flows for financing the assets and
taxation are not included as required by IAS 41

Agriculture;

° Costs are average costs based on historical cost

information; and

° The discount rate used was 12.52% as at 31

December 2016 (2015: 12.83%).

SR

s REEPRNABENFTHEKA
RBEANIEBARE RN IR R (EE
KRR -

o« FRAEAETERAKEA A
RS S VR

g

o MERERENFENE

s ERBERAFEETERES
b~ RO Sk e BB AR SR A AT
A7 fE T FLER TR BRI A0 TR
HISF 1%

o  WERBBREGENFIRL
X ABERBBERTEESHR

Sy

o AENBEKRERETFHEK
ZANEY

e R-TE—RFE+-HA=+—H

FrRFIREA1252%(—F—H
£ :12.83%) °
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 25 Hitem&EE
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT
At fair value through other U RAARBEFEEEES)
comprehensive income: SARMEmEmINE :
Hong Kong listed equity BARELERNES
investments in YuanShengTai ARG E (a) 78,592 89,484
Hong Kong listed equity TAR B EHH B
investments in China Shengmu ARG E (o) 519,003 413,740
597,595 503,224
At fair value through profit or loss: NARBEEAHE
FFAEE ¢
Unlisted equity investments FEETRAIKRE 38,529 42,012
Short term unit trust investments RS (EFEIRE () - 70,000
Long term unit trust due R—EREER
within one year REBEFERE () - 100,000
Short term investment deposits RERE TR () 4,139,490 5,049,039
4,178,019 5,261,051
At amortised cost: RESHRAS
Long term entrusted loans REBZTER (e) 101,930 120,736
Long term entrusted loans R—F A2 EHY
due within one year RERAER (e) 56,247 36,234
Long term receivables RE U GRIE () 123,689 53,149
Long term time deposits EHEHRER @) 1,633,938 1,608,795
1,915,804 1,818,914
Total other financial assets EfemEERRR 6,691,418 7,583,189
Current pinEd) 4,195,737 5,255,273
Non-current FEMED 2,495,681 2,327,916
6,691,418 7,583,189

=7

g\
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continuea)

Notes:

(@)

On 25 November 2013, the Company acquired 172,275,000
shares, representing a 4.41% equity interest, in YuanShengTai
Dairy Farm Limited, a Hong Kong listed dairy company,
with approximately HK$469,831,000, equivalent to
RMB369,396,000. Management designated the equity
investment as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009)
on 1 January 2014, as management considered it a strategic
investment for the purpose of securing high quality raw milk in
the long run. The fair value of the listed equity securities was
determined by reference to published quotations. A decrease
in fair value for the year ended 31 December 2016 and an
accumulated decrease in fair value as of 31 December 2016
with amounts of RMB10,892,000 (2015: RMB13,802,000) and
RMB290,804,000 (2015: RMB279,912,000), respectively, had
been recognised in other comprehensive income.

On 25 May 2011, the Company acquired a 5.81% equity
interest in an unlisted dairy company with approximately
HK$125,322,000, equivalent to RMB98,531,000. Management
designated the equity investment as a financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon
initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as
management considered it a strategic investment for the
purpose of securing high quality raw milk in the long run.
The equity investment was subsequently converted into
269,865,600 shares in China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(“China Shengmu”) upon China Shengmu'’s initial public
offering on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 15 July 2014, representing around a 4.25%
equity interest in China Shengmu. The fair value of the listed
equity securities was determined by reference to published
quotations. An increase in fair value for the year ended 31
December 2016 and an accumulated increase in fair value as
of 31 December 2016 with amounts of RMB105,263,000 (2015:
a decrease of RMB103,248,000) and RMB420,472,000 (2015:
RMB315,209,000), respectively, had been recognised in other
comprehensive income.

25. EthERMEE @)

e

(@)

—E—=F4+—A=-+HH AXRQA
LA %9 469,831,000 8 L (HHE R AR
369,396,000 ) * WE—MEFBE LWH
ENARAERBKESRRAF72,275,000
B - (EE441%MHE - R=F—HF
— A BHEXRERAEERYEHREEDNE
FR(ZETENF )R EEESZERSE
REETEAUAAREFEAEEHT AR
HEERENEREE  LIIAREEE
RAEEBR —HEKBIRE  §EEBRE
BRIHREMEE - ZSLTRAZES
MARBENRLEMDNGREETE - &
E-ET—RE+ZA=+—BLEEERQ
AERD AR¥10,892,000T(—F—H
£ AR%13,802,0007T) R ZZF— X
F+-A=+—HARBERHFRL AR
#290,804,000 L (ZF— 1 F : AR
279,912,0007T) * BEREM 2 FEUREER -

—E——FRA-+FHRB  AEBIN
#7125,322,000 B T (HHE R AR K
98,531,000 T ) i — I LmILE QA
581%E - R—_ZT—MNFE—F—HEKX
ERBRBYEREERFEIR(ZFEZAN

F)R - BEEEBZBARARKREEE RN
AREFEEEEHA AL MR EKED

CREE HWITAREEEBRAEEBR
—ERERE  EEERELERNNE
REE - NPBEEREEDEBR A A
([PEEH )R- NE+A+AA
EEABARIMABRABERERNAH
BER ZERAREHBEBAETEH
B2 #7269,865,600 A% A% 17 + 1k 7 B 22 4K 47
425%0HE - ZE L TTRABFNAARE
TR EMANHBREMEE - BHE-Z
—NE+-A=+—BILFEEQIALEEM
AR#105,263,0007t(—ZF—HF : J{HD
AR #103,248,0007T) - WERHE=-Z
—RNET-A=Z+—HRAABERHEMNA
R#420,472,000L(ZZE—HF : AR
315,209,0007T) * B R EA 2 ERESFER ©



25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueaq)

Notes: (continued)

()

The Group from time to time purchases various unit trust
investments for treasury management purpose. As at 31
December 2015, the Group held unit trust investments of
RMB170,000,000, with no guaranteed return amount. The unit
trust investments as at 31 December 2015 had been settled
when due during 2016.

Included in the above balances, an amount of
RMB170,000,000 was invested in trust units set up and
managed by an affiliate of a substantial shareholder of the
Company as at 31 December 2015.

The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management
purpose. As at 31 December 2016, the Group held investment
deposits of RMB3,839,490,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB4,749,039,000) with guaranteed return amounts and
short term investment deposits of RMB300,000,000 (2015:
RMB300,000,000) with no guaranteed return.

As at 31 December 2015, investment deposits amounting to
RMB100,000,000 were pledged for the Group’s issuance of
letters of credit.

Entrusted loans represent the Group’s loans to certain dairy
farmers via banks. The above entrusted loans are unsecured,
with annual interest rates ranging from 4.75% to 8.96% (2015:
5.58% to 6.90%). As at 31 December 2016, these entrusted
loans were neither past due nor impaired and had no recent
history of default.

Long term receivables represent the receivables arising
from disposal of certain property, plant and equipment to
independent third parties. As at 31 December 2016, those long
term receivables were neither past due nor impaired.

The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at 31
December 2016 varied from 2.94% to 5.23% (2015: 4.25% to
5.60%) per annum and would mature in two to five years.
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25. HtbEMEE @
BisE : ()

()

REEIEAEBEEENBEAZBEN
FARE R-ZE—AF+_A=+—
A AEERBEIRRELRSEMHEN
ZFEIRE AR #170,000,0007T e R =&
—RAFE+ A=+ HHNEMETERED
R-E—RFEIHEEE -

Fuliger - e AR 170,000,0007TE
R-ZIEBE-—RFE+-_A=+—BEERHAX
NAFERRNBBRARRLEEENE
FLEAL -

AREBMABAEEKEEB MR/ ERT
BAZEEEER RZT—XE+=
A=+—0 AEEFEBEXEREDR
G BB 17 3k A K % 3,839,490,000 7T
(ZZ—FHF+=-A=+—H: ARK
4,749,039,0007t) * AR TRREL HE
R A 52 B 4% & 77 3 A R 300,000,000 7T
—ZT—h%F : ARK300,000,0007T) °

R-T-AE+-A=+—B  REEK
AR #100,000,0007T B A A4S F 3
H RO PR IER -

RAEREAEERBRTAE THER
HOER - U ELZEEFBEEER - 75
ENF4.75%E8.96%(—F—hHF :5.58%
£6.90%) R -E-—RFT-_A=+—
B ZEZRAERERBRTERE L
HAPMEE R AR

RHERRBRERHESTYE  BER
RETBIFE =T MELENERFR - ©
“E-RE+ZA=+—B  ZERHE
WOERIR L S 28 H TR AL E ©

RZBE—AR"F+-_A=+—H8 RHTH
FHROEBRFERNEN T2.94%E5.23% (=
T—FE : 4.25%%5.60%) @ WERRE
AERTIE -
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26. INVENTORIES 26. 78

2016 2015
—E—RE = S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREBFTT

Raw materials R 2,007,684 3,464,868
Finished goods ERK 1,306,598 874,638
Total inventories at the lower of A AR B A IR SR E A
cost and net realisable value RIEEFENTERSE 3,314,282 4,339,506
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an HBREMINTEMREEAARK
expense was RMB129,857,000 (2015: RMB43,806,000), 129,857,000 L (ZF —HF : AR
which was recognised in other expenses (note 6). 43,806,0007T) * W E B A (M6 ) F i
7
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. BWRAREE

2016 2015
—E—XF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Bills receivable FEER 212,780 191,462
Trade receivables FE U BRTX 2,198,968 1,500,562
Impairment HIE (71,649) (74,267)

2,340,099 1,617,757

S

2




27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq)
The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers which
is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of provision, is as follows:
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27. ERERA KR EE @
AEFBBLTEFPEBEEERE WAl
BEBERLTHAE AEBZYBEaERE
B o BB b CPTI N ARG B Y FE BR 3R
HERAETRBINEEER  MTEEXNE
BEERERE AEETESREREWERES
AR FE R EMEERA - BRI E
A F B o

RERR - HRBEO RIS R RE
REZBHNREONIDT

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Within 3 months =EAR 2,041,533 1,389,573
4 to 6 months e EPS 224,670 94,581
7 to 12 months +E+ =R 63,584 50,881
Over 1 year B —F 10,312 82,722
2,340,099 1,617,757

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade FEWERFOREREZ ST -

receivables are as follows:

2016 2015
—E—XE —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
At 1 January Hn—HA—H 74,267 159,826
Impairment losses recognised EERBEREE 51,292 7,235
Amount written off as uncollectible Iy =N E ik € = el (33,253) (7,933)
Assets classified as held for sale NERBEFRENEE = (906)
Impairment losses reversed VERIEY =t 24El (20,657) (83,955)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 71,649 74,267

=~

g\
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continuea) 27. BWERARREE @)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB67,314,000 (2015: RMB68,598,000)
with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of
RMB215,617,000 (2015: RMB148,148,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
those were in financial difficulties or were in default and only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

The aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are
not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

T EWRERFRERET BE —EERR
B FE W BR M) B 18 A R % 67,314,000 7T
—ZT—FRF: AR®6E8,598,0007T) ' 7%
BREKERRABEINOEDAEAAR
#215617,000 L (Z T —HF : AR
148,148,0007T) °

{8 1) A 1 M B ok P A B 75 R 3R s B 3R
BROEFERM  BHZERKKIASTRA
YmlEBsy -

{18 7| 25 48 88 25 177 72 60 5 P e F) B KR BR SR
FEREBROIRE DM T

2015

—T—hHF

RMB’000

ARBTT

Neither past due nor impaired B AR BH TR E 2,132,649 1,468,323
Past due but not impaired BRI EERE

— Within three months —={EAR 23,365 64

— Over three months —=@AMNE 5,453 1,149

2,161,467 1,469,536

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

As at 31 December 2016, none of bills receivable were
endorsed by the Group (2015: Nil).

ARBHMERENEBEARRBEERAE
TRBHNEPAR - RERIITHL EIER
FIHRLER ©

B RSB 0 2 ol (B ) A BR R I SRR B B
EBIEFER ZEEPRAEERNER
IrEAERCER - RIEBERLR  ARRIEER
REFAZEEHHIRERE  SEEE
B EWEANKNEE MERKRDRUKAR A
2HE -

RZZE—R"F+ZA=+—H  ~EEHE
BEANRKRER(ZZ—RHF &)
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28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  28. fa{Y® ~ & R HEMEWFIE
RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARETT

Deposits e 47,601 90,882
Prepayments AL 1,257,546 955,110
Value-added tax recoverable AR NI ERL 346,978 343,993
Other receivables H bW sRIR 919,953 591,654
Corporate income tax recoverable AR ZEFSH 37,624 53,797
Land use rights — current portion - fP A 4 — BIEREE
(note 18) (FF5E18) 21,516 19,688
Long term prepayments (note a) REFB A (FisEa) 88,959 195,498
Total prepayments, deposits and other BA® - Ze R
receivables E e IE A RE 2,720,177 2,250,622
Less: Long term prepayments — non-current 3§ : &= EATEH 5k — SERNER
portion (note a) B (MizEa) (15,566) (91,738)
2,704,611 2,158,884
Note: BffsE -
(@ The Group had entered into long term raw milk supply @ AEERERETHEBINTAATIRARH
contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In HIMEEEN - BRIEZEEH  AEEH
accordance with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw RORM 2 A GRS BT RIS -

milk supplies for the next two to five years.

=~

g\
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29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS

29. RERBRITEFREMER

2016 2015
—E—REF = S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents TIREREIRERE
as stated in the consolidated FIRE RIS FEY
statement of cash flows 3,355,537 6,833,608
Pledged deposits REFESENK (@) 960,863 722,402
Restricted deposits S2PR B 17K (b) - 40,229
Time deposits TE AR 4,348,479 2,666,195
8,664,879 10,262,434
Less: Short term pledged deposits ¥ : $R1TB1E A9 HA
for banking facilities REBETFR 30/32 (960,863) (722,402)
Less: Long term time deposits A REIE TR 25 (1,633,938) (1,608,799)
Cash and bank balances as stated IR 4E 4 B3 AA R 7=
in the consolidated statement of MRS RIBITER
financial position 6,070,078 7,931,237
Notes: Mz -

(@)  As at 31 December 2016, the Group s pledged deposits were
for the following bank facilities:

@ R-F-—RE+-A=1+—R AKEH
EERERRATRITREFL

2016 2015

—E-XxF —T—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Pledged to secure bills payable (note 30) IR AT FE A< 2 4R (M9 3E30) 137,136 107,089
Pledged to secure interest-bearing bank IR ARG BRITR

and other borrowings (note 32) HAbEE (H7E32) 811,271 522,538

Pledged to secure letters of credit IR A EBZERE 12,456 92,775

960,863 722,402

(b)  As at 31 December 2015, the Group held a prepayment
amounting to RMB40,229,000 from a potential buyer intending
to acquire certain property, plant and equipment and land
use rights of Danone Shanghai (note 12). The amount was
deposited in a restricted bank account and would only be
released upon the conclusion of the translation.

S

2

b) R-E—RE+-_A=+—8B FKE£EHF
EH—ZRWEEELENETYE &
BREEAR T HFERENBLTERI N
78 5 3K B 8 A R #5 40,229,000 7t (B 5
12)  ZERECFEA—EZRFMRITR
B iR e E KSR R R o




29.

30.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS continuea

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB5,196,478,000 (2015: RMB5,986,347,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and five years depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:
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29.

30.

BHERBTEEREMER@®

RERERR - AEERRS RIBTETUA
REABEMNSELHARYKS5196,478,000
T(ZZE—RF : AR®S5986,347,000
L) c ARBIWIATEARLBRAHEMER -
SR - AR IR R B K B A OB B 1R (S ) e A
& EERMEEEBRT  ANEBEEER
EEEETINEEFMIRT  SARBER
BEMEE

RITFFRBETISFEREE o EREHRTIR
FAKENSREFRMENF—BER
FHNRRFRBFR - ARIREE BT RH
KR - ROTEEFRFRESFRDFRRE
BRI B BT R ERAIRTT o

AR R EE
7 g B R K S SR B 3R L B AR
T :

2015

—ET—hF

RMB’000

ARET T

Within 3 months ={EAR 4,733,321 4,005,836
4 to 6 months M= 5@ A 638,773 602,214
7 to 12 months +Z=+={@A 23,768 29,781
Over 1 year B —F 9,758 6,467
5,405,620 4,644,298

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

AEENENERREER RS NARE
SKREERFEIE
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30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES continuca
Included in the above balances, bills payable with an
aggregate balance of approximately RMB345,704,000
(2015: RMB325,446,000) were secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to approximately
RMB137,136,000 (2015: RMB107,089,000) (note 29). Except
for the above, bills payable were unsecured, non-interest-

31.

32.

bearing and payable when due ranging from 3 to 6 months.

30. ENBRAKEE @)
Friiezmb  BEHBEHARYE
345704000 T (ZZE—HF : AR®
325,446,0007T) KM BN RIE AR S B S T15
KA ANRE137,136,000t( S —H
£ AR®¥107,089,0007T) (M35 29) fEK
WeopElEN  BNERAERITRE

B YRR =FEARNDIEH -

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. EMENFERERES
2016 2015
—E-AF —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Advances from customers KERPER 1,717,628 1,106,731
Salary and welfare payables Bt &€ M EHE 911,725 653,617
Other payables HAb T FIE 3,881,533 3,229,176
6,510,886 4,989,524

The Group’s other payables are non-interest-bearing and

AEBE RN FIAR R L KA EZ R

payable on demand. FEE
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER  32. st ESR{ITREME
BORROWINGS
2016 2015
B~ —Z-n%
Maturity ~ Fixed rate Floating rate Maturity Fixedrate  Floating rate
)] BEER=E FEFE Elil= kit SR
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMBO0O
AE®TT ARETR ARBTT ARETRH
Current Bk
Short term bank loans, secured BHROER 2017 135,000 768,091 2016 501,696 =
BER “Z-tf ZEE
Short term bank loans, unsecured ~ EHRTER - 2017 1,558,061 444,000 2016 5,397,321 150,000
BER “Z-tf ZEE
Current portion of long term REBTEFNHDH 2017 7,566 32,400 2016 = 19,000
bank loans - secured -BHR E-tf Y3
Current portion of long term REBTEFNHDH 2017 - 100,299 2016 - 12,734
bank loans - unsecured —miER E—tF “ERE

S

2
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32. iFERTREMEE@®
BORROWINGS (continued)

2016 2015
ZE-RE —Z-hf
Maturity ~ Fixed rate Floating rate Maturity Fixed rate  Floating rate
3%A BERI% RER= il [ElE A% EE Lk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARMTR ARBTT  ARETR
Non-current FHH
Long term bank loans, secured REROER - FER 2019 14,018 40,000 2019 = 60,000
“B-hE ZENE
Long term bank loans, secured RESTER 58E 2021 - 117,600 = = =
—EC-&
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ RERSRITE - BIER 2030 68,000 = 2030 68,000 =
ZEZEF “T=%F
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ RERRITER - EEA 2023 - 179,650 2023 - 196,500
—EC-=E —E-=F
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ REIRITE - EEA 2020 = 130,000 2020 = 60,000
b S 23 S 213
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ RERSRITE: - MIER 2019 - 1,390,903 2019 = 21,701
“B-hE —I-NE
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ EERSRITE: - MILIR 2018 150,000 - - - -
—B-N\E
Long term bank loans, unsecured ~ RERSR/TES - MILIR - - - 2017 - 1,340,034
“E—tF
US$500,000,000 3.5% bonds RZZ-=F%1H 2018 3,451,992 - 2018 3,223,276 -
issued in 2013 500,000,000% 7T Z8-N\% it 2yit:2
ZBERISNMER
5,384,637 3,202,943 9,190,293 1,859,969
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 32, : B8 TREMES @
BORROWINGS (continued)
The repayment schedule of the interest-bearing bank and HESRTREMEENERBHOT -
other borrowings is as follows:

2016 2015
—E—REF —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

Within 1 year —F R 3,045,417 6,080,751
1 to 2 years —EMF 3,601,992 1,340,034
2 to 5 years MERF 1,692,521 3,629,477
Over 5 years RFLAE 247,650 -
Total interest-bearing bank TERITR
and other borrowings HihEEw%Es 8,587,580 11,050,262
Less: Amount due within one year B EFARBIAED
included in current liabilities —F R B HiFRIE (3,045,417) (6,080,751)
5,542,163 4,969,511
Notes: BIsE -
(@) As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group’s interest- (a8 RZEBE—REFEER_ZE—RF+_A=+—
bearing bank and other borrowings were secured as follows: B ANEBEMNFERITRAMEERRE
ST

2016 2015
—E—XE —T—hF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT

Secured by pledged deposits LAR 35 & 15 5135 1 699,317 461,696

Secured by dairy cows, land use rights and MAELA ~ B RER
property, plant and equipment Y - BB KRR 415,358 119,000
Unsecured IR 3 7,472,905 10,469,566
8,587,580 11,050,262

S

2




32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:
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32. iFERTREMEE@®
BiEE < ()

(o) AKEATIEEHENGBIRTREM
EERREENT

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT

Hong Kong dollars BT 69,325 901,452
United States dollars Ev 5,605,820 6,897,340
Euro BT 14,899 28,934
RMB AR 2,897,536 3,222,536

8,587,580 11,050,262

(¢)  The floating annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
and long term bank loans varied from 1.50% to 7.18% (2015:
from 1.81% to 9.47%), which were determined based on the
interest rates announced by the People’s Bank of China, Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the London Interbank Offered
Rate.

The fixed annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
varied from 1.15% to 6.63% (2015: from 1.20% to 6.90%). The
fixed annual interest rates of the long term bank loans varied
from 1.20% to 7.93% (2015: from 1.20% to 6.72%).

(d)  On 27 November 2013, the Company issued five-year
bonds due 2018 with an aggregate principal amount of
USD500,000,000 at 99.456% of the face value. The bond
bears interest from and including 27 November 2013 at the
rate of 3.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on
27 May and 27 November each year.

33. OTHER LOANS

() REBRTEREEHBITERNZHFEF
IR EARBITAMHOFE - HERT
RAEFKERGBRRITRAZFEEEAN T
150%E2718% (ZF—HF : 1.81% =
9.47%) °

EHETERNEEFEFNEN T1.15% =
6.63%(—ZT—FHF : 1.20%£6.90%) °
RHBETEROEEFEMNEN T1.20% =
7.93%(—ZE—AF : 1.20%56.72%) °

d RZT—=F+—A=++tA8 AQEHF
TZZE—\FHHONAFES  ~&8%E
7% 99.456% [H {E #9 500,000,000 % JT ° &
FEBH_T—=F+—A=-+tR(REE
A)BIRFEFER35%:E - RAA=++H
E+—AZ+t+tHE¥+FERE—X -

33. HttEX

2016 2015
—E—RF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETTT

Short term loans HHIE

52,559 43,915

Other loans are unsecured and interest-free. There were no
repayment terms for the Group’s other loans.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

H ERRERRL RS - AEEREMER
I IR KA o

HtER2MH T E I BAE R RXFA
SEETHEZERTREEERE MR

=7

g\




234 & 6 6 cChina Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIS4HEFR AT

Notes To Financial Statements B # 3R & KisE

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

S

)

34. fTE€mI A

2016 2015
—E-RF —T-RF
Assets Liability Assets Liability
BE =L BE afE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥ETH NGNS S
Forward currency contracts = HIOMNES 4 (@) 2,640 - 5,011 -
Interest rate forward contracts F|&izHIE 49 (a) 23,078 - - 3,160
Commodity futures contracts 7 REIE A 4 (b) 10,783 - 5,933 -
36,501 - 10,944 3,160
Notes: FisE
(a) The Group has entered into various forward currency () AKEEFUZERAINESLHEFERER
contracts and interest rate forward contracts to manage its HAEXNERHERRZSHMERR - %
exchange rate and floating interest rate exposures. These ERBEOWIFBEEL AL - DiEA
forward contracts are not designated for hedging purposes AREFABISHE - BHINESH A AE
and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Net fair BiIEEEARK2371,000t (2 —F
value loss on forward currency contracts of RMB2,371,000 F 0 AR¥E12,444,00070) A FERNIER A E
(2015: RMB12,444,000) was recognised in other expenses b8 A (Ki3E6) - FIERRMAN AR ERE
during the year (note 6). Net fair value gain on interest rate FEEARM26,238,000t(ZE—HF : 2
forward contracts of RMB26,238,000 (2015: net fair value loss A EE B FEARKE681,0007T) R F AT
RMB681,000) was recognised in finance costs during the year RAEBERA(HIEES) -
(note 8).
(o) To manage its price exposure to future purchase of ) AHAEERREEIREARME(HE

2

commodities as raw materials, such as white sugar, palm
oil and raw milk powder, the Group entered into various
commodity futures contracts. The Group accounted for
these commodity futures contracts at fair value with changes
recognised in profit or loss. During the year, a net fair value
gain of RMB13,567,000 (2015: RMB11,986,000) was credited
to cost of sales (note 7).

B SRR R RE) (ERRRE - A%
EFVZEAMBEAYN AEEBLSE
PARHEAHNRAREE  MARER
BEANIBEAER - FR - AAERKE
EEEARM13,567,000t( —F—HF © A
R #11,986,0007T) B 51 A4 E A A (B 5
7) 0
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35. LONG TERM PAYABLES 35. REIEFRIA
The Group’s long term payables represent the amortised NEBNREHENFIBIEBAGSEE EERE
costs of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase DEIT AT RIBREEA AR - BIEPTFERM
of production equipment. The effective interest rate used for BRMNERATIGHER - GRAGSHEIEIN
the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The T ¢

balances are repayable as follows:

2016 2015
—E—XEF —F—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT

Within 1 year —F R 57,111 70,622
1 to 2 years —EWF 25,773 45,312
2 to 5 years MERF 11,141 23,087
Total long term payables KA RIBERE 94,025 139,021
Less: Amount due within one year B EF AR A &S
included in current liabilities E A RIER
under other payables —F AN EIHIFIR (57,111) (70,622)
36,914 68,399
Long term payables are secured by the Group’s property, REEMNFIEARNEENYE - BERZE
plant and equipment (note 15(a)). RS (B5E15()) ©

=~

g\
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36. DEFERRED INCOME 36. EEWA
Various local government authorities have granted ZEMFRNE BEERAERRZTFETY
certain property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil ¥ WMENSEE AEESTFTVE  BEL
consideration, have provided finance to the Group for the SEAAEEREES R SRS EBES
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment, and/ NAAEFIRERE @ EAEEFIBIRSIE
or have financed the Group by way of a cash donation with AN (WERSBEINAS S TEE) M
certain conditions attaching to these cash donations. Both EEIRERE - WE  MELRENEEE
the property, plant and equipment and grants are recorded SRR ESE o It ERBS YRR
initially at fair value. These grants are initially recorded as BIELEIA - B35 TWE - MENRZEERE
deferred income. The grants relate to certain property, plant HNEESIRI S EFREANE - MER
and equipment are amortised to match the depreciation HEMITEAIEN A BEHESER
charge of the property, plant and equipment granted or FHABEGY o R ERFTMI AR (e AR S
purchased in accordance with their estimated useful lives. The IS EEE R @R ANE B ED| T
cash donations with unfulfilled conditions or contingencies are B EBZSNIER - ENZ&SHEE I
only recognised in profit or loss when the Group satisfied the T
attached conditions. Movements of the balances during the
year are as follows:
2015
T —hF
RMB’000
ARBTT
At beginning of year F4) 348,768 294,014
Received during the year F R Y ER 357,204 137,693
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) HEF AR (MFE45) - (50,000)
Amortisation during the year (note 5) FREE (FFE5) (37,494) (32,939)
At end of year FIR 668,478 348,768
Current portion BNEAZE > 135,093 45,652
Non-current portion JERNEAEE 533,385 303,116
668,478 348,768




37. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
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37. HtFRBERmEE

LIABILITIES
2015
—T—hfF
Notes RMB’000
FiEE AREFIT
Present value of considerations BR—FE A
arising from business combinations 784 G E £ &Y
to be paid beyond one year REEEJE (@ = 9,451
Present value of redemption amount  A] 8B Al Sh &
for potential acquisition of puttable 3Hﬁﬂxﬂx$% =)
non-controlling interests Erol$EHEAE (0)/(c) 2,143,378 2,634,485
2,143,378 2,643,936
Notes: PaE

(@)  As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of the considerations

with the contract amount of RMB10,000,000 to be paid
beyond one year arising from the Group’s acquisition of
Oushi Mengniu at the acquisition date was remeasured to
RMB9,451,000. The amount was settled during 2016.

According to the equity purchase agreement entered
into among the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling
shareholders of Junlebao, the Group granted a put option
to the non-controlling shareholders under which the non-
controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the Group
has an obligation to buy the 49% equity interest in Junlebao
in the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018.
During 2016, the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao
did not exercise its right of selling the 16.33% equity interest
in Junlebao. At 31 December 2016, the Group derecognised
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of
RMB186,425,000 (2015: RMB478,814,000) and recognised
the present value of the amount payable upon exercise of the
option of RMB312,705,000 (2015: RMB683,147,000) as a
financial liability and accounted for the difference in equity.

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone
Asia Pte”) dated 9 August 2013, an option was granted to
Danone Asia Pte to terminate the equity joint venture contract
and sell the entire Danone Asia Pte’s Stake to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu at the exercise price within a 15-day period at the
beginning of each biennial (2-year) period from the seventh (7th)
anniversary of the relevant closing date under the amended
and restated framework agreement, subject to compliance
with the then applicable laws and regulations (including the
Listing Rules) by the Company, including the then relevant
Listing Rules in connection with connected transactions. As at
31 December 2016, the Group derecognised a non-controlling
interest of RMB581,912,000 (2015: RMB550,112,000)
and recognised a present value of the amount payable
upon exercise of the option of RMB1,830,673,000 (2015:
RMB1,951,338,000) as a financial liability and accounted for
the difference in equity.

R-_Z—RAF+-_A=+—8" IZJ&EI
WEBESREMBAR —FEIANA
%E/\Eﬁéﬁ0,000,0007zz1t1?‘:W$zE%E,HE
/Aﬁ%é%ﬁﬁ%?%AEﬁ%gAa ,0007T ° &
BORZZ—NFERBEHE -

BEREE  BLERELENIEER
BRITCHBREREDRZ  AEEMIFE
TRERFHRAE - Bt HEZZ
—RNF T+ FER-T-)\F+=A
=+—HLFE  FEBRBREFELER
REEESTHEEBLETIONEE —F
—NEFERN - BRERNIEERBRE N ARITE
HHEEFLE16.33%RENERN - R=ZF
—RNEF+ZAZ+—HB  AEERIEER
JEIERR IR R R AR I (B A R #5186,425,000
T (ZE—RF: ,AEM478814000
TL) o WHERBTERGEREMNS
BEBEARKES12,705,000T (=F ﬁ
£ AR#683,147,0007T) - WiE=5Est
AREaR ©

BIEANZZ4EDanone Asia Pte Ltd
( [Danone Asia Pte] ) s B A=
—=FENANHWNEERKESR - Danone
Asia PteEX —IHEER  7JELBET R

BRI AIEZ Tﬁ%%*ﬁfﬁx%ﬂﬁiﬁit(?)%@i
B EMQ)FHEMABREBIGARNKILES
BREASR - Iﬁiﬁﬁ{*ﬁmggtﬁﬁﬁ
Danone Asia PteZ ZBIXHE « AR A WAZAE
BTERNBRENEER (BE MR
Al B9REE - @%ﬁ%ﬁ%tﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁé@%@
?&%E’]%ﬁm E/\ /\E‘f’ H_‘f’*
A $‘EIMM§E IR RS AR
#581,912,0007C (ZE—HF : AR
550,112,0007T) - IHERILI T IE 2R
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ’ﬂ%%ﬂﬁ%fﬁﬁ}\ﬁﬁﬁ,830,673,000
T (ZE—RF: /\E?%H 951,338,000
JT) - WA ERERT AR ©
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38. SHARE CAPITAL

38. lRA&

2016 2015
—E—XE = S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Authorised: VERE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SAEEC. B Th TR 565,022 565,022
Number of
ordinary shares
ZEREE
’000 RMB’000
T AREF T
Issued and fully paid: BETRETE
At 1 January 2016 NZZE—XRF—H—H 3,923,977 357,262
Shares issued under the equity- BRI AR 2R
settled share option scheme AR AT BB 1T AR (D (a) 7,166 635
Shares repurchased and cancelled A& 15 B8 0] K 7t 8 (b) (6,116) (623)
At 31 December 2016 R=ZT—RF
+=-—A=+—H 3,925,027 357,374
Number of
ordinary shares
ZEREE
Notes ’000 RMB’000
et F & AREFTT
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—RF—HF—H 1,958,591 196,246
Shares issued under the equity- RIBE AR AT A
settled share option scheme IR RERT BB TR (@) 4,094 329
Bonus issue BITHIRR (© 1,961,292 160,687
At 31 December 2015 R-_ZE—RHF
+—RB=+—H 3,923,977 357,262

S

2




38- SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

39.

(@)

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 41 to the
financial statements.

During the year, an aggregate of 6,116,000 shares were
repurchased and cancelled by the Company, resulting in the
decrease in share capital of RMB523,000 and share premium
of RMB57,619,000.

On 30 October 2015, an aggregate of 1,961,292,388 bonus
shares were issued by the Company on the basis of one share
for every one existing share held as of 19 October 2015.

OTHER RESERVES

The movements of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 117 to
118 of the financial statements.

During October 2014, Yashili, China Mengniu
International Company Limited. (“Mengniu International”)
and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone
Asia”) entered into a subscription agreement pursuant
to which, among other things, Danone Asia had
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and Yashili had
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074
subscription shares (representing approximately 25%
of the entire issued share capital of Yashili as enlarged
by the allotment) at the subscription price of HK$3.70
per subscription share. On 12 February 2015, the
conditions precedents of the subscription agreement
were fulfilled and the allotment had completed. As a
result, the interests of the Company in Yashili (through
its shareholding interests in Mengniu International) were
diluted from approximately 68.02% to approximately
51.01% without loss of control. The deemed disposal
was accounted for as an equity transaction, and as
a consequence the difference of RMB961,804,000
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests were adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration received was recognised directly in equity
as a reserve.
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38.

39.

NE )
B3 -

(@ AREEEES B RREZABIBETHORE
PR RHIE RIS B T 3R R 741 ©

b) FA - AREERE KLEHES ££6,116,0000%
B 5 - BEUR AR AR E523,0007T &A%
1358 AR #57,619,0007T °

© RNZF-AFTA=1+H XAAFRER
—E-AETATNABERAE KRS
BT —RENAMEE A HET
1,961,292,388A%ATA%

H i

7452 0 B s T AN I OB T MO
B BN BREE TS EANGS
HEEBEN -

RZE—NFE+H - HETH - AE
SHEBREBRAA(TRFERE]) S
Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.
(['Danone Asia]) FT S RIB % « &
Ik (L Fh B ) Danone Asiaf 1§14 R =
RERETHNEGER B RIET
1,186,390,074 A% 3R B8 A% 17 (1B & P48
fo S R 1B 0 = A 2 50 2 TR
#125%) - REERTRABERKMNI.70
BT RZE—RAF-_A+=H R
Bz R EER - BRR#ET
B o Bt - AR FGEBE N R ERR
B AR ) A THE - I B 1 55 EB 4068.02%
BEE451.01% -+ M0 8K K%
#oZBREALEFRRERS @ &
It - AR IR AR R R M B 2
BN AR EETEARKEE1,804,0007T
EEENERERARE -
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39- OTHER RESERVES (continued) 39- Eﬂﬂﬁ{%(ﬁg)

On 31 December 2014, China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an equity interest transfer agreement to acquire an
approximately 6.6862% equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Mengniu from the sellers at an aggregate consideration
of approximately RMB2,505,732,000 in form of cash
within 10 business days of the obtaining of the approval
of the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. On 26 January
2015, the transaction was completed and the interest
of the Company in Inner Mongolia Mengniu was
increased to approximately 99.9775%. This acquisition
was accounted for as an equity transaction, and as a
consequence the difference of RMB1,890,606,000,
representing the amount of the fair value of the
consideration over the amount by which the non-
controlling interests were adjusted, was charged directly
in equity.

Junlebao, an indirectly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an equity interest transfer
agreement to acquire an approximately 48.7784%
equity interest in Baoding Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd.
(“Baoding Junlebao”) from an independent third party.
On 18 January 2015, the transaction was completed,
which resulted in the increase of Junlebao’s interest
in Baoding Junlebao from 50.92% to 99.70%. This
acquisition was accounted for as an equity transaction,
and as a consequence the difference of RMB5,187,000,
representing the amount of non-controlling interests
adjusted, over the fair value of the consideration paid,
was credited directly in equity.

Inner Mongolia Mengniu, an indirectly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an equity interest transfer
agreement to acquire a 48% equity interest in Beijing
Mengniu Hongda Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Hongda”)
from an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of RMB264,000,000 in form of cash. On
26 December 2016, the transaction was completed,
which resulted in the increase of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu’s interest in Beijing Hongda from 52% to
100%. This acquisition was accounted for as an equity
transaction, and as a consequence the difference of
RMB185,494,000, representing the amount of the fair
value of the consideration over the amount by which the
non-controlling interests were adjusted, was charged
directly in equity.

RZE—NFE+=ZA=+—0 " AR
7] & & ¥/~ a)China Dairy (Mauritius)
LimitedfT M IR EEZEHZE - LAE S
BB NS 54 #16.6862% % 1 - IR &
RES HEH A ARY2505,732,000
JC B EER G R BRIt
XE+ELE¥EBRINN - R_F—Hh
F—AZ+H RBEMK ' ARAA
RARFER IR EIE E 499.9775% °
EBEBEBEAREZ S AR - Bt - =
%8 A R #1,890,606,0007C (AR EH
AR EBLCIETRARESAED
SR EEBENERTNR -
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39- OTHER RESERVES (continued) 39- E{‘&ﬁ{ﬁ(%)

On 16 November 2015, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
disposed of a 100% equity interest in Oushi Mengniu
to Yashili International. The disposal was a common
control business combination and was accounted for as
an equity transaction. As the interests of the Company
in Yashili International and Inner Mongolia Mengniu
were 51.01% and 99.9775%, respectively, the disposal
resulted in the Company’s equity interest in Oushi
Mengniu decreasing from 99.9775% to 51.01% without
loss of control. As a consequence, the difference of
RMB307,558,000 between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests were adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration was recognised directly in
equity as a reserve.

The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group
represents the difference between the nominal value of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the group reorganisation scheme on 14 May 2004
to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation
for the public listing of the Company’s shares on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the nominal value of
the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefor.
An amount of RMB27,343,000 previously recognised
in contributed surplus, representing the excess of
the amount of capital injected by the non-controlling
shareholder over its additional interest in the subsidiary’s
net assets attributable to the Company’s owners, was
reclassified to equity transaction reserve during 2015.

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the PRC domestic companies are required
to transfer 10% of their profit after income tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting standards and
financial regulations, to the statutory common reserve.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common
reserve may be used to offset against the accumulated
losses, if any.

RZZ—RAF+—A+H REFR
SRETFBEBREEERBRERFNE
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40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

41.

During 2016, the Group purchased property, plant
and equipment by means of long term payables with a
total contractual amount and a total amortised cost of
approximately RMB30,697,000 (2015: RMB83,902,000) and
RMB29,338,000 (2015: RMB87,835,000), respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers and any person or entity that provides research,
development or technological support to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the Share
Option Scheme provided that the Group may at any time
seek approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit to
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval by
the shareholders in a general meeting where such limit is
refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

40. ERFRERF

41.
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
20 business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than seven years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Date of grant

Exercise period of
share options
(both dates inclusive)

41. BBRAETTE )

Exercise price
per share option (note e)

Weighted average fair value
per share option

BRENTEERE BHEBREN BHEBREN
ZEAH (BEEEMA) TREE(Hizze) MEFHDAE
(HKS) (HK9) (HK$) (HK$)
(B7) (B7) (#B7) (#B7)
Before After Before After
bonus issue  bonusissue bonusissue bonus issue
BITALR A RITALRE BATALRR A RITAIREZ
23 November 2009 23 November 2011 to
22 November 2015
(note a) 24.40 12.20 8.50 4.25
ZETNFT-AZT=H 5
+—B=t+=RH=%
—Z-hfF
+T—AZ=+=H
(FifiEa)
6 December 2010 6 December 2012 to
5 December 2016
(note b) 22.80 11.40 7.25 3.63
—T-TF+=HH —E—CF
+ZRAABZE
ZE-RF
+=-AfA
(Fid3EDb)
10 October 2011 10 October 2015 to
9 October 2018
(note c) 2410 12.05 8.37 419
—2——F+A+H “T-RF
+A+AZE
“E-N\F
TANA

(FffEc)




41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%,
40% and 40% of the share options vesting on, respectively, the
second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the grant.
In addition, the share options will only be vested if and when
the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division of
the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted in aggregate,
20,116,500 share options were granted in exchange for and
replacement of the outstanding share options previously
granted on 9 November 2007 to better achieve the objectives
of the Share Option Scheme.

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%,
40% and 40% of the share options granted vesting on,
respectively, the second, third and fourth anniversaries of
the date of the grant. In addition, the share options will only
be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets of
the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with
50% of the share options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The exercise price per share option was the average closing
share price for the five business days immediately preceding
the grant date or the closing price of the shares on the grant
date.

As at 30 October 2015, bonus shares were issued by the
Company on the basis of one share for every one existing
share held as of 19 October 2015. As a result, the exercise
price per share option was adjusted.

Except for the options granted on 10 October 2011, which
have a contractual life of seven years, the contractual life of the
above options granted is six years.

All the above options granted have no cash alternatives.
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41. BBRAETTE )
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 41. BBRAETTE )
Movements of outstanding share options HARITERREST
Lapsed/ Exercisable
As at Granted  Exercised Forfeited expired As at at
1 January during during during during 31 December 31 December
2016 the year the year the year the year 2016 2016
R=B-5§
t2A
RZ8-5% £ t =t-A
Date of grant RtAS -p-A f *%/ER = AR

23November 2009 ~EEAET-A-1=R = = = = = = =
6December 2010  —E-ZE+-A7\H - - -
10 October 2011 “2——F1+A1H 41,199,682 - (7,165,736) - (31,700,0000 2,333,946 2,333,946

Total st 41,199,682 - (7,165,736) - (31,700,000 2333946 2,333,946

Lapsed/ Exercisable

Asat Granted Exercised Forfeited expired Asat at

1 January during Bonus during during during 31 December 31 December

2015 the year issue the year the year the year 2015 2015

R=5-1%

R_E-0% TZA

R=5-1% £ +75 =t+-A

Date of grant BEAE -A-B  ERRE  BAOR ERHE ERRM XB/ER Z1-A i
23November 2009 —ZEhE

+-A=1=H 2,302,524 - 401,227 (2,701,935) - (1,816) - -

6 December 2010  —E-FE+-ARA 828,000 - 28,000 (856,000) - - - -

10 October 2011 “EF—ETATH 38,600,000 - 20867859 (536,036) - (17732141) 41199682 9499682

Total @t 41,730,624 - 21297086 (4,09397M) - (1773397 41199682 9,499,682

S

)2
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 41. ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ(%)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period of 2015, out
of the total outstanding share options of 41,199,682 as at 31
December 2015, 31,700,000 share options had lapsed due
to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions.

The Group reversed an expense of RMB69,359,000 relating
to the share options lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting
conditions under the Share Option Scheme in 2015 (note 7
and note 9).

The 7,165,736 share options (2015: 4,093,971) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 7,165,736 (2015:
4,093,971) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB635,000 (2015: RMB329,000) and share
premium of RMB75,829,000 (2015: RMB64,771,000), as
further detailed in note 38 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$14.58 (2015: HK$18.44).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 2,333,946
(2015: 9,499,682) vested share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining
share options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 2,333,946 (2015: 9,499,682)
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of RMB209,000 (2015: RMB796,000) and share
premium of RMB24,948,000 (2015: RMB95,106,000) (before
issue expenses).

MN-ZE—RFE+-A=+—HBHKRTED
B A% M £ 41,199,682 1 B8 A% #E BE i1 AP o
31,700,000 AR ZEZFBIEMEMR =T
—RAFREHRBRY -

—ET 0T AEEBOEREERERKE
JBITR BB R M A EITE T 19 53 /B 1614 T 3y
B A R #69,359,0007T (Fi3E7 &29) °

7,165,736/ ( = ZF — R F : 4,093,97113 )
BRENFRNITE  AMEZ3177,165,736
(=T —FF : 4,093,971 %) AR R LR
f& - EEFKRAN A ARK635000T(=ZF
—HEF : AR%329,0007T) @ BMHIHEEA
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64,771,0007T ) + 15N 7% 3 K W &
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IEERE - 2T M & 2 BRI A5 5l BRI
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A%) A& E) Ak & A R #209,0007T (=
TR AR¥796,0007T ) 58NS AR K2
ANR#24,048,00070(ZZ— 1 F : ARM
95,106,0007T ) & 1735 & (FNBREITE FAAT) °
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME 42, RERETE

The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an incentive
to encourage the participants for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to
any eligible person it may in its absolute discretion select to
accept the grant of an award over such a number of shares
as it may determine (the “Participants”). Existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by an independent trustee
(the “Trustee”) of the share award scheme from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant Participants until such shares are vested with the
relevant Participants in accordance with the provisions of the
share award scheme. The shares of the Company granted
and held by the trustee until vesting are referred to as the
treasury shares and each treasury share shall represent one
ordinary share of the Company.

No shares shall be purchased pursuant to the share award
scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee for the
purpose of making such a purchase, if as a result of such
purchase, the number of shares administered under the share
award scheme shall exceed 5% of the issued capital of the
Company. The maximum number of shares which may be
granted to a Participant at any one time or in aggregate may
not exceed 0.5% of the issued capital of the Company at the
Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
board, the share award scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 5 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

ARAREZBAIN_FT—=F=H
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continueq) 42. RERBFE @
Particulars and movements of share award RERBTEIFEREE
scheme

Asat  Granted Vesting  Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December

Notes Fair value per share 2016  theyear  theyear  theyear 2016
R
R ZE-5f
ZE-AE 2R
i SRARE -A-H =r=F
(HKS) (HKS)
(m) ()
Before After
honus bonus
issue issue
Date of grant RiLA% RARE  RARE
26 April 2013 “E-=FMA=t5A (a) 21.65 1083 9,345,600 - - (9,345,600) -
2 April 2015 “5-1FMAZA © 40.10 2005 3,738,210 - - (1,606,388 2,131,822
11 April 2016 “E—EMAt-H 0] 1242 nfa - 14492758 (5,104,602 (1,731,248) 7,656,903
21 September 2016 ZE- AR e 13.96 nfa - 10,653,825 - (10,653,825) -
13,083,810 25,146,578  (5,104,602) (23,337,061) 9,788,725
Asat Granted Vesting Forfeited Asat
1 January during during Bonus  duringthe 31 December
Notes Fair value per share 2015 the year the year issue year 2015
I
R “Z-1f
“E-1% T=A
iF BRALE -A-B  FARL  FREE AR FRRM =1-A
(HKS) HKS)
(A7) ()
Before After
honus bonus
iSsue issue
Date of grant RitA% BOARE BT
26 April 2013 1) @ 21.65 1083 7,409,800 - (12280000 6,181,800 (3,018,000 9,345,600
17 April 2014 “T-MEmATLA ] 40.95 20.48 6,055,000 - (6,055,000 - - -
2 April 2015 “T-REMAZA () 40.10 20.05 - 8725000 - 8725000 (13,711,790) 3,738,210

13464800 8,725,000 (7,283,000 14,906,800 (16,729,790) 13,083,810

e
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

On 26 April 2013, a total number of 17,569,400 shares,
representing 0.99% of the issued capital of the Company as
at the Adoption Date, were granted to the Participants. Out of
the total shares granted, 8,425,800 shares were granted to
the Chief Executive Officer, who is also an executive Director
of the Company (resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and
executive Directors on 15 September 2016), which would
vest in five tranches each on the first, second, third, fourth
and fifth anniversaries of the Grant Date in accordance with
certain vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets), subject to the publication of the full-year results of the
Company for the financial years ended/ending 31 December
2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. The grant of the shares to
other directors, senior management, heads of departments and
other employees of the Group would vest in full on 31 March
2014 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Group’s performance targets), subject to the publication of the
full-year results of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2013.

On 17 April 2014, the Company further granted 6,055,000
shares under share award scheme to the Participants,
representing approximately 0.34% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. This batch of shares
would vest in full by 30 April 2015 in accordance with the
vesting conditions (which include the Group’s performance
targets in 2014), subject to the publication of the full-year
results of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2014.

42, RERBFHE =
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 2 April 2015, the Company further granted 8,725,000
shares under share award scheme to the Participants,
representing approximately 0.49% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. Out of the total
shares granted, 2,472,700 shares would vest in three tranches
each on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant
date in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Group’s performance targets) subject to the publication of the
full-year results of the Company for the financial years ended/
ending 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. The
shares granted to other directors, senior management, heads
of departments and other employees of the Group would
vest in full on 31 March 2016 in accordance with the vesting
conditions (including the Group’s performance targets) subject
to the publication of the full-year results of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

On 11 April 2016, the Company further granted 14,492,753
shares under share award scheme to the participants,
representing approximately 0.37% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. These granted shares
would vest in two tranches each on 31 December 2016 and
2017 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the
Participants’ performance targets), subject to the Participants’
performance results for the financial years ending 31 December
2016 and 2017, respectively.

On 21 September 2016, the Company further granted
10,653,825 shares under share award scheme to the
Participants, representing approximately 0.3% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.
These granted shares would vest in full by 31 March 2017
in accordance with the vesting conditions (which include
the Group’s performance targets in 2016), subject to the
publication of the full-year results of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Annual Report 2016 —Z— NFEF

Notes To Financial Statements B #&3R & HisE

42, RERBFHE =
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Z—RFMA-H  ARAREKRER
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B - (AR B REMA BB BITRA
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B S=EMAES mMEERHRSH J/t’j
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BARARpREE—_ZT—RF - B AN H

&:i tEFE+ZA=+— Eiﬁﬁiﬂlﬂzr
ARITIEEFEHEEE - FAREE - EAAK
EEEMES  SHREBAE - HHEE
REAMEERHNRKRD  BEFEBEG(R
BAEERRARE)  BARZZT—X~F=A
=+—HRYEE  MASFLARRARER

—E-HE+-AS+—HIHRERT
RRERER  HASE -

TE-RNEMA+—B  ARTRBERE
ﬁlimiwﬁ S RZEER 114,492,753

BERE (D - B AR R R ERMA B BB 1T
KH0.37% - ZEBRLEHRNDEETNR T
—RNEFERZZE—tF+-_A=+—HBSM

RARIES %ﬂﬂ#(@%/,\%ﬁ’ﬁ%fﬁﬁffﬁ)
BB HART2EESIREE
RNERZE-EFF+ A=+ EIJLHJT
BEENRRELAME -

SE-AFAA+—A - KAAR

BEREERAEE-—FTRAZEERY
10,653,825 (i 19 - 4£$ AR B B H]
BB BEITIRALI0.3%  WERHHRH R

R F=A=+BARBEEBEH(E
BAKER_-F —/‘*\iﬂ’ﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ)%%la
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42. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 42. Hﬁ%ﬁ@]ﬂ%ﬂ(ﬁg)

During 2016, 23,337,061 (2015: 16,729,790) shares lapsed
due to the unfulfilment of vesting condition under the share
award scheme.

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based
on the market prices of the Company’s shares at the
respective grant dates. No dividend will be considered. The
fair value of the shares granted on 11 April 2016 and 21
September 2016 was HK$12.42 per share and HK$13.96
per share, respectively (2015: HK$40.10 per share before
bonus issue). During 2016, there was an expense relating
to the share award scheme of RMB202,243,000 (2015:
RMB277,497,000), and a reversal of expense due to the
unfulfillment of vesting condition under the share award
scheme of RMB161,304,000 (2015: RMB185,773,000). The
Group accordingly recognised a net expense relating to the
share award scheme of approximately RMB40,939,000 (2015:
RMB91,724,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 7).

During the year, the Company acquired 2,094,000 of the
Company’s shares (2015: 5,447,000) through purchases
on the market under the share award scheme. The total
amount paid to acquire the shares during the year was
HK$19,786,000 (2015: HK$166,807,000), equivalent to
RMB16,916,000 (2015: RMB135,535,000).

During the year, 5,104,602 (2015: 7,283,000) shares with a
total amount of RMB78,269,000 (2015: RMB208,848,000)
were vested and exercised under the share award scheme,
resulting in the transfer out of RMB53,562,000 (2015:
RMB218,197,000) from the share award reserve, with the
difference of RMB24,707,000 (2015 credited: RMB9,349,000)
debited to the share premium account. The weighted average
share price at the date of exercise of these shares was
HK$17.14 (2015: HK$36.34).

ZE—NER - #23,337,061 REM(=E
— A F :16,729,790) A K RE = B I 2= 12 B
BE ok S

ERHEBROHHAABIERRABBRDRE
REBHOMENE BRI EERE -
—E-RFNA+—HEZZE—XR"FNIA
T+ BEREABRONRAES N EER
1242870 % 13.968 T (=T — A F « BT
AR RT B AR4010/87T) c —T—NER
1% 2= BB FT 8 2 i A A R 202,243,000
—E—TF  ARM277,497,0007T) © I
AR EDRZEEFENRB IR mED
S AR#161,304,00070( ZZE—FEF : A
R #185,773,0007T) - A& B A LR F A
RERABERPERARZRE TS F I HY
AR #40,939,0000 (= Z—HF : ARM
91,724,0007T) (FFE7) ©

FR - ARAREBREREEEBMS
BEE AN F2,094,000 kM (ZE—%
& 1 5447,000%) - FAEEZZRMHK
EXM & A A19,786,0008 T( - =
— R4 : 166,807,000/ L)  HE R A
R#16,916,000c (=T —HF : AR
135,535,0007T) °

FRN - LmA ARKT8269,000T (=
T —HF : AR 208,848,000 7T )
5,104,602 & & (= ZF — A4 : 7,283,000
B BRI R B AT SR B 1T - EE
BREREFHEE D ARMS3,562,0007T
—T—RF: AR¥218,197,0007T) ' =
ARE24,707,000c(ZE—RHFFA
AR 9,349,0007T) B B 15 im BRI ©
W ERR 1T B BB mEFRER17.14
BIL(ZZT—FRF : 36.3487T) °
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43. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 43. FEEARFERRREZNET D
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BEFAT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- AEBEAE AR ERESZN TN
controlling interests are set out below: HEWT

2016 2015
—E—XEF —F—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT

Percentage of equity interest held IR RSN

by non-controlling interests: REBDL

Yashili L7 48.96% 48.96%
Profit for the year allocated to AR AR = D E HY

non-controlling interests: REFE

Yashili L7 (176,637) 21,986
Dividends paid to non-controlling MIEIE A I R A R T A9

interests: B

Yashili L7 16,194 36,494
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RERE B HAFEEARAR 3

interest at the reporting dates: R EGHER

Yashili L7 3,874,555 4,029,714

=~

g\
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43. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 43. BEERFEBRBRAERNI S
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BETFRAT @

I NTE R ESTS (continued)
TERIRERTFAROWAABER o Fif

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed BHLREATEMNERRNA A EAER

are before any inter-company eliminations:

Yashili Yashili
HELF FELF
2016 2015
—E-AF —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Revenue WA 2,203,315 2,761,571
Total expenses s e (2,523,533) (2,643,315)
Profit/(loss) for the year RNEFE, (EE) (320,218) 118,256
Other comprehensive income for the year AFHE M EE W 76,667 71,354
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FrRemikzs (Ei8)
for the year R (243,551) 189,610
Current assets MENEE 4,099,891 5,041,729
Non-current assets JEMENE E 3,866,100 2,621,960
Current liabilities mEBEE 2,253,535 1,674,798
Non-current liabilities FEnBaE 10,842 8,249
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating eSEEIES (PR )EY
activities REMEFHE (477,239) 80,032
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEFSTARNRERE
FRR (366,891) (1,726,751)
Net cash flows from financing activities METHEEANRESRE
FER 94,607 2,711,686
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXHRENBESE
and cash equivalents BYHTE 23,458 2,721
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReERBESEEY
cash equivalents 8GR ) 5458 (726,065) 1,067,688

S

2
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION 44. ERE Bt

On 31 May 2016, Yashili, a 51.01% indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 100% equity interest
in Dumex China from Danone. Dumex China is mainly
engaged in the manufacture and sale of infant milk formula
products of Dumex brand. The acquisition was made as part
of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of infant
milk formula products in Mainland China.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB1,099,695,000 paid at the acquisition
date and RMB72,437,000 of purchase price adjustments
received from Danone after the closing of the transaction.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Dumex China as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

—E-XFERA=Z+—8  AARKEEEA
51.01% %4 89T A A HE £ F m Danone 4 BE
ZEBF R EERE - LXBPEEZEHRE
RIS RIEESERMENENTEF N -
ZBEWEAAEEFEALTBREAMMEL T
IR TSR RSN —IR -

WERENRE AL - RURE BB
AR #1,099,695,0007T * BEEEBRAEA
R #72,437,000 7072 R 5 FE X 1% [A) Danone
UG ER o

RWEBE  ZX2FENASAIEERE
BAREMT :

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
UK B R RE R Y
NN
Note RMB’000
PsE AREFTT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 68,290
Construction in progress HETR 7,473
Land use rights T AR 41,527
Other intangible assets HEtEEEE 283,120
Inventories FE 64,945
Trade and bills receivables FEUER TR & = 63,887
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B ~ 124 & H i fE i 78 14,116
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTETT 112,071
Total assets BEE 655,429
Liabilities =N
Trade and bills payables e IR R (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HEmEAZIaRTERRER (302,909)
Current tax payable & HET R IR (112)
Total liabilities BmEE (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RAREBENEZ B FEELRE 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition N IS E A R R 19 718,476
Purchase consideration at fair value BAREBEFTENWEBRE 1,027,258
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i‘%é‘{#(%)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as
at the date of acquisition were same as the gross contractual
amounts of trade receivables and other receivables, which
amounted to RMB63,887,000 and RMB14,116,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB5,510,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Dumex China for the current year is as follows:

RWEBEE  BRERREMEKRZKEA
AED B A ARE63,887,0007T & A R
14,116,0007T * £ & U AR 3% K E Ath e Uk s I8
BHBEEMAER -

AEBRZBEBRBEEASSIKNEAARE
5,510,000 - BEEAR SN AE REFE 185
RY o Wt ATTHRER -

WEZBTENANFREREDTAOT

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash consideration RWERE 1,099,695

Receipt of purchase price adjustments WEE B EAR (72,437)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEAMSRENIREEEY (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FIAREERBSBEREREN

included in cash flows from investing activities Be RBESESEYREFEE 915,187
Transaction costs of the acquisition included SFAGEEEISESREN

in cash flows from operating activities WHE R SR AN 5,510

920,697

Since the acquisition, Dumex China contributed
RMB101,089,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused net
loss of RMB55,905,000 to the consolidated loss for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and
net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
would have been RMB53,908,797,000 and RMB961,984,000
respectively.

BUEBNR Z2EZFEAREEHE=-Z
—ANE+_A=Z+—BHILEFERNRATRA
R #101,089,0007tT * W BirE BB K F
518 A R#55,905,0007T °

HBREE HRFMET  WEE=F—RF
T A=+ - ALEFEREARERSELE
RBEOWARAKBFEBEE/DBIBARE
53,908,797,0007T k2 A K #961,984,0007T °
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 44, ¥ & 6t@)

On 26 September 2016, Linxia Yiging, a 70% indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 70% and 30%
equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging from an associate of
the Group and independent third parties, respectively. Inner
Mongolia Yiging is mainly engaged in the sale of ice cream
products of Yiging brand. The acquisition was made as part
of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of ice
cream products in Mainland China.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB5,600,000 and RMB2,400,000 paid
at the acquisition date to the associate and independent third
parties, respectively.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Inner
Mongolia Yiging as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

“E-RNFNAZTAB  AREME#HEE
7T0%RENTFRARIRESED I RANEEDN
BENRIRBYE = FREATZET0% K
0% - NEXEBEBRBIHES EME
RCENE R o RIEWE AASLEFEAHF
Bl A B A T B D BRI SR BE M — IR o

RIBEWENKREREARESEASIN - Rl
EASORIMEBE AR MBI E=FEFA
R ¥5,600,0007T & A R #2,400,0007T °

RWERE  ARSEMNAHIEERERE
NABEMAT

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
1y B B TR
EOVNTNIE]
Notes RMB’000
MizE ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment L E =S 9,763
Other intangible assets Hh\mpEeE 24,371
Deferred tax assets FEEFIBEE 23 7,614
Inventories T8 11,461
Trade and bills receivables FEUER TR K I 5,886
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B ~ 124 & H i fE 78 8,391
Cash and bank balances e MIRITETT 389
Total assets WEE 67,875
Liabilities =N
Trade and bills payables ERERREE (67,914)
Other payables and accruals Hi BRI RTERE A (40,413)
Total liabilities wmas (108,327)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value #2Q A ETEN TR EEAE (40,452)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition o S E AR R 19 48,452
Purchase consideration at fair value BARBEFENRENRE 8,000
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i‘%é‘{#(%)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as
at the date of acquisition were same as the gross contractual
amounts of trade receivables and other receivables, which
amounted to RMB5,886,000 and RMB379,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB54,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Inner Mongolia Yiging for the current year is as follows:

RWEBE  FRERREMEKRZKEN
NHED R A AREES,886,0007T & AR
379,0007T - & & 4 AR 51 K E Ath B U 5K T8 /9
BHBEEAER -

AEERRBRBEERIRAARE

54,0007 - AR ZMAC REREBRERT
o WETATTHRER -

WBAXREBENAEFRERESTAOT -

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash consideration BERE 8,000

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEFTIS IR MIRTTEEY (389)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FIAREERBSBEREREN

included in cash flows from investing activities Be RBESESEYREFEE 7,611
Transaction costs of the acquisition included SFAGEEEEESREN

in cash flows from operating activities WHE R Z AN 54

7,665

Since the acquisition, Inner Mongolia Yiging contributed
RMB5,417,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused net loss
of RMB6,033,000 to the consolidated loss for the year ended
31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and
net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
would have been RMB53,877,738,000 and RMB867,276,000
respectively.

On 26 December 2016, the Group acquired an 83% equity
interest in Shanghai Mengniu from independent third parties,
in which the Group originally had an equity interest of 13%.
Shanghai Mengniu is mainly engaged in the sale of liquid milk
products. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share of liquid milk products in
Mainland China.

BRENR  AXSEAAEEHEZE-F
—ANET+_AZ+—BHLEFERNRATRA
R¥5,417,0007T * W AL A BEF K FE
1 AR #6,033,0007T °

HBREE FRFMET - WBE=F—RF
T A=+ - ALEFEREARERSELE
RBHOWARARBFEE/D BIBARE
53,877,738,0007T 2 A K #867,276,0007T °

“E-RETAZTRA - ARERBL
F=7WE LERT83%KIE - REEKT)
KA LBRT13%ME - EERFTENE
HERBNHER - RBARBALTEEEAHE
o B 3 R BE ) E m T 5 10 R Y SRS Y —

5B o
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the
form of cash, with RMB77,400,000 paid at the acquisition

E£KE 6w

REENENOKBRENBESEAXLMN R
W B H B X 1 A R ¥ 77,400,000 7T @ &

date and the remaining RMB8,600,000 of cash to be paid T3z

when certain transaction terms are completed. Besides, the
purchase consideration also consisted an effective settlement
of trade receivables due from Shanghai Mengniu with

RMB119,312,000.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

FHERTREBEARSIMBTAR

#8,600,000 7T ° Itk o
FEW EBSHARNERAREEARRE
119,312,0007T °

WERERERE

RERE - LERFHAIBRIEERAE

Shanghai Mengniu as at the date of acquisition were as RAERT
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
L B B FERR A
AL
Notes RMB’000
P5E ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRER&E 452
Other intangible assets HEmpEE 69,721
Deferred tax assets RERIE B 23 25,709
Inventories FE 16,812
Trade and bills receivables FEUER TR ZE 38,828
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B ~ 124 & H 4 fE 78 1,339
Cash and bank balances REe RRITET 9,314
Total assets BEE 162,175
Liabilities afE
Trade and bills payables ERERREE (36,587)
Other payables and accruals HEMpENRIERERER (32,637)
Total liabilities FER= R (69,224)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAARBETENA B FEELASE 92,951
Less: Trade receivables due from Shanghai B B SRS YRR
Mengniu (119,312)
Less: Acquisition-date fair value of the B AEBERVRE LERF13%
Group’s initial 13% equity interest RIS B EI A 2B
in Shanghai Mengniu (12,851)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition m: WEEAREE 19 125,212
Add: Effective settlement of trade receivables il : fEU /&5 4 fEYRBEFR
due from Shanghai Mengniu BWEE 119,312
Purchase consideration at fair value BAAREBESENREBRE 205,312
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 44. %i‘%é‘{#(%)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as
at the date of acquisition were same as the gross contractual
amounts of trade receivables and other receivables,
which amounted to RMB38,828,000 and RMB1,339,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB340,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Fair value gain of RMB9,489,000 arising from re-measuring
the Group’s initial equity interest in Shanghai Mengniu at
acquisition date was recognised in other income and gains.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Shanghai Mengniu for the current year is as follows:

RUEE B HE - BRI M E b FE U ZRTE A A
RED R A A R% 38,828,000 & A R
1,339,0007T - £ fE U BR 30 K H b & W I8
A #AEEEFER o

AEERERERBEEARINAARE
340,0007T - BEEAR HKAERGEEBER
T - WEFATTHRER -

B ETEAEBRRUE B HRIEEN LS
SHMREEE M AR 489,000 AR &
et EREAUWA RS RER o

WELBRTNAFRERESTMOT

RMB’000

ARETT

Cash consideration HERE 77,400

Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEEFTIS IR & MIRTTEEY (9,314)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included FFAREEEMEEREESRERN

in cash flows from investing activities Re KRS EEYRLFE 68,086
Transaction costs of the acquisition included FAGEEESERESREN

in cash flows from operating activities WX BRA 340

68,426

Since the acquisition, Shanghai Mengniu did not contribute
any revenue and profit or loss to the Group’s consolidated
loss for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and
net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
would have been RMB53,951,695,000 and RMB898,218,000
respectively.

During 2016, the Group acquired twelve other subsidiaries
from third parties. These subsidiaries are mainly engaged
in the manufacture and sale of dairy products. These
acquisitions were made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share of liquid milk products in Mainland
China. The total purchase consideration for these acquisitions
were in the form of cash of RMB146,497,000 paid at the
acquisition date. These business acquisitions gave rise to
goodwill of RMB38,573,000 and gain on bargain purchase of
RMB9,213,000 in total.

BWBUR  EEARFREBEE_T—XRF
T A=t ALEFEYESASEELT
A - TSRS B IR E SR -

HERBAHNEHET  IBEZF—RF
T A=+ - ALFEREFEEFERE
EBOBARAEBRFEBERKDFIBARE
53,951,695,0007T & A K 898,218,0007T °

—T-RERAEERE=ZHFWEEM
T_ETFRAE c WETRAREBRELEER
HEILRG - WEWEAREBREAEFAE
WA R EEE RIS HERAREN —IR
HEWENBREBREURSEASMA  ©B
I B8 B BASE N A R #146,497,0007T © 55
FERUEE L EE R E ARES8,573,0007T A
FZEBE AN AREQ 213,0007T °



45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In 2015:

On 19 January 2015, Junlebao, an indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company, exchanged its wholly-owned
equity interests in Zhangjiakou Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd.
(“Zhangjiakou Junlebao”) for an equity interest in Banner Baby
Dairy Company Limited, which was subsequently accounted
for as an associate of Junlebao.

Net assets of Zhangjiakou Junlebao disposed of as at 19
January 2015:
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45.

HE&EF A E]

—E-FREF:

“E-RF—ATNB AARNHEERS
FRAIBHBEUHERNRROELEIAXAER
REN[RRAOBLE )N REREVERE R
HmRIPBRRTORE - ZRFR G
BRINRBLBNBENT] -

R-E-—AF—AtTHhBHENRRAFLE

Notes RMB’000

FiEE ARET T

Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEE 15 20,189
Construction in progress EETRE 16 267,079
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE X ~ 124 & H it fE i 718 35,175
Inventories 78 18,266
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHERT 861
Trade and bills payables AR R EE (24,289)
Other payables and accruals HEMENZIaERTEIRRER (193,291)
Deferred income EEWA (50,000)
73,990

Initial recognition of an associate VIR A—HE Q) 123,979
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BE—ETFRRMWE 49,989

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

HERKOBLENRES LREFEY R

respect of disposal of Zhangjiakou Junlebao is as follows: FREOWMT
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERE LIRITET (861)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HHERROBLEFENEE X
respect of the disposal of Zhangjiakou Junlebao REFEWREFE (861)
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 45. HE&EF 28 @)
In 2015: (continued) —E-HF: (&)
On 4 November 2015, Inner Mongolia Mengniu disposed of —E—FAF+—FANHE ARSI MBI
its 100% equity interest in Beijing Fangshan Mengniu Dairy FEZFHEERNEERILEFIAEBRA
Co., Ltd., (“Beijing Fangshan”) to an independent third party, B (TdEREIL ) 2 2RE  REAARKE
for a consideration of RMB153,000,000, payable in cash on 153,000,0007T ' MR ST BEINIR & X
the date of completion of the transaction. ff o
Net assets of Beijing Fangshan disposed of as at 4 November R-ZE—AF+—ANBLtEELELEF
2015: BE -
Notes RMB’000
MiaE ARETT
Property, plant and equipment L E Y e 15 6
Construction in progress TEETRR 16 614
Land use rights b fsh A 18 141,651
Cash and bank balances RE RRITEF 546
Other payables and accruals Hi R ZakTERE A (60)
142,757
Satisfied by cash consideration LIRS REX (153,000)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MFRmksaR 10,243
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEIRELNESMREEEMRATE
respect of disposal of Beijing Fangshan is as follows: DT
RMB’000
ARETTT
Cash consideration BE&RE 153,000
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of B EHERE RIETTET (546)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HHELRFELEANEE X
of the disposal of Beijing Fangshan REFEMRNFE 162,454




46.

47.

48.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Aside from the disclosure in note 37, the Group had
contingent liabilities not provided for in the consolidated

Annual Report 2016 —ZE—~F &% § O 6 263

Notes To Financial Statements B #& 2R & izt

46. LARERE
B ST EE I - AEENBSHK
ERA S RE N RBBRAS ESIRM

financial statements at the end of the reporting period as T
follows:
2016 2015
—E—RF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Guarantees given to banks in AT AL ERFEM
connection with facilities granted to: MERTTIRHEER -
Third parties F=5 - 14,000
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 47. EEEKF

Details of the Group’s bills payable, bank loans and long term
payables, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are
included in notes 30, 32 and 35, respectively, to the financial
statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(@) As lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

FHREAEENEEEERNAESEENE
B ROTERMREEMZREFE - HBIHE
PR SRR M EE30 ~ 32435 ©

48. KEMERH
(@) fERHBAA
RBEEHK - AEBRET G
HHE - BREBERERFHRE
BaeEmT

2016 2015
—E-XRE —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBETTT

Within one year —FR 3,550 10,729
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEAFT(BIEEEMT) 3,360 8,317
Over five years HE L 1,400 1,200

8,310 20,246

=

g\
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48. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(b) As lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of buildings and certain
production equipment as follows:

48. REHELZHw)

(b) fERFEBA
RBERKR - ARERBEERET
EERBOTAEHECEHRERARA
BXNHHEESERENOT

2016 2015

—E—RF —=—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREF T

Within one year —FR 178,989 137,567
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEAF(BIEEEMT) 324,605 253,174
Over five years HFEMUE 59,115 51,780
562,709 442,521

49. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 48, the Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting

49, EIE
BB ST 485 I B ST EARIESN - FAIRS HR
* AEEEUBEREEYE  BERSD
BRVEARABIT |

period:
2016 2015
—E—XRE —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for EETHBARRE 643,196 797,598

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant commitments.

S

2

R EHR - AERE YW EETEAAIE -




50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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50. A LR 5

In addition to the transactions and balances which are BRARAMEHRREMEBEERENRS
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the AN - 7N 5= [H EF H B %D\ a) K H b 28 Bt
Group had the following significant transactions with its ATHEITTINEAR S
associates and other related parties.
2015
—hF
Notes RMB’000
L ARETTT
()  Sales of liquid milk products to () B A TS EREE
associates O EE o (i) 2,136,086 3,449,808
()  Sales of ice cream products to () A& NG4S E AR
associates W B (i) 29,055 39,859
(Il Sales of other dairy products to  (lll) [AH & A &84 E EAth
associates FLEEM 0] 837 8,788
(IV)  Sales of products to affiliates (V) MARNR—REE
of a major shareholder of the RERME B AR E
Company B (i) 15,884 16,869
(V) Provision of outsourcing services (V) [A]— &5t 4 A B4t
to an associate INB AR TS (i) 8,970 -
(Vl)  Purchases of raw materials from (VI) [RARE]—ZEE
affiliates of a major shareholder BRAEBAREE
of the Company R () 405,348 225,660
(VIl) Purchases of raw materials from  (VII) &4 A &) 0E S
associates R (i) 3,273,880 2,997,453
(V) Purchases of outsourcing (VINEEEli NG 3=
services from an associate INB AR TS (i) 3,270 -
Note: B3

The considerations were determined with reference to
the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged
to third parties.

During 2016, the Group acquired 70% equity
interest in Linxia Yiging from Fuyuan, an associate
of the Group. The transaction was an asset
acquisition. The purchase consideration for
the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB37,580,000 in total paid at the acquisition
date. Linxia Yiging is mainly engaged in the
manufacture of ice cream products of Yiging
brand and was still in the process of construction
as at the acquisition date.

) ERELBEEBHBER BRR
WERE =B BRETE

—E—REFER - AEBERAEE
%%Z\\j E/ﬁ”yﬁgﬁnngfg./ﬁ 70%
R - ZBERXHHBEEWRE -
WHENEBEEREURSE AR
37,580,0007T A Mk % H HAZE 82
- lGESBELTEBENRELAESH
ISR CEME @ - RIS B 5
TIRTERE -



266 & & & China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIS4FEFRAT

Notes To Financial Statements B # 3R & KisE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

Other transactions with associates (continued)

S

(b)

(c)

(il

During 2016, Linxia Yiging, a 70% indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 70% and
30% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yiging from
an associate of the Group and independent third
parties, respectively. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB5,600,000 and RMB2,400,000 paid at the
acquisition date to the associate and independent
third parties, respectively. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 44 to the financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 9
and 10 to the financial statements.

Except for (a. IV/VI), the above transactions did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules.

(d)

2

Year-end balances arising from related party
transactions are as follows:

50. BEEEATRZ @)
(b) EEEEE NRHAMRS (&)
iy Z=ZT—REAN - AAFBEHE
BT0%BRENTFARBRESE
DRI A AL B A N E RIBILE
ZFWERREIF70% X 30%
Bt - WIEMBEEREDRILR
% AR #5,600,0007T & A R
2,400,000 70 /A UK B8 B B A B
ANARBIE=FXN - WEE
— S H BRI REMT 44 o

(c) FEENETEETEAS KR

FEEEASRMFBHRTBERE
PIEE9 K10 °

Bk (a. IWVDSN - B2 S0 THERK LT AR B
FIRENER S HEWERS -

(d BEATIRZEENFRERN
T

2016 2015

—E—XEF —E—RF

Trade and bills receivables from: RMB’000 RMB’000

FEWER R R ARYET T ARBT T

Associates bRl 526,848 544,834
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—ZET BRI

the Group B B A A 3,491 1,223

530,339 546,057

2016 2015

—E—REF —ZE-hfF

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables from: RMB’000 RMB’000

TERER - 1'e RHE M YRS AR¥T R ARKETT

Associates LN 199,240 37
Affiliates of a major shareholder of AEE—RETERREN

the Company NG 564 -

199,804 37
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50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS contniesy ~ 50. BAEEA X5 (a0

(d) Year-end balances arising from related party d BEBEATIRZELENFERGHN
transactions are as follows: (continued) T @ @)
2016 2015
—E-REF —T—RF
Trade and bills payables to: RMB’000 RMB’000
FEM IR R IR ARET T ARETTT
Associates G l/NE]| 163,011 196,720
Affiliates of a major shareholder of REB—ZEBREN
the Group SN 47,196 31,945
210,207 228,665
2016 2015
—E-RF —E—RF
Other payables and accruals to: RMB’000 RMB’000
Hib R ZIENIERE A: ARETT AREFTT
Associates AN 11,371 20,789
11,371 20,789
The above balances are unsecured, non-interest- Pt AERE - Tt B RAEREREE
bearing and repayable on credit terms similar to those B EERRELTHEABE =AM
offered to or by independent third parties. FARHE °
(e) Other outstanding balances with associates (e) EEEEE NRHAMEER
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had entrusted RZE—RE+ZA=+—80 ' K&
loans due to certain associates of RMB33,086,000 BHEARENETHEQARZTER
(2015: Nil), included in the interest-bearing bank and AR #33,086,000c(ZF—HF :
other borrowings. The Group obtained those loans &) WEFAGERITREAMEE -
from certain associates via banks. The balances are AEBFBRITRE THE QNG
unsecured, with annual interest rates of 1.15% (2015: ZEER - BHAEEE  FRERA
Nil). 116% (=B —HF : &) -

=~

g\
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51. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 51. RERIEIsMNEmIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RERR  SHoBEMNER T ENREELN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as o
follows:
Financial assets SREE

2016 2015
ZE-RE “5-1F
Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
through  through other through  through other
Amortised profitor comprehensive Amortised profitor — comprehensive
cost loss income cost loss income Total
BRAME 9D
BRARE HEEE &% HERE
FEEE  #EiA HERE BHEHA
BEna  28BiARE HAt2EkE AN BERA REEHAER  Ap2EkE g3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IGL AU DN SO PN SN Sl ARETT  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARETR

Trade and bills receivables EWETRES 2,340,009 - - 2340099 1617757 = N WA
Financial assets included in HABRR - ek

prepayments, deposits and Hfp el

ofher recaivables BEREE 859,682 - - 859,682 591,654 - - 591,654
Eauity investments RARE - 38,529 597,595 636,124 - 42,012 503,224 545,236
Unit trust investment BlIEERE - - - - - 170,000 - 170,000
Entrusted loans EacE 158,177 - - 158,177 156,970 - - 156,970
Derivative financial instruments 47448 TA - 36,501 - 36,501 - 10944 - 10944
Investment deposits RERR - 4,139,490 - 4,139,490 - 5,049,039 - 5,049,039
Pledged deposits RELER 960,863 - - 960,863 722,402 - - 722,402
Long cash receivables REENE 183,960 - - 183,960 53,149 - - 53,149
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEN 3,355,537 - - 3,355,537 6,833,608 - - 6,833,608
Restricted deposits SRHE - - - - 40,229 - - 40,229
Time deposits THE 4,348,419 - - 4,348,479 2,666,195 - - 2,666,195

12206797 4214520 507,995  17,018912 12681964  527119% 503224 18,457,183

S

2
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51. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 51. REREsHEMIAEwm
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities cEas
2016 2015
—E-NE 1%
Fair value Fair value
through through
Amortised profit or Amortised profit or
cost loss cost loss Total
BARE
BRARE irERE
fEEE E8:tA

BEpA 281 ARE CON B i it
GUEHIRSG LRSS RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR NSNS SR S

Trade and bills payables EAERREE 5,405,620 - 5405620 4,644,298 - 4,644,298

Financial liabilities included in SEAEAMERFER
other payables and accruals BREANGHAE 3824422 - 3824422 3,158,554 - 3,158,554

Interest-bearing bank loans and SERTREEE
other borrowings 8,587,580 - 8,587,580 11,050,262 - 11,050,262
Other loans Hi &R 52,559 - 52,559 43,915 - 43,915
Derivative financial instruments fTASRTIA - - - - 3,160 3,160
Long term payables RHERFE 94,025 - 94,025 139,021 = 139,021
Other non-current financial liabilities HitERasmas 2,143,378 - 2143378 2,643,936 - 2,643,936
20,107,584 - 20,107,584 21,679,986 3,160 21,683,146

=

g\
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52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the
amount at which the asset could be sold or the liability
transferred in a current transaction between market
participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank
loans and other loans approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other financial
assets, long term time deposits, long term receivable, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long
term payables and other non-current financial liabilities have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally established commodity
trading exchanges or financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including commodity
futures contracts, forward currency contracts and interest rate
forward contracts, are measured using quoted prices from
financial institutions with which the forward currency contracts
and interests rate forward contracts are entered into. The
carrying amounts of commodity futures contracts, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts are the
same as their fair values.

52, TRITAMNARERAAERBH

TREERBBNAABRMELEENR
RETTRR 5 (BB BIHERIN) Al
EEEXERRENDSE

TXHEINAREARAENTDERRR

RehkBReFEY RESTFRDAHE
7 RUEREER - BRNERRRE - &
ABNK e REORKRENSBRE
ZE AR MENFEREREANEHE
& BB ERTERMEMCERNRAE
R AR R SR REERS

HiteMEENFERD LY  RPEHE
R REIEWFIE - StRRTERLKHE
MRIEHERBE DA REMIER B C R A
BERRAETRARLERK - EERR MR
TEIHI A& T AR A &GN R ITIR B
ARREREN T AFE -

LARAERENAABIERTISRE -

AEBRZEZHFHRILTESHTA - =
ERERINBMEHRXPAAUEEFRR
T REE ARMEaHN BHINES
HWENEEHENETESRTE - IER
HETTVABERINEE N RMEERED
MEREENRENE BmliEEH &
HOME SO LM R ER A ONRHERRS
B R ARERE e



52. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

I NSTR U M E NTS (continued)

The following table shows the valuation technique used in
the determination of fair values of unit trust investments and
investment deposits, which falls within level 3 of the fair value
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5. TR ITEN A ABERDOAEEBR

(&)

hierarchy, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used

in the valuation.

TR EEEMEERERREERAA
BERRNAERT(BRAABERNE=
BORAEFMANEA T BRBARIE -

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input  Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EERH EXTUBERARE &B BABEHAAENTE
Investment deposits  Discounted cash flow Expected yield 0.13%t0 4.00% (2015:2.00%  10% (2015: 10%) increase (decrease) in expected
REFR method kil t05.10%) yield would result in increase (decrease) in fair
FRREREZE 0.13%Z4.00%(=5— 1% : value by RMB2,807,000 (2015: RMBS5,168,000)
2.00%%5.10%) BHREEEMOED)10%(ZF—1F 1 10%)#

Unit trust investments  Discounted cash flow
BRNETRE method
TRAeRES

Discount rate

fa%

Expected yield
il il

Discount rate

fa%

0.13% t0 4.00% (2015: 2.00%
10 5.10%)

0.13%%£4.00%( =5 —1F :
2.00%%5.10%)

2015: 9.20% to 11.00%
ZE-0F : 0.20%Z11.00%

2015: 9.20% to 11.00%
ZE-0F : 0.20%Z11.00%

BN EENCHD) ARE2,807,000(=F
—R%F : AR¥5,168,0007)

10% (2015: 10%) increase (decrease) in discount
rate would result in decrease (increase) in fair
value by RMB2,803,000 (2015: RMB5,107,000)

FREEMOAD)10%(ZF—RF : 10%)HEK
NAERS (M) ARE2,803,0007L(=F 1
&« AR¥5,107,0007)

2015: 10% increase (decrease) in expected yield
would result in increase (decrease) in fair value
by RMB209,000

ZT-0F  BEREREMOND)10%HEHA
AEEMOES) ARR200,0007T

2015: 10% increase (decrease) in discount rate
would result in decrease (increase) in fair value
by RMB209,000

ZE-RE  AREEMOAS N0RREBRARE
B () AR 8209,0007
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52. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value (continued)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

52. TR TANARERAARERER

()

N RE @)

rEEeRTA(RREERAABEEN
HENERTANMEEERAAERT

Carrying amounts Fair values
EEE ARE
2016 2015 2016 2015
I A3 —Z-1%F I At “2-1F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARBTT AEETFT
Financial assets SREE
Long term entrusted loans REZAER 101,930 120,736 99,324 122,501
Long term receivables REEW A 123,689 53,149 132,182 47,669
Long term time deposits REEHER 1,633,938 1,608,795 1,630,006 1,588,705
1,859,557 1,782,680 1,861,512 1,758,875
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE
2016 2015 2016 2015
“E-RE —E-1E ZE-XRE —T-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTT ARBTR ARETT
Financial liabilities cmeE
Other non-current financial HivdEroemas
liabilities 2,143,378 2,643,936 2,143,378 2,643,936
Interest-bearing bank and FERITR
other borrowings Hinfs g
~ non-current portion —¥REHH 5,542,163 4,969,511 5,751,298 4,991,684
Long term payables REENFIE 36,914 68,399 35,260 67,327
7,722,455 7,681,846 7,929,936 7,702,947

S

2




52. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Assets measured at fair value:

fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are not
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)
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5. TR T AN LAABERAAEBEEBR

(%)

DIREEBR

AEBERAUNTEBREELEESRTAN

DffE

F—H: REAREEXRERERTS
MIRE(REAB)FHERRE

F_H: AAEERMBERMEIE B2
MY PAREENAABEEEATE
M AR E I E XA HRER
GE]

F=H: PAEERMBERME  BE

AN AR EEEARE
M ABURE W FFER AT BRN
mEEIEGERBREARE)

—E-RE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RiERT 7 EXTERE EATHEE

H3R{E BAYE BAYE
(E—14) (E=4R) (=) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T

Hong Kong listed equity R LRARE

investments 597,595 - - 597,595
Unlisted equity investments FELETRAZRE - - 38,529 38,529
Investment deposits REFR - - 4,139,490 4,139,490
Derivative financial instruments {144 @T A 10,783 25,718 - 36,501

=~

g\
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52. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 5. TRITEAENAARBERAABRER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) NREERE)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BARBEFENEE  (8)
2015
—T-0fF
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

NG Dk EXAERE  EATIEER

KR (E BAKER LN 6
(F—#&) (=) (B=4) #aet
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Hong Kong listed equity BB LTRAERE
investments 503,224 - - 503,224
Unlisted equity investments FEEMBRAEE - - 42,012 42,012
Unit trust investments BEFRE - - 170,000 170,000
Investment deposits REEK - - 5,049,039 5,049,039
Derivative financial instruments  $74 &gt T A 5,933 5,011 - 10,944
Liabilities measured at fair value: BARBEFENARE
2015
—ZT-A%F

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

N BAUBR  EATUEE

HRE AR AR
(B—#) (B85 (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBFT
Derivative financial instruments  $74 € gt T A - 3,160 - 3,160

= 3,160 = 3,160

S—)

20




Annual Report 2016 —Z—<EFH 66 O 275

Notes To Financial Statements B #& 2R & izt

52. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 5. TR T AN LAABERAAEBEEBR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) ARERERE
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BRBEALBENEE :

2016
—B-AF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTS EXTHE EXFUEE

HRE BWARE WARE
(B-%) (B=8R) (B=R) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT T ARBTT

Long term entrusted loans RHZEER - 99,324 - 99,324
Long term receivables REENGIE = 132,182 = 132,182
Long term time deposits RBTHEX - 1,630,006 - 1,630,006
- 1,861,512 - 1,861,512
2015
—Z-nF

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

iNEY ik BEXAHE  BATAUEE

HR(E AR AR
(5—1#) (B=8) (E=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Long term entrusted loans RAZTAER - 122,501 - 122,501
Long term receivables REENGIR - 47,669 - 47,669
Long term time deposits REEHER - 1,588,705 - 1,588,705

- 1,758,875 - 1,758,875

e

g\
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52. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 5. TRITENAARABERAAREBEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

k- Sy
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RER TS EXTHE EXFUEE
HRE BWARE BWARE
(B-8) (E=8R) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT

Other non-current financial HibEmBeRARE
liabilities - 2,143,378 - 2,143,378
Interest-bearing bank and ARRITRAMEE
other borrowings
- non-current portion — RS - 5,751,298 - 5,751,298
Long term payables REEMTE - 35,260 - 35,260
- 7,929,936 - 7,929,936
2015
—E-nf
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERTS ERABR EATAER
H$R{E BAE BAHE
(B—8) (B=H) (B=#) @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Other non-current financial Hindpnsemas
liabilities - 2,643,936 - 2,643,936
Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMES
other borrowings
— non-current portion —EREH D - 4,991,684 - 4,991,684
Long term payables REENFIE - 67,327 - 67,327

= 7,702,947 = 7,702,947

S
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. IR REEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and payables, other receivables and payables,
balances with related parties, interest-bearing bank loans,
other loans and long term payables. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts, forward currency contracts and
interest rate forward contracts. The purpose is to manage
the commodity risk, the exchange rate and floating rate
exposures arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

AEENTESHTAGTETARIN BRI
RekReFEY RREEMNERER - HEi
e N AT R0 - ERRARE A TEVAERR ~ 5TR
RITEE At ERRRBEMNFE - %%
TRTASERAKENZESESRER - A
SERERASEERRBEEBNEMS
MEENAE  HINRURA MR -

REEITER S T BARAHES
4 EMEEANRNEERAL - BHA
EEAEMEBFELORRRN - EXR
BEFIRER -

REAEESRTIANFTEZERBRAFXR
B SNERR - EERR MR E R R &R
AEREAR EFERSREEASTHE
T8%  SMASBEMAZNER - XHIE
RAEERROFEE - NEE—RFRAFE
BRI E IR A -

i) FE@ER
AEEAZNMSMNEES AR TR
ERAASENTZERE - AEEEH
WA MFEEEEES RNERBEL
o HEMKRBETEDEIR - KN
KB RTTE R R KRR 5
WRMERHE - EFZRR - A5E
WEBANEER - IR EGEBEM
) R b B e ) S L g o
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. BIEEBEREBERBE@®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B % b S R ()

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) T 2R [ B ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRINTKEFMBHMESEFTED
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all BERT - FIERAJELIR S e 2 &)
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/ HWAREBFAAE (BE)GEBFE
(loss) before tax (through the impact on floating rate EBEENTE )N E
borrowings):

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit/(loss)
basis points before tax

HEEm BARE (BE)
() 2, (D)

RMB’000
ARET T

2016 —E—XE
RMB AR 50 (9,640)
RMB AR® (50) 9,640
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (78)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 78
United States dollars EpH 50 (17,861)
United States dollars EpH (50) 17,861
Euro Bt 50 (139)
Euro Bt (50) 139
2015 “T-RF
RMB AR 50 (2,255)
RMB AR (50 2,255
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (309)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50 309
United States dollars e 50 (13,721)
United States dollars e (50) 13,721
Euro BT 50 (203)
Euro BT (50 203

S

2




53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions
are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases of
imported machinery and equipment and sales of dairy
products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at 31 December
2016, substantially all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB except for the cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB204,524,000
(2015: RMB1,722,071,000), RMB611,330,000
(2015: RMB121,752,000), RMB33,649,000
(2015: RMB52,265,000), RMB8,083,000 (2015:
RMB3,165,000) and RMB16,014,000 (2015:
RMB28,953,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand
dollars and Danish Krone, respectively, a pledged
deposit of approximately RMB11,366,000 (2015:
RMB12,182,000) which was denominated in United
States dollars, an investment deposit of approximately
RMB4,473,000 (2015: Nil) which was denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, and the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB69,325,000
(2015: RMB901,452,000), RMB5,605,820,000
(2015: RMB6,897,340,000) and RMB14,899,000
(2015: RMB28,934,000) which were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Euro,
respectively. The fluctuation of the exchange rates of
RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group’s
results of operations. However, in the opinion of the
directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is under
management’s control.
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53. IEEKREEHERBE@®

(i)

Shis EL B

NEBEBNERE SR PR KRE:
BriE B O M R ERERAER D
EARMIN  BRB DX HHIUA
REABAMNEE, HRZTE—XRF
+ZA=1+—8B  AKEMNEEK
BEF BRTITREERBIEBETHA
R # 204,524,000 (ZF — R F :
AR #1,722071,0007) « AR
611,330,000t (ZZ—HF : AR
121,752,0007T ) + A R ¥ 33,649,000
T(ZZE—HF : AR¥52,265,000
o) - AR#¥8,083,000 (=T —Hh
F: AR#¥3,165,0007T) & AR
16,014,000 (ZE—HF : AR
28,953,0007T) D BIMAZETT ~ BT« B
JC > BB TR ERRRE B
FEZRHARE11,366,000L (==
—RE : AR%12,182,0007T) AZETT
FHE - "EFRHARME4,473,0007T
—ThFE: E)UETHE TR
IRITRHMEEDH AR69,325,000
T(ZZE—RF : AR¥901,452,000
L)+ AR #¥5605,820,0007T( =%
—h4F : AR¥6,897,340,0007T) &
AR#14,899,000L(ZF—HF : A
R#28,934,0007T) 5 BILAE T ~ T
KBILsHEZI REBRBRIHE
ERBBHUARBEABBEMN - AR
HONEREEEA RS @ Al E
EEMKEEE  BEZREINER
[Crgaa=g=:rasab il il sl
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

S

(i)

(iii)

2

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange
rates as compared to United States dollars, Hong Kong
dollars, Euro, New Zealand dollars and Danish Krone
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in the fair value
of monetary assets and liabilities) and equity:

53.

HEEREEEERBE@®
Bt 75 L B B 2 ()

(ii)

S L B ()
TRINRIEFRA M E BB TER
BT ARBEZT BT B

T AR T R R B R R
RRLRNAEREESH(REREER
BENAARERBER) HAKETA
FE/ (B8 RSP E

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/

(decrease) in in profit/(loss) (decrease)

RMB rate before tax in equity

ARBER BATE/ (HR) i 353

E#/(TR) i,/ (WD) /(WD)

% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARMTR  ARMTR
2016 —E-RE 5 150,872 (122,773)
(5) (150,872) 122,773

2015 —T-1f 5 (74,757) (79,771)
) 74,757 79,771

Credit risk (i) EERKE

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on
a cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to distributors,
who wish to trade on credit terms, with an appropriate
credit history which is subject to periodic reviews.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise deposits and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading
over a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

AEENRE MRTEFLRRESF
F o EEFRFERENEAARR

7 o

AEEARFOHNHEDIZRSEEHE
17 AR EE B HR A R E M2
ETHBEZFERELELE BARK
FRETRHHNEHD - AREER
RSRETEHIMNER - AKE—HH
BERBWFIAN AR AEEYTE
EXERRAR

HRXZTENELRRE REME
WHIRBROARE R SR EER
FEEREEREMASNEFEED
BREE -

Br b EN  REBEMRARSEZH
BFT o ABBANKFEERR -

BREASERERWRR M AR LN E
EREOEBELHE  RERYH
WERMIFE27
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk

53. BiEKREEEERBE @

R REE ()
(iv) FREMERMER

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics,
market conditions, business strategies and changes in
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility
through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 based
on contractual undiscounted payments.

AEBEHREREBETERR  THR
B RIBORE MR B B SO B &
£t BEBEMRDEETRS RE
B BELRESRABAEEREERE
BB R JERN AR Y - ABS R BN 1E
BB o tbsh - AEETNE BB AR
MBETARRE - ENAKEER
BAERESWEEEREEE -

TREIR -_F—RF+-_HA=1+—
BREBEAEMNETIENTNAEE S
BEMNZIHER -

2016
ZE-RE
Less than | TCRED]
On demand 1year 1tob5years 5 years Total
REX —FLR —-E5f EENE #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Tn
Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMEE
other borrowings - 3,107,443 5,337,436 257,718 8,702,597
Other loans HiE® 52,559 - - - 52,559
Trade and bills payables ENESREE - 5405620 = - 5405620
Financial liabilities included ~ sF AEL BT FE K
in other payables and RIRERAM
accruals, excluding SHAE  TBE
current portion of REENTIER
long term payables D - 3,824,422 - - 3,824,422
Long term payables REERFUR - 60,733 39,088 - 99,821
Other financial liabilities Hiv&me s - - 388,157 2,216,730 2,604,887
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

S—)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Financial risk management (continued)

53. MiIEMEEEERBKE@®

B 7% B 2 ()

(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) REMRREE)
2015
—Z-1fF
Less than More than
On demand 1year 1to5years 5 years Total
"EK —FUR —E8F AFMNE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT AR®TR
Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMEE
other borrowings = 6,150,899 5,014,296 - 11,165,195
Other loans HiE® 43915 = = = 43915
Trade and bills payables ENESREE - 4,644,208 = - 4,644,298
Financial liabilities included ~ sF AEL (S FUE
in other payables and RIREAM
accruals, excluding SHEE  TRE
current portion of REEMFIER
long term payables HERER S - 3,158,554 - - 3,158,554
Long term payables REEMTE = 74,874 75,327 = 150,201
Other financial liabilities Hiv&ma® - - 860,363 2,478,620 3,338,983

20




53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

v)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual equity investments classified as equity
investments (note 25) as at 31 December 2016.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at
the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the equity investments, the impact is
deemed to be on the financial assets revaluation reserve
and no account is given for factors such as impairment
which might impact the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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53.

BEEREEEERBE®

B 7% [ B T 2 ()

(v) BRAEERR
&$ﬁ$§ﬂ@%&m%a§i7k$&flﬁlJ
BLBEEEDEZRAFLAAE
TMWHR°K— A¢+—H
=+—B  AEEEHAORAERER
Bk B o B RRAIRE (M25) /&
%IJJ%@&%S

TRETHEREMABAZEZERT
FRARFTAEABRBEZENEBERT -
B E R R ETEEE F5%H A H
BE - DB ERRE R R
EEFE - LADHME - BRRA
BE GRESHEEEGBREEX

FE UEFSIAEZESARRR
p)ESE

BIEREIE -

Carrying
amount
of equity Change in
2016 investments equity
—E-RF BRARE N REE 2 A B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT ARMET T
Hong Kong listed equity investments B EMRAEE 597,595 29,880
Carrying
amount
of equity Change in
2015 investments equity
—E-RF PR & W AR E (B RAZE)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTFT
Hong Kong listed equity investments BB LEMRARE 503,224 25,161

=~

g\
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. BIEMREIE R Z KRB @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2015.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, other loans, long term
payables and other non-current financial liabilities, less cash
and bank balances and long term time deposits, and excludes
disposal groups. Capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of
reporting periods were as follows:

AEBEAEERNERBREFAEEE
BRENENRRFBENERLE - X
FEEXEMESRRERE -

AEBEREEAREE  WHEBLEREN
B RBABEENRERBBIELAZE - A
W AR EARE  AEBARESHER
N FREMRE  BREAE AL Rk HITH
IR RBEZTE-—R"F+A=F+—HKZ=
T-—RF+-_A=+—BULFEEBRELRE
BEHEEZ - BURSRFIEES -

REBMUAEAABLREZEER  EXEE
LLERENFBERAER@BEMNLEFEEZ
e FREBFBABRITRAMES - BN
ERERE - At RIERTARER - &
ER  RPENFIE  AREMIERD S
MEE RREERTEFLEHEHRF
;o WABIEREAR - ERERRTHEEA
FEibtEz - RBMEHRNERABL XM
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

EAREE(®)

53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 53. BiEKREEEERBE @

2016 2015
—E—RF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2 R{1T R EMEE 8,587,580 11,050,262
Trade and bills payables FEM BRI N ZE 5,405,620 4,644,298
Other payables and accruals HEmEMFBELTEIRE R 6,510,886 4,989,524
Other loans HEMER 52,559 43,915
Long term payables REAMER I8 36,914 68,399
Other non-current financial liabilities HMIERESSmaE 2,143,378 2,643,936
Less: Cash and bank balances B RE RIBTTEF (6,070,078) (7,931,237)
Less: Long term time deposits B EEIFEHITE R (1,633,938) (1,608,795)
Net debt FEE 15,032,921 13,900,302
Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AFEREDR
the Company 20,844,913 22,136,239
Adjusted capital 4R R IR 20,844,913 22,136,239
Capital and net debt BAREFEBE 35,877,834 36,036,541
Gearing ratio BREFELE 41.90% 38.57%

=

g\
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54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 54, & HiRE1E

As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, the
Group held 1,347,9083,000 shares in China Modern Dairy,
representing 25.4% of the issued share capital of China
Modern Dairy as at 31 December 2016.

On 7 February 2017, the Group completed the acquisition
of 965,465,750 China Modern Dairy shares, with cash
consideration of HK$1,873,003,555, which is equivalent
to HK$1.94 per China Modern Dairy share. As such, up
to 7 February 2017, the Group owned an aggregate of
2,313,368,750 China Modern Dairy shares, representing
approximately 37.7% of the issued share capital of China
Modern Dairy. Accordingly, the Group made a conditional
mandatory cash offer (i) for all the issued China Modern
Dairy shares (other than those already owned or agreed
to be acquired by the Group), and (ii) for cancellation of all
outstanding China Modern Dairy options (the “Cash Offer”) on
14 February 2017.

On the final closing date of the Cash Offer on 21 March
2017, taking into account the valid acceptances in respect of
1,442,400,662 China Modern Dairy shares, the Group would
hold an aggregate of 3,755,769,412 China Modern Dairy
shares (representing approximately 61.3% of the issued share
capital of China Modern Dairy as of 21 March 2017.

Further details of the above transactions were included in the
Company’s announcement dated 4 January 2017, 25 January
2017, 7 February 2017, 14 February 2017, 7 March 2017 and
21 March 2017, respectively.

BT ERERM T2 EE R-F
—R"FE+-—_A=Z+—8B A&EBEEEAE
1,347,903,000 % 2 BI3R R ¥ 0 - HHE
FAFR BRI 2 B BT TRR AR 25.4% o

—Z—+tF-_AtH AEBEZKKE
965,465,750 kIR K M E KD - Be
R {& & 1,873,003,555 B 7 © HE R E K
PERARMERMD1.94E T Al BEZ
—Z—+tF-_BtH AEEHEAH
2,313,368,750 % P B IR R 4K E B 1n - S
RABIRRHMED BITRALI7.7% o
I REBR -_ZT—+F - A+ BE()K
BRI BTHERRKERN (XEED
BEH KR ERBHRRMDBRIN) + R(i)EHF
B HARITER T BRI E B ER T A K
HEsHReEN(REELN]) -

RRSBHNREHIBH-"FT—LF=A
—+—H  ERE51,442,400,6620% F E
BRBRERGEBEEEREN  ~5EBEE
4 $£3,755,769,412 /% B IR AR AR D (48
ERBE-_ZT—+tF=ZA-1+—HFBRRRK
WEE BEITIRA4961.3%) ©

B LA ZHB %3@)‘5"21»‘ AEHR=F
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E\—i iifﬁta —3 iifﬂ
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Information about the statement of financial position of the

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 55, & 7] B i ik R 3=
BERRAAARRMBARRRNE RN

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N
2015
—hEF
RMB’000
AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KK 288 376
Loans to a subsidiary Bl —fETFREER 1,941,087 1,817,983
Investments in subsidiaries R T RE] R E 13,410,180 12,559,704
Investments in an associate L /NI g <) 2,980,538 2,791,612
Non-current financial assets EREEREE 78,592 89,484
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 18,410,685 17,259,059
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIA 32,935 —
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR - e REAEKEIE 3,909,106 3,835,706
Pledged deposits REESER 11,366 12,182
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTHEF 1,178,735 2,149,968
Total current assets BREEE 5,132,142 5,997,856
CURRENT LIABILITIES pEh=N
Loans from subsidiaries KEFATINER 2,996,934 3,142,154
Other payables and accruals HipEeNFIERTERER 265,624 121,267
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTRIRITREMEER - 2,485,890
Derivative financial instruments PTEERMTA - 3,160
Total current liabilities wrEaE 3,262,558 5,752,471
NET CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE 1,869,584 245,385
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 20,280,269 17,504,444
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Loans from a subsidiary KE—BTFARMNER 2,272,856 =
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings e fﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%f% 4,827,997 4,515,307
Total non-current liabilities BIEREBE 7,100,853 4,515,307
NET ASSETS BEE 13,179,416 12,989,137
EQUITY R
Issued capital R 357,374 357,262
Treasury shares held under share “mﬁﬁb.ﬁrilﬂ—?#ﬁﬁ']
award scheme [ (432,678) (415,762)
Reserves i 13,254,720 13,047,637
TOTAL EQUITY RS 13,179,416 12,989,137

Ma Jianping
Director
F

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
E S

Director



288 & & 6 cChina Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FEIS4HEFR AT

Notes To Financial Statements B iR &HisT

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

TH E COM PANY (continued)

55. Z< 2 T B 3R R 3R )

Note: BsE :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RNATIEEDOT -
Foreign Financial Share
currency assets option reserve/
Share Contributed translation revaluation Retained share award
premium surplus differences reserve earnings reserve Total
g% SRAE gt/
Rip&E ESRa BERE B REME  ROZEEE @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Note ()
M)
At1 January 2015 RZZ-R%E-f-H 14,249,796 387,574 (1,424,877) (266,110) (127,415) 17,741 13,036,709
Loss for the year KEER - - - - (15,568) - (15,568)
Other comprehensive loss REEMZEEE:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity REBNALEE
investments designated BESEHALR
at fair value through other 2EERRE
comprehensive income, RENDAHEED
net of tax piliyn = = = (13,802) - - (13,802)
Exchange differences between M SR 2REHKH
functional currency and EREE
presentation currency = = 764,459 = = = 764,459
Total comprehensive loss TEREFRER
for the year - - 764,459 (13,802) (15,568) - 735,089
Bonus issue Bk (160,687) - - - - - (160,687
Shares issued under equity-settled 1B IAIR A 14 DR i
share option arrangements ZHETRG 64,771 - - - - - 64,771
Equity-settled share option IRAZ M REREL
arrangements - - - - - (69,359) (69,359)
Transfer of share option reserve BB RIERE
upon exercise of share options~ EEfREREE 6,601 - - - - (6,601) -
Shares vested under share BERFREE
award scheme FBORD 25,258 - - - - (26,084) (826)
Share award scheme REZ %Rt - - - - - (11,187) (11,137)
Dividends paid/payable to Bkl /ERAAAR
owners of the Company BAARE (546,929) - - - - - (546,929)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RE+-A=t+-H 13638816 387,574 (660,418) (279,912 (142,983) 104,560 13,047,637

S—)
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55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 55, Zx/A T B 7 4R SR 3% )

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued)

Share  Contributed
premium surplus
REE BiHEH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AR%TR
Note (a)
Hit(a)
At 1 January 2016 RZZ-~5-A-A
Loss for the year TERR
Other comprehensive loss TEENREER:
for the year:
Changesin fair valug of equity ~ BEANAAEE
investments designated BEZHHALL
at fair value through other FERHENHRE
comprehensive income, RENDAEED
net of tax il
Exchange differences between  Jgt B R 2 ek
functional currency and EREE
presentation currency
Total comprehensive FERARE/ (BR) 88

income/(loss) for the year

Shares issued under equity-settled R bARR(A 2 4 HERARIE

share option arrangements ZHETRG
Transfer of share option reserve {7 EEETRIERSE
upon exercise of share options &R IEER
Share award scheme e |
Share repurchased and cancelled  [RIAEE Rzt 58
Dividends paid to owners BRAAAEEA
of the Company EARE
At 31 December 2016 RZZ-rE
tZA=t-A

BeE - ()
ARFIFEOT : (8)

Share

option reserve/

share award
reserve Total

RERE/
e @it
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETL  ARETR

Financial
assets
revaluation
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
differences

Retained
earnings

g" SHEE
BEGRE
RMB'000

ARETR

Effif
RMB'000
ARBFT

RENE
RMB?000
ARBFT

7

s\
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55

56.

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

TH E COM PANY (continued)

Note: (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued)
Note:

(@  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in
exchange therefor.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2017.

S—)

20

55.

56.

25 5] B AR R R ()

GERRC))

AAFEBOT : ()

GEE

@ AATNEMESEREERSARKE
FARMEHAHEESEEAA T AR

b & 0F B B FE T BT M) W HE B R
HE%E

it E IR R

BN Z—tF=A-thBHER
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Annual Report 2016 —Z— NFEF

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M E

The following is a summary of the published audited financial T3 &AHRES4ALEGR AT ([ARR ) METF
statements of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the ZAFR TS EED B MHLCEZIEREMNE -
“Company”) and its subsidiaries for the respective years.

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended
BEILFE
2015 2014 2013 2012

“T-RF —E-NF —T—=F —T——F
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETIT ARETT ARETT AR®TR

Revenue WA 53,779,339 49,026,516 50,049,243 43,356,908 35,999,990
Profit/(loss) before tax from REFEL S EBH
continuing operations FATAE/ (EE) (461,386) 3,030,170 3,150,008 2,204,503 1,733,863
Income tax expense PSSz (351,379)  (510,038)  (459,292)  (366,713)  (245,476)
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFEL S EBH
continuing operations NEFE/(EE) (812,765) 2,520,132 2,690,716 1,837,790 1,488,387
Profit/(loss) for the year from RECKIEEEBD
discontinued operation AEFE,/ (EE) = 122 (63) 24,198 429
Profit/(loss) for the year REFE/(E8B) (812,765) 2,520,254 2,690,653 1,861,988 1,488,816
Attributable to: AT & 77 FE A
Owners of the Company ERRHEB A (751,155) 2,367,291 2,350,803 1,630,925 1,303,101
Non-controlling interests R AR R i (61,610) 152,963 339,850 231,063 185,715
Proposed dividend BORRR B 349,327 549,357 548,406 367,053 282,917
Earnings/(loss) per share KA EBRERA
attributable to ordinary equity [EEBRER,
holders of the Company (B1E)(ARE)
(RMB) (note (i) (B EEG) Restated Restated Restated
For profit/(loss) for the year AEFE,/(EE) mEm feEm mER
- Basic —ER (0.193) 0.609 0.605 0.452 0.369

— Diluted — (0.193) 0.607 0.602 0.448 0.369
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Financial Summary B ##5=

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BERER

At 31 December

R+=A=+—-H
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
il —F1F —F-mF —B-=f _—F-_-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Nesim | ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Total assets BEE 49,124,427 50,652,541 47,080,792 40,339,396 20,915,894
Total liabilities mafE 23,620,699 24,037,387 22,587,919 22,328,258 7,794,787
Equity attributable to owners of KARER A

the Company el 20,844,913 22,136,239 21,489,400 15,360,918 12,489,245
Non-controlling interests FEERR AR A 4,658,815 4,478,915 3,003,473 2,650,220 631,862
Note: MIEE

()  The calculation basis for the earnings/(loss) per share attributable to () ~ ANREIEBRES ARG TRAF,(E8) K5
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in note 14 to the EEEH IR S IS REMITE14 -
consolidated financial statements.
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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